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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEH/E

Dear Shareholders,

The current Year was still a year of complexity and uncertainty. The
outbreak of COVID-19 in the beginning of 2020 led to various
draconian measures, among others, city lockdown, shut-down of
restaurants and schools, traveling restriction, etc. resulting from
series of quarantine arrangements, where it impacted the global
economy in various layers including rise in unemployment, business
shutdown, ups and downs in financial markets and increase in
uncertainties.

Following the outbreak of COVID-19, the economy in mainland
China and Hong Kong subsequently managed to have a gradual
upturn and indeed, the Group’s operations, foundations in Hong
Kong and environmental protection in mainland China were
substantially resumed to normal in the third quarter of 2020.

In the following vyears, it will be full of opportunities and
challenges. First of all, the “14th Five-Year Plan” further promotes
the sustainable development of the ecological and environmental
protection new policies and stipulations are implemented related to
the environmental protections, which drives more competition and
upholds the market standards, while on the other hand more
regionwide environmental protection supervision is conducted and
imposes more regulatory requirement is over the industry.

BAIRR
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERWE

Nevertheless, we are still conservatively optimistic that both of our
construction and environmental protection business will be better off
through the government committed public expenditure and national
incentives and/or policies to be promulgated.

We would like to give our most sincere greetings to all the
colleagues of the Group for their hard work and dedication in the
past few years, and also express faithful thanks to the shareholders
and stakeholders for their full support.

Zhu Yongjun
Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENmKR D

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of foundation
works, civil engineering contractual service and general building
works (the “Construction Business”); (ii) environmental protection
projects including kitchen waste treatment,
treatment and strategic investments in environmental protection
related projects (the “Environmental Protection Business”); and (iii)

industrial water

the industrial fluids system services (the “Industrial Fluids Business”)
at the beginning of the Year. During the Year, the Industrial Fluids
Business was discontinued due to the Group’s creditor’s
enforcement of its pledged shares in Vimab Holding AB in early
April 2020 as detailed in the section headed “Business Review — llI
Industrial Fluids Systems Service” below.

BUSINESS REVIEW

1 Construction Business
During the Year, the Group disposed of 100% equity interest
in New Expansion Global Limited (“NEGL") which principally
engaged in civil engineering works and building works to an
independent third party at the consideration of
HK$24,000,000. The FY2021
(calculated from 1 April 2020 up to the completion date of
the disposal) was approximately HK$14,151,000 (FY2020:
HK$1,593,000).

revenue from NEGL for

During the Year, revenue generated from construction
segment was approximately HK$504.9 million, representing a
decrease of 5.6% from approximately HK$535.0 million for
FY2020. The decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease
of the number of sizable projects undertaken by the Group

during the Year.

The overall gross profit margin of the construction business
increased to approximately 10.4% (FY2020: 6.9%). If the
disposal of NEGL was excluded, the overall gross profit
margin of the construction business would be approximately
10.7%. The significant improvement was attributable to the
increase in projects with higher profit margin as compared
with last year, and no unexpected increase in project costs
due to delay in work progress.

AEBEFERE(RMHETRE T RATR
BHRBE—BEFIR(EEERLD: (i)
RRIBEE  BRIEEENRERE  TEBEKE
BEERRRABEENORBERE ((RRE
%) RNDRAFENH T ETERGR
BUIERBER] RAFE ARAEASE
[ & 1 A 70202054 A 9158 il #0177 E 7 Vimab
Holding ABHIE B iR 10 - MM T MEBEB
EERIE FRETXIEKOE —INTER
BRGER] -

¥ OEE

I BEER
RAEE AEEE—EBILE=H
HEFRERERAR ([FRBREKR])
K &2 30 IR # - X {8 524,000,000/
T HAREERELIARAIEBRETF
TERER - FRERMN2021MEREE
(H2020F4B1BEEEHE K B H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue from this segment is generated from both public and
private sector projects with approximately 53.0% of the
segment revenue contributed by the foundation projects in
public sectors. Out of the total segment revenue of HK$504.9
million, the key contributors were (i) a foundation project in
HKBU contributing approximately HK$113.5 million during the
Year; and (ii) a foundation project in Tuen Mun Hin Fat Lane
and North Point Java Road contributing approximately
HK$103.3 million during the Year.

The Group has completed a total of 9 projects in FY2021
(FY2020: 12 projects) and secured 3 new projects (2020: 11
new projects) during the Year with aggregated contract value
of approximately HK$523.7 million (FY2020: approximately
HK$695.8 million). All new projects secured during the Year
had commenced construction, and 1 out of 3 new projects
was completed during the Year. As at 31 March 2021, 4
projects were in progress (FY2020: 11 projects in progress).
Details of the completed projects and the projects in progress
are set out as follows:

BB R am M o AT

o HHBAREAFLEEE & &
H53.0%FE R EHEIER - &5 2
I A504,900,00078 7o+ £ B H B 2K
BOEBZEREMWEIRE  RAF
E B B #9113,500,00058 7T ¢ Kz (ii) ¥ P9
FEERILABEBEMEIER KA
% Z & B 4103,300,000/% 7T °

2021 REE - ANEES H5EKE
HE (20200 BEE - 12f8H B) » ¢
RN Z B 15318 (20205 : 111&) #7
HE & ##BEX A523,700,0007% 7T
(202081 B F f& @ #9695,800,0007%
JL) c FTBRAFEERENFELCH
T M3 EESR  1AERAFE
% T o B202143A318 B4 (2020
MBFERE  11E)FEREE - ERKIE
ERFEREBMNFBHIGOT

Completed projects SR JE B
Name of project Location Sector Main category of work
EEH&ME H B i1 IREEHN
1 Happy Valley Project 17A & B Ventris Road, Happy Foundation Construction of Bored Piles, Pipe Pile,

Valley, Hong Kong

5 HIE R E5 S it E 0 F) B 1 7A KB

2 Yuen Long project i LY e 539 JunetionsoT
Wang Yip Street West and
Hong Yip Street, Tung Tau
Industrial Area, Yuen Long
JTEATE B TARBIXRAREATRESE
B33 S ITBA T Hh BY 8553257

3 Kai Tak (Site B) project Kai Tak Development Area
(Site B)
& (B AR) I8 B RiEERR(BHE)
4 Water treatment project Sheung Shui, Silver Mine Bay, Siu
Ho Wan and
Ma On Shan

BIK &R 56 A B Eok - RBE - PNBERFEL

Geotechnically Instrumentation, ELS
and Pile Cap Works

i E BIE BB THERBERTE .
ZPREEAESTEARBEIREZRET

Foundation ELS, Pile Cap & Decontamination Soil

b ZREAEEE BEIEBURES
et

Foundation Construction of Bored Pile

i & #EHEET

Foundation Construction of Mini-Piling Works

I E WAEITHE IR EL
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREHBEA N

Name of project Location Sector Main category of work
IHEH&Z# 2 E) = IEEEHH
5  HKBU project Hong Kong Baptist University, Foundation Construction of Bored Pile, ELS and Pile
30 Renfrew Road, Kowloon, Cap Works
Hong Kong
= AIEE BENEMBEOREBRE I & BIE - ZHERAEEARBIELR
N i
6  Hung To Road project 32 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Foundation Construction of Bored Pile
Kowloon
W EEEAE TLREBIE S B 383258 ih F #IIERT
7  Kwun Tong project Kwun Tong Foundation Construction of Mini-piles
BiEEAE BiE 3 2 WEE T
8 Kwai Chung, Lam Tin Nos 2-16 Lam Tin Street, Kwai Foundation Construction of Foundation, ELS and Pile
Street project Chung, HK Cap Works
BFEMBHEEA BEBZRE AH2-165% 3 & WE - ZHERABIEARBETLR
L
9  Tung Chung Area 100 Tung Chung Area 100 Foundation Construction of Bored Pile
project
ROBF100EIEH FIBE100E I & #IERT
Projects in Progress TZEFEH
Name of project Location Sector Main category of work
HEH&Z#8 k-] 3] ITREXEHR
1 Palace Museum project West Kowloon Cultural District, Foundation Mini-piles and Grout Curtain Works
West Kowloon, Tsim Sha Tsui
= Y EETE B LY IETE NN XL R 3 & MEBRERERETRE
2 Tuen Mun Hin Fat Lane Hin Fat Lane, Tuen Mun and Foundation Construction of Foundation, ELS and Pile
and North Point Java Java Road, North Point Cap Works
Road Project
HFRBEEERILAEE HRFEEERIABTES 3 £ WE  ZREERAEEARBEIR
BIEE i
3 Fanling North Project Fanling North New Development Foundation Construction of Mini Piles and
Area, Phase 1 Associated GIFW Works
HeEiLE B MEltHERREE —BER bi-S MEE RIBBER S L E R T2
4 Wang Chiu Road Project Wang Chiu Road Phase 1, Foundation Construction of Bored Pile, SHP, ELS and
Kowloon Bay Pile Cap Works
RERBEIE B BB R RE S b E EIIE SHP - ZHRAIBZEUR

IR Ti2M T
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Environmental Protection Business
The Environmental Protection Business involves:

(i) kitchen waste treatment;

(ii) provision of EPC (engineering, procurement and
construction) services and environmental improvement
solutions relating to environment projects (the
“Provision of Environmental EPC Solutions”); and

(i) industrial water treatment.

For the Year, the Group’s revenue from the Environmental
Protection Business decreased by approximately 23.8% to
approximately HK$86.6 million (FY2020: approximately
HK$113.6 million). Discussion and analysis on the business
performances of kitchen waste treatment, provision of EPC
operation and industrial water treatment are set out below.

1. Kitchen waste treatment

Revenue generated from kitchen waste treatment
business comprises (i) construction revenue from
Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT"”) projects under
construction; and (ii) income from operating plants
including government subsidy for kitchen waste
treatment and sale of by-products including but not
limited to organic fertilizers, grease, biogas, etc.
produced during the process of kitchen waste
treatment.

During the Year, revenue generated from kitchen waste
treatment amounted to HK$61.8 million (FY2020:
HK$66.8 million). Such decrease was mainly caused by
certain quarantine arrangement under the outbreak of
COVID-19 which lowered the collection and processing
of kitchen waste in the first quarter of FY2021, which
subsequently resumed to normal thereafter.

BB R am M o AT

RIRER
BRREBI R

() BENRERE:

(iy |HEBBIRKEIEA B WEPC(T
B RERER) R RIRENR
ZHORTT R ([ RHFIRIREPCERIR
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(i) TREEKEHE-

RAEE AEEREBRRESHUK
AR 4923.8% ZE #986,600,00058 TT
(202081 B % E : #9113,600,0007%
JL) c BB R - IREEPCE
BRTITEBKEEBEBRRNTHRE
DMEHNR T e

1. EEFUREE
EFNREBREBEENRA
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— BR([BOT)EAMEEK
A RG22 EBFEB KA
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7 Uk A A61,800,0007% 7T (2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

Set out below are the developments of each of the
kitchen waste plants of the Group during the Year:

(1)

Taiyuan Plant

Taiyuan Plant is wholly-owned by the Group and
operated under BOT model. The construction of
the plant is in two phases with a total permitted
capacity of 500 tons per day. Phase one facility of
200 tons per days was fully utilised where
production facilities for phase two of Taiyuan
plant with an addition capacity of 300 tons per
days have been substantially installed, but the
operation performance of phase two is subject to
final quality review by the government of
Taiyuan.

In the beginning of 2020, COVID-19 outbroke
and thus led to certain quarantine arrangements
including, among others, city lockdown, shut-
down of restaurants and schools, etc., and the
volume of kitchen waste treatment therefore
dropped to an average of 48 tons per day in
March 2020. As at 31 March 2021, capacity of
Taiyuan Plant was about 264 tons per day.

On 8 February 2021, the Group entered into a
disposal agreement with dt§% + 75 (1L 3) IR (R 82
REEBRARF to dispose the entire equity
interest in Taiyuan Plant at a consideration of
RMB120,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$141.98 million). Such disposal constituted a
very substantial disposal and the Company has
already obtained shareholders’ approval on such
disposal at the extraordinary general meeting held
on 28 April 2021. As at 31 March 2021, the
disposal has not yet completed, and therefore,
Taiyuan Plant has been classified as a disposal
group held for sale and presented separately in
the statement of financial position as at 31
March 2021.

Details of disposal of the Taiyuan Plant are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 8
February 2021 and circular dated 8 April 2021.

T X AR E & 68 B3R
HERAFENER:

(1)

XIREH
AREEBASEEEZEH
£ UBOTEA L& 2
ETRAWE S8R
2 8 /5 K500 - § X
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720204 ) COVID-19
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Hefei Plant

Hefei Plant is 60%-owned by the Group and is
operated under the BOT model with a permitted
capacity of 200 tons per day. Hefei Plant has
been undergoing a technology improvement, and
its utilised capacity was therefore reduced to 100
tons per day as of 1 April 2019. Due to
COVID-19, its capacity dropped from an average
of 159 ton per day in December 2019 to 34 ton
per day in March 2020. As at 31 March 2021,
utilised capacity of Hefei Plant was about 205
tons per day.

Pursuant to the Hefei Plant acquisition agreement
and capital injection agreement entered on 23
January 2017 (as supplemented by a
supplemental agreement dated 16 August 2019),
the vendor and creditor under such agreements,
who are now the non-controlling shareholders of
the Hefei Plant, guaranteed Hefei Plant’s revenue
from the sale of organic fertilizers shall be no less
than (i) RMB5,950,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,040,000) and RMB12,410,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$14,683,000) for
the first two vyears, respectively and
RMB17,063,800 (equivalent to approximately
HK$20,190,000) per year thereafter until
expiration of the concession right to operate
Hefei Plant on 26 June 2038 (“Guaranteed
Revenue”), upon the following conditions are
fulfilled: (i) the normal production capacity of
Hefei Feifan reaches 200 tons/day, and (ii) the
quality of the underwritten production output
meets with the national requirements set for the
relevant organic fertilizers. Should the actual
revenue from sales of organic fertilizers fall short
of the Guaranteed Revenue in any particular year,
the non-controlling shareholders shall make up
the difference with the dividends they are entitled
to receive from Hefei Plant.

(11)

BB R R AN

= ==

ERBEBHAEEEER
60% 1 25 © LABOTHE =, &
B oHUREEEATX
2008 - & ETEE —EH #
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Z & R100MF o B 7 K& 5%
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1R 72017F1 8238 5]
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20194F8 A 16 H Hy i 7t 1
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

The technological improvement of Hefei Plant was SEBENREMEABE R
completed during the Year where its normal REETK  EFEEE
production capacity resumes back to 200 tons per 8 = & H200M8 - £ 3R &
day. Subsequent to the end of the reporting HR%E  GIEmEE L%
period, Hefei Plant has been installing RERI AR R - e MG
fertilizers-related equipment and will commence HITEE - UARAERES
trial operations to determine whether the output HEBRKHAE - AL - K
meets the national requirement. As such, the FEMEREBWAEEKE
Guaranteed Revenue was yet to take place for the M EBERT—HERFE
Year but will be commenced in the coming F4h ©

financial year.

Announcement(s) will be made by the Company ZAN/NEIE S RS Pl
on the status of the Guaranteed Revenue as and FUA KA BE R DM o
when appropriate.

(i) Loudi Plant (i) ZEHEHB

Loudi Plant was operated by Loudi Fangsheng EREEHEEMARR
Environmental Technology Co. Ltd* (ZJE T 5 &% REEERARTERRS
RIRBHBERAAF) (“Loudi Fangsheng”), an Bl RAFEEYHARD
indirect 80%-owned subsidiary of the Company &) 5 1% E 5 80% 1 25 1 B
at the beginning of the Year. BARKE -

During the Year, the Group acquired 20% equity RAFEE - AEBEREE
interest in Loudi Fangsheng at a consideration of [ 7 B H20% P8 7 - (R (B
RMB6,110,600 (approximately HK$6,954,000) and B A R %6,110,6007T (%)
thereafter disposed 100% equity interest in Loudi 6,954,000/ 7T) + &R IR
Fangsheng to two independent purchasers at a H A1 R2020610ASBE MW E
consideration of RMB30,000,000 pursuant to a EmM@EmmAaBELIE ST
sale and purchase agreement dated 5 October EEES RN PRE
2020. The disposal was carried out with an aim to KB & A K #30,000,000
strengthen the Group’s financial position and Lo ETZLEERENA
liquidity. The disposal of Loudi Fangsheng was AN B K B 7S AR RO ED
completed during the Year and resulted a loss of Mo BB EHERAK
approximately RMB14,799,000 (approximately FETK WEEEELD
HK$16,416,000). Details of the said disposal are A R #14,799,0007T ( %)
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 5 16,416,000 Jr) o £ it
October 2020. ENFEBHNAREBH

A2020F10 ASH ) A/ »
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v)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Hanzhong Plant

In June 2017, the Group set up a joint venture
company, namely Hanzhong Fancy Ascent
Biological Technology Co. Ltd* (2R E AW
B BB A F]) (“Hanzhong JV”). Hanzhong JV
was set up for the purpose of constructing a
kitchen waste plant in Hanzhong with a total
capacity of 300 tons per day, of which phase-one
has a capacity of 150 tons per day (i.e.
Hanzhong Plant).

The Group owned 92% interest in Hanzhong
Plant at the beginning of the Year.

During the Year, the Group and the other 8%
Hanzhong JV shareholder transferred 12% and
8% of their unpaid capital contribution right in
Hanzhong Plant, respectively to Hanzhong Urban
Construction Investment Development Co., Ltd.
(ERmEmRERREREEFRAF) ("UCID").
Upon completion of the transfer, the
shareholding in Hanzhong Plant is held as to
80% and 20% by the Group and UCID,
respectively. UCID is a company established by the
Hanzhong municipality government and the
Company believed that the disposal would reduce
the Group’s investment commitment in Hanzhong
Plant, while the future construction and
operations of Hanzhong Plant will be better off
through the strong local support and connection
of UCID.

The operation model of Hanzhong Plant is yet to
be determined and its construction is yet to
commence. UCID has been liaising with relevant
government departments so as to speed up the
signing of service concession arrangement
agreement.

Hancheng Plant

Hancheng Jiemu Environmental Technology Co.
Ltd* (F3RBIRARBIE AR 2 8]) (“Hancheng
Plant”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.

(iv)

v)
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In May 2018, Hancheng Plant was granted an
exclusive concession right (BOT model) by
Hancheng Federation of Supply and Marketing
Cooperatives* (#2554 1EHE & 1L) to operate
a kitchen waste plant with capacity of 20,000
tons per annum for a term of 30 years.

During construction, certain design deficiencies
were found in respect of the waste-water system
of Hancheng Plant which have not been clearly
illustrated in the environmental assessment report.
Such deficiencies may result in the malfunction of
Hancheng Plant’s operation as well as imposition
of penalty for output of polluted water.

The Group has put forward to the Hancheng
Federation of Supply and Marketing Cooperatives
for the modification of the Hancheng Plant
design, but no agreement was reached. In
FY2020, the Group received several reminders
from the Hancheng Federation of Supply and
Marketing Cooperatives urging for resumption of
construction of Hancheng Plant, while on the
other hand the Hancheng Municipal Ministry of
Natural Resources issued an administrative penalty
notice alleging Hancheng Plant occupied certain
collective land. According to such notice, the
ministry proposed penalties which require: (i)
returning such occupied collective land; (ii)
confiscate any building and facilities on such
occupied collective land; and (iii) payment of
penalty of approximately RMB260,000. As such,
the construction of Hancheng Plant has been
pending since FY2020 until the above matters are
resolved.

During the Year, the Group has been negotiating
with Hancheng Federation of Supply and
Marketing Cooperatives for entering a proposed
suspension of construction and clearance
arrangement. No formal agreement has been
reached as at the date of this report.
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Provision of Environmental Improvement
Solutions

The Group’s provision of environmental EPC solutions
was initially carried by Clear Industry Company Limited
(“Clear Industry”), a company acquired by the Group
through cash and issuance of consideration shares
under an acquisition agreement dated 2 November
2016 which was owned as to 51% by the Company at
the beginning of the Year. Pursuant to the said
acquisition agreement, Qinggin International Group
Limited (“Qinggin”) guaranteed if the audited net profit
after tax of Clear Industry for each of the financial
years ended 31 March 2017, 2018 and 2019 failed to
meet with the agreed target, Qingqin shall compensate
the shortfall between the actual profit and the agreed
target profit to the Group. The said profit targets could
not be met and the vendor should compensate
RMB87,975,000 to the Group, whilst an amount of
RMB7,987,500 cash consideration payable by the Group
for the acquisition of Clear Industry remained
outstanding.

During the Year, the parties to the acquisition
agreement entered into a settlement agreement on 28
May 2020, pursuant to which the parties agreed to
resolve the dispute over the outstanding cash
consideration and the profit guarantee compensation
by, among others, the Group returning the equity
interest in Clear Industry to Qinggin, while Qinggin
paying the Group a cash refund of RMB36,000,000 and
the cash proceeds from disposal of the Company’s
consideration shares.

As of 31 March 2021, Qinggin refunded its committed
balance of RMB16,000,000 in cash to the Group
pursuant to the settlement agreement (as amended and
supplemented by the first, second and third
supplemental agreements in relation to the extension
and reschedule of the time of repaying the cash refund
and the disposal of the consideration shares). The
disposal of consideration shares has not yet taken place
as at the date of this report. Details of the settlement
agreement are set out in the Company report dated 28
May 2020, 29 July 2020, 5 November 2020, 1
December 2020 and 7 May 2021.
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Since 1 April 2020 up to completion of the settlement 202054 A 18 & £ 7202057
agreement on 31 July 2020, Clear Industry and its main A3VBN@HBpETK AL &
operating subsidiaries (together, the “Clear Industry EPC FREREEZEZENB AR (5
Group”) contributed revenue of approximately RMB13.1 BMEF REPCER D AR EE
million (equivalent to approximately HK$15.1 million) to BRI AL AR%13,100,0007T
the Group as compared to approximately RMB41.5 (F % 7 #915,100,000% 7T) » M
million (equivalent to approximately HK$46.8 million) in 7202081 B E AN/ AR
FY2020. 41,500,000t ( # % » 4

46,800,000/% 7T) °

The Group ceased to consolidate the results, assets and AN E B R 17 5 T A 1R AR

liabilities of Clear Industry EPC Group upon completion L& T E 18 R MEPCE B %

of the settlement agreement, which resulted in a gain B BAERBE WEAKSDH

of approximately HK$41,613,000. 41,613,000 7T ©

Subsequent to the return of the equity interest in Clear RESFBEORER NEH

Industry, the Group commenced its own EPC services in R2021F 1A EHAE B & MEPC

January 2021, but its EPC revenue is still minimal up to AR - (B E £2021F3A318 -

31 March 2021. EPCHY U 25 117 BE R K 7K °F ©

3. Industrial water treatment 3. TEEKEE

(i) Memsys Assets (i)  Memsys & E
The Group entered into a cooperation agreement 7N £ [ B Cevital International
with Cevital International (Dubai) Ltd. (“Cevital”) (Dubai) Ltd. ([ Cevital 1) &T
and established a joint venture company e EWRE - WKL
(“Memsys JV") as to 50% by the Group and as —fA & & 2 7 ([ Memsys
to 50% by Cevital for the purpose of developing EERAA])  BAAEER
the market for the Memsys technology and its Cevital & B # B50%1#
technical equipment in Asia with its exclusive =+ § £ B ZEMemsysH
rights to apply the Memsys technology in the PRC ity B2 L B 1M 2% 4% /9 22 M T
granted by Cevital. The Memsys JV has not 35+ I HECevital & H R &
commenced any business since its incorporation in & FAMemsys i fiT & 78
September 2018. During the Year, the R #E Rl o B20185F9A &
shareholders to the Memsys JV resolved to fit A 32 LA 2R - Memsys&
commence a voluntary liquidation for the Memsys /NI R B N DR G S
JV and such liquidation is completed subsequent % o RAFE * Memsys&
to the reporting period. The liquidation would ERARREZARRB
have no material impact to the Group, and upon Memsys& & A & H B 8
completion of liquidation of Memsys JV, the FEIE R - 8BRS H
Group’'s obligation under the cooperation BT BRI EHARE
agreement shall be discharged entirely. EXKERTE R

Memsys& & A 7 )5 # 5t
K& AEEREERE
THERBEEZERR -
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Bejjing TDR Environ-Tech Co., Ltd* (4f R X HEA
RIRFIFEBR 2 a]) (“TDR”)

The Group has been negotiating with the current
TDR owners with a view to review the possible
cooperation with TDR given the synergies
between the technology and know-how of the
Group in membrane distillation system and the
Disc Tube Reverse Osmosis system for
concentrated water possessed by TDR. Having
considered the possible technological cooperation
between the Group and TDR, the current TDR
owners have agreed in principle to allow the
Group to take participation in the equity of TDR
on the basis of not more than RMB800 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$909.14 million)
for 100% of TDR. In such case, the equity
participation will be in the maximum of 3.25%
for a consideration of RMB26.0 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$29.55 million) which will be
deemed to have been satisfied by the TDR deposit
paid by the Group to the previous TDR owner
pursuant to a framework agreement entered into
between the previous TDR owner and the Group
in April 2017.

In July 2020, the Company entered into a
memorandum of understanding with an affiliate
of the TDR current owner pursuant to which the
Company (or through its designated parties)
intended to acquire about 18% equity interest in
TDR.

The Group and the current TDR owners are
negotiating the arrangement of such equity
participation.

(11)
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Industrial Fluids Systems Service

Vimab is a company incorporated in Sweden and, together
with its operating subsidiaries (the
engaged in provision of on-site
including valve services and maintenance, tank cleaning and
other equipment services. It was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company at the beginning of the Year.

“Vimab Group”), is

industrial fluids service

Vimab was indebted to a fund (the “Fund”) in the principal of
SEK131,000,000 (approximately HK$101,509,000) under a loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which such
indebtedness was secured (the “Pledge”) by all the issued
shares of Vimab (the “Pledged Shares”) and shall be repaid in
full by 16 April 2021. According to the Loan Agreement, the
Fund has the right to call for immediate full repayment. The
Fund enforced the Pledge and transferred all the Pledged
Shares to a company designated by it on or around 7 April
2020 without any instrument entered by the holding company
of Vimab and the Company. As such, Vimab ceased to be the
subsidiary subsequent to such enforcement of Pledged Shares.

On 27 July 2020, the Fund, Vimab, the Company and other
related parties compromised on settling all disputes and
claims in relation to the Loan Agreement and/or the
enforcement of the Pledge and entered into a discharge
agreement (the “Discharge Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Group undertook that, among others, not to make any
claims on the Fund’s nominee ownership of the Pledged
Shares, and/or the enforcement of the pledge of the Pledged
On the other hand,
confirmed that the obligations and/or liabilities of the Group
in connection with or in relation to the Loan Agreement and
any letter of comfort will cease and terminate. The Discharge
Agreement will not exempt, waive or relieve the Fund from its
obligation to repay any surplus from the enforcement of the

Shares. the Fund undertook and

Pledge to the Group as the original pledgor of the Shares.

Details of the above matter are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 29 April 2020, 26 May 2020 and 27
July 2020.

IXRBRHRE

Vimab /& — & 7 3 8 G it X SZ B9
A EREZENE QA Vimabsk
BORERHBPIRE RRE - #E
BRREMBRERBSEOEL T ER
IR - ERAFEVNR/RARRNE
BB LA -

BEERGZE(ERBZEL - Vimab
H—ARXe((zE2DERES
131,000,000 & 53 B3 (#7101,509,000
B TT) o R I - B LAVimabFr B B %
TROTERRODERR(TZE
1) - I fE R2021F45168 & H B
B -RRBRERHHE ZEEBEAE
& 5 2 B8 3% - 202054578 =X Al
B mESRTZER UEXREB
VimabiZ & A 8] R A R & 5] M E 1 XX
ENBRT mM—HEHZESETH
NAIEEAEERR M - Bt - R oa
I 1T E AL (5 & Vimab ™ B A M
BAA -

7202097 H278 » #Z & £ - Vimab »
AR REMEB I RER DR L,
RTHERNATAUD RRRAM
RERZW WAl — DR
(IR pED - Bt - AEEHRE(H
FEE)IARZESHRBAEEDH
BRI B R R SBITE IR 8
EHRHEMEBER - Z—HE ZE
CEAVTERNEBEERIHERT
MERRABAENER R HE
EHERIEREB - BEHRiBETER
% MEXBHRZESALEE (BB
BRHERERAN)EBEEMMEE R
ZERNBBNER-

FTHREENFBHRARRBEHA
202054 A290 - 202058260 K&
2020F7 A27H B A o



20215 FH RAIEXKEEER)ERAA

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Following completion of the above enforcement of the
Pledged Shares, Vimab ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Company, and the Group did not consolidate its results,
assets and liabilities upon the Pledge was enforced on or
around 7 April 2020.

Pursuant to the Vimab acquisition agreement (the “Vimab
Agreement”) dated 3 May 2018, the Group should satisfy the
consideration for the acquisition of Vimab by (i) approximately
HK$23.0 million in cash; and (ii) approximately HK$147.5
million by way of the allotment and issue of 42,137,142 new
Shares (the “Consideration Shares”) at the issue price of
HK$3.5 per Share, among which 19,488,428 Consideration
Shares were subject to lock-up and should be released upon
fulfilment of certain financial benchmarks (including the
audited EBITDA) by the Vimab Group for each of the financial
year ended 31 December 2018 and 2019. Details of the lock-
up arrangement are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 3 May 2018.

Audited 2018 EBITDA of Vimab Group is not available as at
the date of this report and the Company will make further
announcement upon any update. The unaudited 2019 EBITDA
of Vimab Group is less than the financial benchmark of that
as set out in the Vimab Agreement. Since Vimab ceased to be
a subsidiary of the Company upon enforcement of the Pledge
under the Discharge Agreement as stated above, the
Company was unable to conduct audit on the Vimab Group.
Therefore the Company attempted to negotiate with other
parties to the Vimab Agreement to adopt the unaudited
figures and not perform a special audit as stipulated in the
Vimab Agreement.

Events after the reporting period

1.

Issue of Convertible Bonds

On 15 April 2021, the Company entered into 2 subscription
agreements with two subscribers pursuant to which the
Company issued the convertible bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of approximately HK$16,826,000 and an
interest rate of 6.0% per annum. The initial conversion price
is HK$0.260 per conversion share. The conversion shares will
be issued under the general mandate granted by the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company

held on 25 September 2020 (the “2020 General Mandate”).
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Such convertible bonds will be issued in 3 tranches. As at the
date of this report, the first tranche subscribed by one of the
subscribers with the principal amount of approximately
HK$2,050,000 was issued and was converted into 7,884,000
conversion shares in total by the subscribers at the said initial
conversion price. Details of the above issue of convertible
bonds and conversion of the first tranche of convertible
bonds are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 15
April 2021, 29 April 2021 and 14 May 2021.

2. Proposed issue of shares under specific mandate

On 10 May 2021, the Company entered into 9 subscription
agreements with 9 independent subscribers, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to issue an aggregate of 169,472,000
new shares at the subscription price of HK$0.295 each, with
gross proceeds from the subscription to be approximately
HK$50.0 million. The transactions under the subscription
agreements and the specific mandate in relation to the
allotment and issuance of the new shares are approved by the
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 18 June 2021. Up to the date of this
report, the subscription is yet to complete.

Outlook

In view of the planned commitment in the Government’s public
expenditure on infrastructure will help to create new projects for
the construction industry in Hong Kong, the management remains
prudently optimistic about prospects of the construction market.

The environmental protection industry would anticipate for other
opportunities and challenges. Despite our existing technology can
strengthen the waste-treatment to be harmless and resources-
utilisation, to cope with the “14th Five-Year Plan” and capture
business opportunities, we are keen to further enhance our
solutions to energy-savings and energy transformation.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of the Group

During the Year, revenue of the Group decreased by approximately
8.8% to approximately HK$591.5 million (FY2020: HK$648.6
million), which was due to both the decrease in Construction
Business and Environmental Protection Business. Further discussion
and analysis on the financial performance of each business segment
of the Group is set out in the section headed “Business Review”
above.
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Loss for the Year attributable to owners from continuing operations
of the Company amounted to approximately HK$55.0 million
(FY2020: HK$130.5 million).

Basic loss per share from continuing operations was HK8.47 cents
(FY2020: HK22.78 cent).

Other income and gains, net

Other income and gains, net, increased approximately from
HK$40.83 million for FY2020 to HK$56.82 million for the Year. In
prior year, the amount was mainly generated from completion of
Stand Ascent Disposal of approximately HK$29.3 million, and gain
on disposal of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$3.16 million. In the current Year, the amount represented gain
on disposal of subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$27.87
million, machinery rental income of approximately HK$7.63 million
and exchange gain of approximately HK$6.21 million.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased by 13.99% from
approximately HK$131.37 million to HK$112.99 million. There has
been no significant change in the items, among such expenses and
such decrease was due to as certain subsidiaries were disposed
during the Year and since its financial results were consolidated up
to relevant disposal date where a full-year expenses were included
in FY2020.

Finance costs

Finance costs of the Group increased from approximately HK$33.31
million to HK$38.29 million for the Year. Taking out the effect of
derecognition of bank and other borrowings in Vimab along with
the Group’s borrowings only
decreased slightly from approximately HK$275.4 million at 31
March 2020 to approximately HK$257.8 million (of which
approximately HK$134.2 million was classified under liabilities
associated with assets as held for sale) at 31 March 2021. The
increase in finance costs indeed was due to the refinancing of

the enforcement of its shares,

certain borrowings at higher interest rate as well as charging of
interests to non-wholly owned subsidiary by the shareholders in
which no such interest was imposed in prior year.
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Other expenses

Other expenses decreased from HK$53.70 million to HK$1.45
In previous year, the amount of HK$53.70 million
represented impairment recognised for goodwill
concession of Hefei Plant due to the deterioration of its recoverable
amount arising from failure of technological improvement and delay
in proposed price adjustment. In the current year, other expenses of

million.
and service

the Group mainly represented the impairment recognized for
goodwill of approximately HK$1.13 million for Taiyuan Plant with
reference from its recoverable amount to be received pursuant to
the disposal agreement dated 8 February 2021.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$66.7 million (as at 31 March 2020: approximately
HK$29.8 million).

The total interest-bearing loans comprising leases liabilities, bonds,
bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2021 was
(as at 31 March 2020:
approximately HK$425.4 million), and current ratio for the Year was
approximately 1.09 (as at 31 March 2020: approximately 0.59).

approximately HK$150.9 million

The Group’s borrowings and bank balances are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (“RMB"”) and there
may be significant exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Included in other payables were amount due by the Company to
Engineering Co., Ltd.,
incorporated in Taiwan and listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8473) with limited liability (“Forest Water”), with
principal and accrued interest of US$6.1

Forest Water Environmental a company

million (approximately
HK$47.8 million), resulting from Forest Water exercising its early
redemption rights under the convertible bonds in the amount of
US$5,000,000 issued by the Company pursuant to a subscription
agreement dated 3 October 2017. Such convertible bonds were
classified as other payables upon the Company’s shares suspended
for trading for more than 30 days.
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On 22 October 2020, the Company received a writ of summons
dated 16 October 2020 (the
issued by the High Court of Hong Kong, wherein Forest Water (as
plaintiff) sought, among others, the following orders against the
Company (as defendant): (1) a sum of US$6,572,708 (as the
aggregate of the principal amount of US$5,000,000 and interest of
US$1,572,708 under the Convertible Bonds), with daily interest of
US$1,667; (2) costs; and (3) further or other relief as the Court sees
fit. The Company is in the course of seeking legal advice and such
matter is yet to finalise up to the date of this report.

“Writ"”) with a statement of claim

Details of the above matter are set out in the Company's
announcements dated 3 October 2017 and 22 October 2020.

Up to the date of this report, no formal settlement agreement has
been reached.

Going concern basis

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had a net loss of
HK$63,605,000 as at 31 March 2021. As of that date, the Group
had bonds, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings totalling
HK$149,186,000, trade and retention payables, other payables and
accruals and lease liabilities totalling HK$289,360,000 included in
current liabilities while the Group’s cash and cash equivalents was
HK$66,686,000.

The above conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and, therefore it may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of

business.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company have
prepared a cash flow forecast of the Group covering a period of 18
months from the end of the reporting period (the “Forecast
Period”).
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The cash flow forecast has included the effects of the following

major measures and events that have been implemented or taking
place in order to enhance the Group’s liquidity position to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due:

(a)

(b)

(©)

In February 2021,
the disposal agreement in relation to the disposal of the

the Group and the purchaser entered into

100% equity interest held in the Taiyuan Tianrun Bioenergy
Co., Ltd. ("Taiyuan Plant”)
RMB120,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$141,982,000). Up to the date of approval for issue of
these consolidated financial statements, a deposit of
RMB20,400,000 (approximately HK$24,138,000) was received
while conditions precedent regarding (i) written approval of
the disposal agreement by the Taiyuan Urban and Rural
Management Bureau; and (i) written consent for the disposal
as well as its agreement to assist in the change of business
registration of Taiyuan Plant from CITIC Financial Leasing

at the consideration of

Company Limited have yet been satisfied but the directors of
the Company are of the view that these conditions will be
satisfied with the proceeds to be received that will meet the
liquidity needs of the Group;

On May 2021,
agreements with each of the subscribers.

the Group entered into 9 subscription
Pursuant to the
subscription agreements,
agreed to allot and
conditionally agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of
169,472,000 subscription shares at the subscription price of
HK$0.295 for the gross proceeds approximately
HK$50,000,000. Such subscription is approved by the
Shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting held on

18 June 2021; and

the Company has conditionally

issue, and the subscribers have

The Group obtained the facilities of HK$50 million within the
Forecast Period from an individual who holds 75% equity
interest in a substantial shareholder of the Company. An
amount of HK$35 million was utilised as available working
capital up to the date of approval for these consolidated
financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Directors are of the opinion that, taking into account the
above-mentioned measures,
working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due over the Forecast Period.
Accordingly, it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 on a going concern

the Group would have sufficient

basis.

Should the Group fail to achieve the abovementioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down
the carrying values of the Group's assets to their net realisable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

Taking into account the above-mentioned plans and measures, The
Directors are in the views that the Group would have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due.

Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2021 was approximately 150.2%
(as at 31 March 2020: approximately 385.7%).

The increase in gearing ratio was mainly attributable to the increase
in overall Group’s borrowings during the Year.

The gearing ratio is calculated as the payables incurred not in the
ordinary course of business (excluding loan from related companies/
directors/shareholders) divided by total equity attributable to the
owners of the Company as at the respective years.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2021, the Group pledged certain assets including (i)
property, plant and equipment with carrying values of
approximately HK$84,355,000 (31 March 2020: approximately
HK$112,810,000), as collateral to secure the facilities granted to the
Group.

The Group also guaranteed certain facilities through certain
proceeds from the Group’s service concession arrangements, equity
interests in subsidiaries of the Group.
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Foreign exchange exposure

Certain revenue-generating operations and assets and liabilities of
the Group are denominated in RMB and may expose the Group to
the fluctuation of Hong Kong dollars against RMB. The Group did
not enter into any hedging arrangement or derivative products.
However, the Board and management will continue to monitor the
foreign currency exchange exposure and will consider adopting
certain hedging measures against the currency risk when necessary.

Capital structure and fund raising activities in the past 12
months

During the Year, the Company issued new shares and convertible
bonds. As at 31 March 2021, the Company has a total of
693,590,134 issued shares (FY2020: 572,900,134 shares). Details of
the aforesaid issuance are summarised below:

(i)  Placing of Shares

The Company entered into a placing agreement with CNI
Securities Group Limited (as placing agent) on 10 June 2020,
pursuant to which the placing agent agreed to place up to
57,290,113 new ordinary Shares at the issue price of
HK$0.202 each. The placement was completed on 2 July
2020 and a total of 50,922,000 placing shares with a nominal
value of HK$5,092,200 were placed at the said issue price to
not less than six independent places under the general
mandate granted to the Board at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 16 August 2019 (the “2019 General
Mandate”). The closing price per Share on 10 June 2020,
being the date of the placing agreement, was HK$0.246.

The gross proceeds from the placing was approximately
HK$10.29 million. The proceeds were intended to be applied
for general capital use, and the full amount of the net
proceeds were utilised as per intended as at the date of this
report.

Details of the aforesaid placing were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 10 June 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Subscription of Shares

The Company entered into 3 subscription agreements with 3
independent subscribers, namely Mr.
Singapore citizen and a merchant), Mr. Zheng Jian (a PRC

citizen and a merchant) and Givemore Group Limited (an

Zhuo Jinming (a

investment holding company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands), on 15 June 2020, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to issue an aggregate of 49,768,000 new ordinary
Shares at the issue price of HK$0.221 each (among which
Mr. Zhuo Jinming, Mr. Zheng Jian and Givemore Group
Limited subscribed for 9,048,000 shares, 27,148,000 shares
and 13,572,000 shares, respectively). The subscription was
completed on 2 July 2020 and a total of 49,768,000
subscription shares with a nominal value of HK$4,976,800
were issued at the said issue price to the subscribers under
the 2019 General Mandate. The closing price per Share on
15 June 2020, being the date of the subscription agreements,
was HK$0.275.

The Directors had considered various ways of raising
additional funds for strengthening the Group’s financial
position and future use and they consider that the
subscription was an appropriate means of raising additional
capital for the Company since the capital base of the
Company can be broadened at a relatively low cost compared
to bank borrowings or issue of debt securities, and the cash
position of the Group will be improved which then can help
establishing and strengthening the existing and future
business of the Group. Therefore, the Company entered into
the aforesaid subscription agreements.

The gross proceeds from the subscription was approximately
HK$11.00 million. The proceeds were intended to be applied
for general capital use, and the full amount of the net
proceeds were utilised as per intended as at the date of this
report.

Details of the aforesaid subscription were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 June 2020.

(ii)
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(iii) Issue of Convertible Bonds (iii) ZF{Tof#fR (&5

The Company entered into a subscription agreement with an
independent subscriber, namely Mr. Xu Hejiao (a PRC citizen
and a merchant), on 14 December 2020, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to issue convertible bonds with a
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 which bear an interest
rate of 6% per annum to the subscriber in 3 tranches, among
which the first tranche amounts to HK$4,000,000, the second
tranche amounts to HK$3,000,000 and the third tranche
amounts to HK$3,000,000. The initial exercise price of the
convertible bonds is HK$0.200 per conversion shares, which is
same as the closing price per Share on 14 December 2020,
being the date of the subscription agreement. The conversion
shares to be issued upon conversion of the convertible bonds
would be issued under the 2020 General Mandate. The
subscription of the first tranche of convertible bonds of
HK$4,000,000 was completed on in December 2020 and the
subscriber had converted the same in full into 20,000,000
conversion shares on 30 March 2021 at the said initial
exercise price. The third tranche of the convertible bonds were
issued in June 2021 and the subscription price in respect
thereto was received on the issuance date. The third tranche
of the convertible bonds are not yet issued as at the date of
this report. Upon issuance and full exercise of third tranche of
the convertible bonds at the initial exercise price, an
aggregate of 15,000,000 conversion shares will be issued.

The gross proceeds from the issue of the first tranche
convertible bonds was HK$4,000,000. The proceeds were
intended to be applied for general working capital, and the
full amount was utilised as per intended as at the date of this
report.

With reference to the 2020 annual report and unaudited
interim results announcement dated 23 November 2020,
despite the financial performance and position slightly
improved for the first 6-months period ended 30 September
2020, the Directors have been considering for various ways of
strengthening the Group’s financial position and resolving the
claim from Forest Water by, among others, raising additional
funds and liquidity by, among others, divesting part of assets.
In light of the aforesaid, the Company entered into the
subscription agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The gross proceeds from the subscription of the first tranche
of convertible bonds and the non-refundable deposit received
from the subscriber was approximately HK$4.6 million. The
proceeds were intended to be applied for general capital use,
and the full amount of the net proceeds were utilised as per
intended as at the date of this report.

Details of the aforesaid issuance of convertible bonds were set
out in the Company’'s announcement dated 14 December
2020.

Subscription of Shares

The Company entered into 3 subscription agreements with 3
independent subscribers, namely Ms. Ng Hoi Kai (a Hong
Kong citizen and a merchant), Mr. Fang Guohong (a PRC
citizen and a merchant) and Mr. Fang Weikang (a PRC citizen
and a merchant), on 24 March 2021, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to issue an aggregate of 20,000,000 new
ordinary Shares at the issue price of HK$0.200 each (among
which Ms. Ng Hoi Kai, Mr. Fang Guohong and Mr. Fang
Weikang subscribed for 6,000,000 shares, 6,000,000 shares
and 8,000,000 shares, respectively). The subscription was
completed on 12 April 2021 and a total of 20,000,000
subscription shares with a nominal value of HK$2,000,000
were issued at the said issue price to the subscribers under
the 2020 General Mandate. The closing price per Share on
24 March 2021, being the date of the subscription
agreements, was HK$0.195.

With reference to the 2020 annual report and unaudited
interim results announcement dated 23 November 2020, in
additional to the issue of convertible bond in December 2020
and potential disposal of a subsidiary as set out in the
announcement dated 8 February 2021, the Directors have
been taking various measures in the short to medium term to
meet its financial needs, and the Board considers the
Subscription is an appropriate means of raising additional
capital for the Company since the capital base of the
Company can be broadened at a relatively low cost compared
to bank borrowings or issue of debt securities. Therefore, the

Company entered into the aforesaid subscription agreements.

(iv)
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The gross proceeds from the subscription was approximately
HK$4.0 million and the net proceeds from the subscription
approximately HK$3.98 million. The net subscription price per
subscription approximately HK$0.199 per
subscription share. The net proceeds were intended to be
applied for general capital use, and the full amount of the net

share was

proceeds were utilised as per intended as at the date of this
report.

Details of the aforesaid subscription were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 24 March 2021.

Fund raising activities after the reporting period are set out in
headed “Events after the reporting period”.

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any capital
commitment (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$45,261,000)
in relation to the projects of the Group under the ordinary course
of business.

Human resources management

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 431 employees, including
Directors (as at 31 March 2020: 413 employees, including Directors).
Total
approximately HK$117,005,000 for the Year as compared to
approximately HK$127,100,000 for FY2020. Remuneration was
determined with
employees’ performance, qualification and experience.

staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments) were

reference to market norms and individual

On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid by reference to the
Group's performance as well as individual’s performance. Other staff
benefits include provision of retirement benefit, injury insurance and
share options.

Significant investments held

At the beginning of the Year, the Group held approximately 8.69%
of the total issued share capital of Josab Water Solutions AB
("Josab”), the shares of which are listed on Spotlight Stock Market,
a stock exchange in Sweden. Such Josab’s shares were held under
Vimab and accordingly was derecognised from the Group
subsequent to such enforcement of Pledged Shares in Vimab.

Save as disclosed above and except for investment in subsidiaries,
during the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investment
in equity interest in any other company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies
during the Year.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had outstanding performance
bond for construction contracts amounting to approximately
HK$35.4 million (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$68.4
million).

The Company has agreed to provide the corporate guarantee for
the due performance of the
wholly-owned subsidiary of TDR up to an aggregate amount of
RMB153,986,000 under principal agreements dated 14 July 2017
entered into between such TDR’s subsidiary and CITIC Financial
Leasing Co., Ltd.

repayment obligations of the

In consideration of the corporate guarantee provided by the
Company, TDR entered into the counter-guarantee agreement with
the Company, pursuant to which, TDR has agreed to provide to the
Company the guarantee fee and the counter-guarantee in respect of
such corporate guarantee.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by Directors
Code for
Transactions by Directors of Listed lIssuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors.

The Company has adopted the Model Securities

Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, and all
Directors confirmed in writing that they have complied with the
required standards as set out in the Model Code regarding their
securities transactions for the Year.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Board believes that good corporate governance is one of the
areas leading to the success of the Company and balancing the
interests of shareholders, customers and employees, and the Board
is devoted to ongoing enhancement of the efficiency and
effectiveness of such principles and practices.

The Company has adopted the compliance manual which sets out
the minimum standard of good practices concerning the general
management responsibilities of the Board with which the Company
and the Directors shall comply and which contains, among other
things, the code provisions of the corporate governance codes (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of corporate governance.

The Board considers that the Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code during the Year.

Final Dividend
The Board proposes not to recommend payment of a final dividend
to the shareholders for FY2021 (FY2020: nil).

Extract from Independent Auditor’s Report
The following is an extract of the independent Auditor’s report on
the Group's consolidated financial statements for the FY2021:

Basis for Qualified Opinion

In previous years, the Group paid deposits for the potential
acquisition of a 49% equity interests in PT. Dempo Sumber Energi
(“DSE") (“"DSE Agreement”) and a 80% equity interests in PT.
Sumatera Pembangkit Mandiri (“SPM"). In addition, the Group paid
certain expenses on behalf of DSE and advanced loans to DSE, SPM
and their beneficial shareholders. During the year ended 31 March
2017, the shares of DSE and SPM (representing 49% and 80% of
the equity interest in DSE and SPM respectively) were transferred to
Stand Ascent Limited (“Stand Ascent”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
indirectly held by the Company. The Group accounted for DSE and
SPM shares held by Stand Ascent as collateral to secure the
payments for the deposits paid and expenses paid on behalf and
loans advanced as stated above. After the transfer of shares, the
Group appointed 4 out of 6 directors of DSE and 5 out of 7
directors of SPM. Thereafter, the Group has entered into a series of
transactions and agreements with various parties including further
payments for deposits for the potential acquisition of additional 5%
equity interests in SPM and the termination of the DSE Agreements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 29 June 2018, the Group entered into a disposal agreement
and on 15 August 2019 a supplemental deed to the disposal
agreement (collectively “the Disposal Agreement”) to dispose of the
Group’s 100% equity interest in Stand Ascent (“the Disposal”). Up
to the date of the Disposal, the Group have received an aggregate
amount of HK$83,764,000 from the buyer in the Disposal
Agreement and its beneficial controlling shareholder (the “Money
Received”).

On 15 August 2019, the Group also entered into a settlement
agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) in
settlement of the consideration for

relation to the
(the
According to the Settlement Agreement, the

the Disposal
“Consideration”).
Consideration will be settled by the amount due by the Group to
the purchaser and its beneficial controlling shareholder for the
Money Received. The amount of Money Received in excess of the
Consideration was agreed to be waived.

As at the date of the Disposal, the aggregated amount of deposits
paid, expenses paid on behalf and loans advanced (“Payments”) of
approximately HK$70,269,000 was accounted for as receivables. The
carrying amount of the Payments as at the date of disposal after
netting off the impairment provision of HK$15,854,000 was of
HK$54,415,000 and gain on the Disposal of HK$29,349,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 March 2020.
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The directors of the Company have not provided us with
satisfactory evidence relating to the nature of the transactions
giving rise to the Payments as detailed in the paragraphs above (the
“Transactions”) (further
consolidated financial statements) and their conclusion that the
Payments are receivables in nature throughout the years. As such,

details are disclosed in note to the

we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
satisfy ourselves whether the Transactions have been appropriately
accounted for, including whether accounting for the Payments as
receivables is appropriate and accordingly (i) whether impairment
provision recognised against the Payments is appropriate and the
amount of impairment provision recognised is properly determined
or measured in accordance with HKFRSs; and (ii) whether the gain
on the Disposal is properly calculated. As a result, we were also
unable to satisfy ourselves whether the disclosures in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements are complete and accurate.
There were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform
to satisfy ourselves
Consequently,
adjustments to these amounts/disclosures were necessary.
Accordingly, our audit opinion on the Group'’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 was modified.

as to the above-mentioned matters.
we were unable to determine whether any

Our audit opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2021 is also modified because of the
possible effects of this matter on the comparability of the related
2021 figures and 2020 figures in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note in the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group had a net loss of HK$63,605,000.
As of that date, the Group had bonds, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings totalling HK$149,186,000,
payables, other payables and accruals and lease liabilities totalling
HK$289,360,000 included in current liabilities while the Group's
cash and cash equivalents was HK$66,686,000. As stated in the
note, these conditions, along with the matters set out in the note,
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

trade and retention
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Supplementary information regarding the Qualified
Opinion

The Auditor has expressed a modified opinion for corresponding
figures of the consolidated profit or loss for the year ended
31 March 2020, as a result of the disposal on the receivables in
respect of the DSE Receivables and the SPM Receivables. Set out
below are the supplementary information regarding the aforesaid
matter:

1. Background of the DSE Receivables and the SPM

Receivables

A detailed chronology of events for better comprehension of
the circumstances leading to the alterations to the terms and
nature of the DSE Acquisition and the SPM Acquisition and
the resulting Management’'s decisions are set out in the
management discuss and analysis in the 2018, 2019 and
2020 annual reports.

2. Management’s position

The position of the Company’s management about the nature
of the DSE Receivables and the SPM Receivables as at
31 March 2019 as receivables and the impairment recognised
thereon as at 31 March 2019 are set out in the management
discuss and analysis in the 2019 annual report. As the Group
completed the disposal of DSE Receivables and the SPM
Receivables in FY2020, the related matters as set out in the
qualified opinion in previous years should have been
addressed and resolved by 31 March 2020. As such, other
than the comparative figures of profit or loss, statement of
consolidated statement of cash flow and related notes thereto
may be affected, the opening balances as at 1 April 2020,
closing balances at 31 March 2021 and profit or loss for
FY2021 are not subject to any impact as a result from the
prior years’ qualified opinion.
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3. Potential impact on the Company
Such modification on audit opinion is to highlight the
comparability of profit or loss, statement of consolidated
statement of cash flow and related notes thereto, where it
does not have any impact on the Group’s annual results and
financial position for FY2021.

4. View of the Audit Committee and Management’s

position

A meeting was held on 25 June 2021 by the Audit
Committee for the purpose of approving the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for FY2021.
Having carried out independent review of and enquiries on
the subject transaction, the Audit Committee concurred with
the management’s explanation as well as auditor’s position on
issuing a modified opinion in respect of the comparative
figures impacted by prior years’ DSE Receivables and the SPM
Receivables.

Audit Committee and review of the annual results

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in compliance with Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing
Rules with written terms of reference. The latest terms of reference
of the Audit Committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

A summary of work of the Audit Committee during the Year is as
follows:

. met with the external auditors, reviewed and made
recommendations for the Board’s approval on the annual and
interim results and reports of the Company;

o reviewed and approved audit fee;
. recommended the re-appointment of BDO Limited (“BDO") as
auditors, subject to the shareholders’ approval at the annual

general meeting; and

o reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Yongjun, aged 54, was appointed as the Chairman of the
Board and an executive director of the Company on 24 May 2016.
He is also a member of the nomination committee of the Board.

Mr. Zhu is the Chairman and an executive director of China Water
Industry Group Limited (a company listed on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) (the “Stock Exchange”)
(Stock Code: 1129). He was an executive director of EverChina Int'l
Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange) (Stock Code: 202) from May 2008 to February
2013 and the chairman of the board of Heilongjiang Interchina
Water Treatment Co., Limited* (“Heilongjiang Interchina Water
Treatment”) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange)
(Stock Code: 600187), from January 2009 to May 2015. Mr. Zhu
obtained his undergraduate from Hunan University in 1989, and a
Master’'s degree of business administration in Peking University in
in 2005. He started his
environmental protection career in 2001.

the People’s Republic of China

Mr. Pan Yimin, aged 45, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 24 March 2021. He was the president of Tianjin
Dongfang Mingrui Investment Management Co., Ltd* since 2013
prior to joining the Company. Mr. Pan was the vice president of
Interchina (Tianjin) Water Treatment Co., Ltd.* from April 2011 to
March 2013, and a deputy manager of Heilongjiang Interchina
Water Treatment from April 2009 to March 2011. Mr. Pan obtained
a bachelor’'s degree in Economics in 1998 from Jiangxi University of
Finance and Economics.

Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas, aged 43, was appointed as an executive
August 2018. He joined the
Company in November 2015 and was appointed as the Company’s

director of the Company on 31

company secretary on 24 May 2016. Since year 2016, he is also the
company secretary and director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Lee is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He graduated from the University of Oregon in
the United States of America with a Bachelor of Science degree in
year 1999.
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Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Ge Xiaolin, aged 56, was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company on 2 July 2020. Dr. Ge is the chairman of Tianjin
SOFIT Building Materials Co., Ltd. Dr. Ge received a master’s degree
in 1990 and a bachelor’s degree in 1988 in Hunan University,
subsequently obtained his Ph.D. degree in Beijing University in 2013,
and postdoctoral researcher in Applied Economics in Hunan
University in 2010. Dr. Ge was the (Term Ninth to Tenth) member
of All-China Youth Association. Prior to founding his own company,
Dr. Ge worked in China Pinghe Import & Export Co., Ltd. (as
general manager), and Goalmark International Group (as vice
general manager and subsequent as general manager).

Dr. Zhang Lihui, aged 50, was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company on 8 September 2016. Dr. Zhang is a
managing partner of Tsing Capital. Dr. Zhang has been focusing on
the investment related to environmental protection, clean energy,
high technology and precious materials in China since joining Tsing
Capital.

Dr. Zhang received a master's degree in Laws and a bachelor’s
degree in Technology English in PLA University of Foreign
Languages, subsequently obtained his Ph.D. degree in Economics
from the University of International
Dr. Zhang also completed the Advanced Management Program at
Harvard Business School in 2009.

Business and Economics.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr.
independent non-executive director of the Company on 26 August
2014. He is the chairman of the nomination committee of the Board

Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian, aged 65, was appointed as an

and a member of each of the audit committee and remuneration
committee of the Board.

Mr. Lo was awarded a Bachelor of Laws degree by the University of
London in August 1988. He is a member of the Law Society of
Hong Kong and has been a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong since
November 1991 in general legal practice. From December 1993 to
the date of this annual report, Mr. Lo has been a partner of Joseph
C.T. Lee & Co. and engaged in various fields of legal practice
involving commercial and conveyancing litigation, acquisition and
sale of business and/or companies, company liquidation, charity
foundation works, formation of religious organisations, family law,
immigration law and employment law. He is an independent non-
executive director of Huarchi Global Group Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) (Stock
Code: 2296) since November 2019.

Dr. Tong Ka Lok, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 26 August 2014. He is the
chairman of the audit committee of the Board and a member of
each of the nomination committee and remuneration committee of
the Board.

Dr. Tong was awarded a Doctor of Public Health degree
(epidemiology and biostatistics) from the Macau University of
Science and Technology in August 2013. Dr. Tong is a founder and
partner of Baker Tilly Macao Certified Public Accountants which was
established in October 2000. He is an auditor registered at the
Committee for the Registry of Auditors and Accountants in Macau
in January 2006. Besides his business establishment, Dr. Tong was
appointed as a member of the Nanjing Committee of CPPCC* (
BARBGAHMAEASHEBRAMELZE®), and Vice President of the
Macau University of Science and Technology in 2012, and a
University Council Member in 2013.

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EELEREEABNBEFE

BIAFERITES

BB LE 655 MN2014F8F26R E L
FAERBBUIRNTES BRAESTSE
TIREZEENTIFUREECETER
ZEEeRTHEESSEMKE -

BEENI98SFSAEMBARNER/E L2+
B - BABRESREMEEE B1991F 114
RABBHNERM  BEE—MEESEHK - RN
1993F NARERFHRAH  BEERTEE
BMEBMABA HEZMEBEEESE

B SREERMEBEZHD  EBE K
AAMBEHE QARBE AEEEET

B BYRHERE REZE BRERERE
Ko HA2019F11 AR AEDIRIREEITR
ERAR(RBIAMERLETHAR KK
RSE :2296) MBI IERMITES o

BEEYM L 585 M2014F8H26R %
EEARRRBYINTEE HAESSE
TEZZEENTIFEUREESETIRAE
ZESRFHEZESEENKE -

EE T R2013F8 A BRI KEREQ
HEEB(RTRSBEEDHET2)FELL
fiL o FE1E L ARK2000F 10 A A 37 &9 KB R P
SEAISEBEAMMEIIE ARER A © 712006
FIAEBRMZEMESHAEIMEE S5
ik Bz 2hED - BREEBHEHI BEELTR
0NFEEZEFAARBBEATEZEES S
BRRMBIEREBRIRE - BR2013FEZ
FRBEFBBAEREGNKE -

39



40

NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEABNRBEFE

Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP, aged 72, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company on
26 August 2014. He is the chairman of our the remuneration
committee of the Board and a member of each of the nomination
committee and audit committee of the Board.

Mr. Choy joined the Group in January 2013 as a director of New
Concepts Foundation Limited (“NC Foundation”). Mr. Choy has been
carrying out an independent non-executive role in NC Foundation,
mainly responsible for advising on corporate governance of NC
Foundation. Mr. Choy also acts as an independent non- executive
director of Far East Hotels and Entertainment Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 37), AB Builders Group
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1615)) and WAC Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM (stock
code: 8619)).

Mr. Choy holds a Diploma in Chinese Law awarded from the
University of East Asia (now known as the University of Macau) in
October 1987 and a Diploma
International Affairs College, Hong Kong in July 1988.

in Political Science from the

He was the Chairman of the Sham Shui Po District Board from April
1991 to September 1994, a Hong Kong affairs adviser appointed by
the Hong Kong and Macao Affairs Office of the State Council and
the Xinhua News Agency from 1994 to 1997, the vice-chairman of
the Occupational Safety and Health Council of the Labour and
Welfare Bureau from 2004 to 2010, a member of the Energy
Advisory Committee of the Environment Bureau from 2006 to 2012
and a member of the Consumer Council of the Commerce and
Economic Development Bureau from 2005 to 2011.

He was a member of the Guangzhou Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC")* (Term Ninth
to Twelfth) (FEIARBUAM A CHEINTZE E). He was also
elected as a vice president of GMC Hong Kong Members
Association in February 2012. He is the Honorary Committee
Member of The Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, Hong
Kong (“CGCC") and was also the Chairman of Member’s Service

Committee of CGCC.

*  For identification purpose only
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Senior Management

Mr. Chu Shu Cheong, aged 60, is the founder of the Group the
director of the subsidiaries of the Company, namely NC Foundation.
He possesses over 23 years of management experience in
foundation, civil engineering and building works of various nature.

Besides his business achievement, Mr. Chu was also appointed as
the honorary chairman of the China Star Light Charity Fund
Association in 2000, a member of the Guangdong Province
Committee of CPPCC (FEIARBUAH B ERERERIETEER)
in October 2011 and a member of the Guangzhou Committee of
the CPPCC (FEARBUAHMEEHEMMZE®) in December
2011.
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The Board hereby presents the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
(the “Consolidated Financial Statements”).

Principal Activities

During the Year, the principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries comprise
construction works in Hong Kong and environmental protection
business in the PRC. Details of the principal activities of the
principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Save for the industrial fluids
system services business was discontinued during the Year as
detailed
Analysis — Il Industrial Fluids Systems Services”, there were no
significant changes in the nature of the principal activities of the

Group during the Year.

in the section headed “Management Discussion and

Business Review

The revenue of the Group is wholly derived from the construction
protection
business in the PRC. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the
Year is set out in note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

works conducted in Hong Kong and environmental

A review of the business of the Group for the Year, including the
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the Year and the likely future business development is set
out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 6 to 36 of this annual report. This discussion form part of
the Report of Directors.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group has adopted and implemented environmental protection
policies and procedures to enable it to commit to the long term
sustainability of the environment and communities in which it
operates. During the Year, the Group complied with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group’s business where the Group is operating.
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Details of the key laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the Group’s businesses,

their key scope and our

compliance measures are outlined in the following table:

Laws and Regulations

ERREH

Key scope

TEGE
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TERENUAREEGEEAYEHTE
EARAM B EBERAKEARE
B 0 B

Compliance measures

BRER

Air Pollution Control (Non-
road Mobile Machinery)
(Emission) Regulation
(Chapter 311Z of the
Laws of Hong Kong)

(ERBREH GEEKD
B L) (B0 BB OI(F
EERIE31125F)

Air Pollution Control
(Construction Dust)
Regulation (Chapter
311R of the Laws of
Hong Kong)

(ERBREH (RELR
EER) MOINE B LG E
311RE)

Noise Control Ordinance
(Chapter 400 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)

(R EE GBI (EAEH
400%)

Contractor must not sell or lease, or
cause to be sold or leased, a regulated
machine for use in Hong Kong unless the
machine is approved or exempted

BRIEXZAEMUMER AR E - TR
AP HE RN EZEAARESR
B - I T R B g T 2 A A
HEBRBER

Contractor must not use or cause to be

used a regulated machine in any specified
activity unless the machine is approved or
exempted

BRI RERMER ERER R TR
EMB N SERREDPEARRHE
2 R

Contractor is required to take dust
reduction measures when construction
work is being carried out

AR TR REUEE - R EREE

Controls construction noise ranges from:

EREERE B8

(a)  the use of powered mechanical
equipment

(@) HRRDREBIEES

(b)  the carrying out of certain noisy
works in designated areas

(b) HEHETHEANETELFEZIIE

Applications for lease and use of
regulated machine have been made and
approval certificates for emission
compliance were obtained

AEBEEFHAEREERERAZREHR
MEBFE LERETAEREENE

mEE

The relevant approval label has been
painted or securely fixed on the
machine and is displayed at a
conspicuous position, which is also
properly maintained

Mz AR RN SR Z I EE R
WE - WRERNBERUERTREZS
(X3

Compliance manual is in place for
operational staff

EREBRIEFABBRHARFTM

Regular briefing and training are
conducted to enhance their awareness
on the legislation

FEHRITENREIN RSBRIEAEY
V2 Bl #9930

Compliance manual is in place for
operational staff

EREBRFABBRHARTM

Site supervisor is presented at the
construction site

BT AR B B A B E B MR
Construction noise permit has been
obtained

EMISRERSFAIZE
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Laws and Regulations Key scope Compliance measures

EERR G FTEHE EHREE

The Environmental This law defines the environment as The project companies of the Group
Protection Law of the the total body of all natural elements prevent pollution in accordance with the
People’s Republic of and artificially transformed natural requirements of the Environmental
China elements affecting human existence and Protection Law.

development (including the atmosphere,
water, seas, land, minerals, forests,
grasslands, wetlands, wildlife, natural and
human remains, nature reserves, historic
sites and scenic spots, and urban and rural

areas).
FEAREMEIIRE WERFIEIRE  REFEABEEGTNE FAESETBERAANERBRRENE
RiEX RHSBERANMECRALIBGENE A K- BEHBBEIEREOHENR -

RE=wEE gFRAR K -BF %
R AR BR R BAL
- BRER  AXEY BRARER -
BRBBE B MENE -

The Law of the People’s This law defines environmental impact The project companies of the Group
Republic of China on assessment as the analysis, estimation engage independent third parties to
Environmental Impact and evaluation of possible environmental prepare environmental impact assessment
Assessment impacts resulting from the implementation  reports/competent government authorities

of a planning and construction project to issue environmental impact approvals.

and the introduction of strategies and
measures to prevent and alleviate adverse
environmental impacts as well as tracking
and monitoring processes and systems.
FEARAMBBRRTE LWEEMERETZENE EREYBAEN FXEETBERAAZABIUE=FFK
BN BREEERGURENNBREYEE ARBEVETERS BN EEHMAE
IO ARG REBHHERE ARETZEHRE-
TREBBEZENOHRNEE - ETRMEE
B 75 R B e



Laws and Regulations

ER RSB

Key scope

TEHEE
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Compliance measures

BREE

The Water Pollution
Prevention Law of the
People’s Republic of
China

hE AR AXMBKIS LR

A

Administrative Measures for
Pollutant Discharge
Licensing (for Trial
Implementation)

PR RF R B OA (A7)

This law applies to the prevention and
control of pollution of rivers, lakes,
canals, drainage, reservoirs and other
surface water bodies and groundwater
within the People’s Republic of China.
ILERBBARFEARLMBERE AL
IR BRI - B8 KEE R K
BEA K KB EY 5 £RI0E -

The prevention and control of water
pollution shall focus on prevention

while combining prevention, control and
comprehensive management. Priority

shall be given to the protection of the
sources of drinking water. Industrial

and urban pollution shall be strictly
controlled. Pollution of agricultural bases
shall be prevented and controlled. The
construction of ecological management
projects shall be encouraged. Pollution

of water bodies and damages to the
ecosystem shall be prevented, controlled
and alleviated.
KBRVIREERBEN BE AR
& AREREBEHRA - BAREKA KK
TR BRI TSR WBEEESR
MaREEIRGE BERHEEARGET
TERER - TARY - SRR KRR IS R A

This law applies to the application,
approval and enforcement of pollutant
discharge licenses as well as the
governance and punishments in relation
thereto.

HESRFRIBH RS ~ A3 - AT A R B EE
IR R AN EE MR ST BAXK
Wox o

The project companies of the Group
prevent water pollution in accordance
with the requirements of the Water
Pollution Prevention Law.

AEBETBERERRIZRKT R
RN e HBRATROBNR -

The project company of the Group in
Taiyuan has applied for a pollutant
discharge license in accordance with the
requirements of the measures.

AEETBARERQARDIRBIVER
Ko WIBHISEFAIRE
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Laws and Regulations

EBR RSB

Key scope

TEHEE

Compliance measures

BREE

The Opinion on the
Strengthening of the
Overhaul of Gutter Oil
and Management of
Cooking Wastes issued
by the General Office of
the State Council

B 75 B 3% 1% B8 I8 70 58 3
ERBAMEREEY
EENER

The Ministry of Environmental Protection
develops and releases a category-based
administration catalogue of pollutant
discharge licensing for stationary pollution
sources stipulating the scope of the
pollutant discharge licensing system and
prescribed application time limit pursuant
to the law.

BRIR R & B0 HOF Bl 2 I A6 B )5 2R
HOSRFAI DR E R A8 BHEM AT
AE IR EYEE AR EER o

Enterprises and public institutions as well
as other producers and operators
(hereinafter referred to as “pollutant
discharging entities”) that are included in
the category-based administration
catalogue of pollutant discharge licensing
for stationary pollution sources shall apply
for and obtain a pollutant discharge
license within the prescribed time limit.
Pollutant discharging entities not included
in the category-based administration
catalogue of pollutant discharge licensing
for stationary pollution sources currently
do not need to apply for a pollutant
discharge license.

MA B E S RIREES A Al 0 B 1B A 5
MEEEERBMMEMEELEE (AT
R HR B BRERRA ERR P
A IS BT AR RE AR AL E S RIR
HSRFAn MERBENEESEM B
FEEHFEISRTAIE ©

To effectively eliminate the use of gutter
oil in the food industry and strengthen
food safety and public health, 7 opinions
on further strengthening of the overhaul
of gutter oil and management of cooking
wastes have been issued with the consent
of the State Council.
RAEBBRM BRI REREE - NER
BRMEZEMARRI T EBERE L%
BrfR 2 - B — 2 nsa B m I IR T 1ER
H7EER -

The project companies of the Group
have implemented the tasks required by
the opinion in collaboration with the
competent authorities (i.e. municipal
environmental hygiene departments).

AEBTBERARKEAEEIM AN
MARBHPNEEELFERNZTE
THEe
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Compliance measures

BREE

Measures for the
Administration of
Concession for
Infrastructure and Public
Utilities

ERREMRREERS
KREEEME

Concession activities in energy,
transportation, water conservancy,
environmental protection, municipal
engineering, and other infrastructure and
public utilities fields within the territory of
the PRC shall be governed by these
Measures.
purposes of encouraging and directing
social investors' participation in the
construction and operation of
infrastructure and public utilities,
improving the quality and efficiency of
public services, protecting the lawful

Implement these Measures for

rights and interests of concessionaires,
protecting public interest and public
security.

FEARKMBIRAMNGER BESH -
KA - RFRE MR IIESERRMEM

"%%%Aﬁiﬁiﬂ’ﬂ—%ﬁ%&%é@jv i A AN i
VE o MEITAIE S B IS Bt @B AR
HEMRBEMAAETEEZREE Rl

HEBESMRE  REFHFECEEELE

f“* RELEROAFBIMAK LR -

The Measures are the basis and
references for those key terms and
conditions of the Group's service
concession arrangements.

AEEOBFEEEBZEE RN
SE B MOAEIRIE RERT
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The principal activities of the Group comprise construction works,
environmental protection. Sufficient resources have been allocated to
ensure the on-going compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. During the Year, the Board is not aware of any
incidence of non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group's business where the

Group is operating.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The business operations and results may be affected by various
factors, some of which are external causes and some are inherent to
the business. The principal risks and uncertainties are summarised
below:

1. Outbreak of pandemic disease
The spread of COVID-19 in the first quarter of 2020 led to
various draconian measures, among others, city lockdown,
shut-down of restaurants and schools resulting from the
guarantine arrangements, Such
pandemic disease adversely impacted our businesses in Hong

Kong, PRC and overseas businesses.

travel restrictions etc.

Despite our businesses gradually resumed to normal, another

vast outbreak of such similar virus, even following
governmental guidance and taking safety measures, still may
affect our business and may result from suspension of

operations.
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Social atmosphere

Part of our construction works are generated from the public
related sector. The nature, extent and timing of the projects
will be impacted by various factors such as Government
spending on infrastructure, general macroeconomic conditions
and Government policies, which are subject to changes.
Annual budget of the Government, including its estimates of
expenditure in major infrastructure projects and construction
of public facilities, is subject to the passing of the
Appropriation Bill, but may from time to time experience
undue delay caused by prolonged discussion within the
Legislative Council of Hong Kong and therefore may adversely
affect our business and payments collection.

Keen competition

Due to the slowdown in the Hong Kong economy, the
competition of construction industry has become more intense
as there will be a foreseeable reduction of number of
construction projects available for tendering. To increase the
chance of success in winning the tender bidding, the Group
may have to lower its profit margin, which may impact its
profit for the coming year.

20215 FH RAIEXKEEER)ERAA
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Cost of construction materials
The increase in cost of construction materials will lower the
profit margin of the Group. Failure to accurately estimate and
control the costs of the Group’s projects may adversely affect
the Group’s financial performance.

Regulatory environment

Our business is subject to the environmental regulations
issued by the Hong Kong Government and national policies of
mainland China. Such regulations may be revised from time to
time and any changes to such regulations may increase our
cost and burden in complying with them. The Group is also
required to maintain certain registration. In order to renew
and maintain these registrations, the Group is required to
comply with certain criteria set by the relevant governmental
departments and authorities. Any suspension of or a failure to
maintain or renew the Group’s registrations could adversely
affect the Group’s business.

Policy change

China’s “Environmental Protection Law” has come into force
in January 2015. The Law significantly increases companies’
costs of pollution by imposing penalties ranging from fines to
restriction or even suspension of production (articles 59 to
62). Personnel from environmental protection administrative
departments of the government shall also be faced with
demotion, dismiss or forced resignation from their current
position for failure to enforce pollution-related regulations
(article 68). Article 69 stipulates that violation of the Law may
constitute a criminal offence. Legal convictions for pollution-
related criminal acts are becoming increasingly commonly seen
in the media.
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Spurred by China’s “supply-side reform” and the severity of
air and water pollution, the central government has been
sending inspection teams to polluted provinces and holding
local officials accountable for failure to prevent and control
pollution. Thousands of small enterprises have been closed for
the lack of environmental protection facilities.

Echoing the effectuation of “Environmental Protection Law”,
many Chinese municipal governments have publicised
regulations and guidelines on kitchen waste treatment and
specified criteria on the collection, transportation and
treatment etc. of kitchen waste.

Under the backdrop of tightening environmental protection
policies, we see a rising demand for third-party operators, or
companies that provide professional services to factories who
are now urged by the government to “move out of the city
and into industrial parks”. This trend creates demand for
equipment and services from third-party operators.

However, we cannot guarantee that the favourable policies
will continue into the future and that we will benefit from the
policies as much as we did in the past. With its rich
experience in the environmental industry, the management
team is able to sense and capture the adverse changes in
laws, regulations and government policies and will adjust the
corporate strategy accordingly.

Technological obsolescence

Our competitive advantage in the environmental industry relies
on our technological capabilities to ensure safety, maintain
efficiency of production and keep operating costs at a
relatively low level. However, as the laws, regulations,
government policies and industry standards may impose more
stringent requirements on our existing or future projects, we
may fail to improve our technology to adapt to such changes.
Moreover, the production techniques of our competitors may
improve at a faster pace so that their costs may be reduced
to a lower level significantly or their productivity may become
significantly higher than ours.
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Relationship with key parties

The success of the Group also depends on the support from key
parties which comprise customers, suppliers, employees and
shareholders.

Customers

The Group's principal customers comprise the government, NGOs
and private developers. The Group has well established operational
and industry experience in foundation, civil engineering and general
building work, which enables the Group to complete all our projects
on schedule. Recognition from our sound track records, the Group
has secured various sizeable new projects from public and private
sectors. Our reputation and high standard of quality work enable
the Group and the customers to achieve their profitability and
sustainable growth.

Suppliers

Good relationship with suppliers constitutes one of the essential
elements of the Group’s success. To achieve positive business
growth, the Group maintains close relationship with its suppliers in
order to create a win-win situation so that suppliers and the Group
can have a vertical cooperation for reaching both of the business

goals.

Employees

The Group focuses on the talents of our employees as our most
valuable asset and provides a harmonious and professional working
environment with a variety of training programmes to our
employees for career advancement. The key objective of our human
resource management is to recognise and reward performing staff
by providing competitive remuneration packages and implementing
system with appropriate
incentives, namely equal promotion opportunity.

an effective performance appraisal

Shareholders

The principal goal of the Group is to maximise the return to the
shareholders of the Company. The Group will focus on our core
business and explore attractive
achieving sustainable profit growth and rewarding the shareholders
with stable dividend payouts taking into account the business
development needs and financial health of the Group.

investment opportunities for
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Major Customers and Suppliers

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 67.24% (31 March 2020: 37.97%) of the total sales
for the Year and sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to approximately 19.19% (31 March 2020: 10.01%).
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
March 2020: 40.37%) of the total
purchases for the Year and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 38.46% (31 March
2020: 27.29%).

approximately 59.12% (31

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Directors, their
close associates, nor any shareholders, who owned more than 5%
of the Company’s issued voting shares, had any interests in any of
the Group's five largest customers or suppliers during the Year.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 99 and
accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Board does not recommend a payment of a final dividend to
the shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: nil).

Charitable Donations
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the Year
amounted to HK$100,000 (2020: HK$500,000).

Share Capital
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 33 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements.

Equity-linked Agreements

Save as disclosed above and in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the
Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
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Reserves
Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the Year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2021, the Company does not have reserves
available for distribution, subject to the compliance with the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands and Company'’s articles of association
(the "Articles of Association”) (31 March 2020: HK$67.2 million).

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No Director or any entity connected with a Director was materially
interested, either
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the Year or the end of the Year.

directly or indirectly, in any transaction,

Contract of Significance

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.
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Directors and Directors’ Service Contracts
The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhu Yongjun (Chairman of the Board)
Ms. Qin Shulan (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 17 August 2020)
Mr. Cai Jianwen (resigned on 30 September 2020)
Mr. Pan Yimin (appointed on 24 March 2021)
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas

Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Ge Xiaolin (appointed on 2 July 2020)
Dr. Zhang Lihui

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian
Dr. Tong Ka Lok
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Director has
entered into a service contract with the Company or a subsidiary of
the Company for an initial term of three years. Each of the
independent non-executive Directors has also entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of two years. The
aforesaid service contracts may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. All
Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation. In accordance with Article
112 of the Articles of Association, any director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy during the Year shall hold office until
the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment and
be subject to re-election at such meeting.
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Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas, Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian and Mr. Choy
Wai Shek, Raymond, mH, s, shall retire from office by rotation at the
AGM to be held on 16 August 2021 in accordance with Article
108(a) of the Articles of Association. In accordance with Article 112
of the Articles of Association, Mr. Pan Yimin, who was appointed by
the Board on 24 March 2021, shall retire from office at the AGM.
All of the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the
AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Confirmation of Independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules which have been received by the Company. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors
meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of
the guidelines during the Year.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Group as at the date of this report are disclosed in the section
headed “Biographical
Management on pages 37 to 41 of this annual report. Save as

Details of the Directors and Senior

disclosed in the aforesaid section, the Directors (a) have not held
other directorships in public companies, the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas, in the last
3 years; (b) do not hold any other positions in the Group; and (c)
do not have any other relationships with any Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company.
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Update on Directors’ Information
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of
directors’ information of the Company are as follows:

The annual director’s emoluments for Mr. Cai Jianwen was adjusted
April 2020 up to 30 September 2020
(resignation date of Mr. Cai, as a Director) from including (1) the
existing annual director’s fee of HK$700,000 (monthly salary of
HK$58,333); (2) residential housing allowance of not exceeding
HK$28,000 per month; (3) child tuition allowance of not exceeding
HK$10,000 per month; and (4) the insurance allowance of not
exceeding HK$100,000 per annum where the allowances will be on

with effect from 1

an incurred basis, to a monthly director's emoluments of
HK$100,000 (inclusive of allowances of all kind).

Save for the information disclosed above, there is no other
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of

the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Emoluments and Five Highest Paid
Individuals
The Directors’ emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to the duties, responsibilities and performance of the
Directors and the results of the Group.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 10 and 11 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements.

Emolument Policy

A remuneration committee was set up by the Board to develop the
Group’s emolument policy and structure for remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group, having regard to
the Group’s operating performance of the
directors and senior management and comparable market practices.

results, individual
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” and in this annual report relating to the
share option scheme adopted by the Company, at no time during
the Year was the Company, its parent company, any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of an acquisition
of shares in, or underlying shares in,
Company or any other body corporate.

or debentures of, the

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to Article 191 of the Articles of Association, the Directors,
Managing Directors, alternate Directors, auditors, secretary and other
officers for the time being of the Company acting in relation to any
of the affairs of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty or supposed duty in their respective offices. Such provision was
in force during the Year and remained in force as of the date of
this report. In addition, the Company has also maintained Directors
and officers liability insurance during the Year.

Competition and Conflict of Interests

Saved and except of interests in the Group, none of the Directors or
substantial shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group or has any other conflict of
interests with the Group during the Year.

Five Years Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last 5 financial years is set out on page 268. Such
summary does not form part of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the sole shareholder
of the Company on 26 August 2014, the Company has conditionally
adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”).

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the
best available personnel,
employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisors,
distributors, contractors, agents,
partners or service providers of the Group and to promote the

to provide additional incentive to

suppliers, customers, business

success of the business of the Group.

Participants under the Share Option Scheme and basis of
eligibility

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it
may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time), director,
consultant or advisor of the Group, or any substantial shareholder
of the Group, or any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent,
customer, business partner or service provider of the Group, options
to subscribe at a price calculated in accordance with paragraphs (i)
to (iii) below for such number of Shares as it may determine in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any option
shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may be, the
independent non-executive Directors) from time to time on the basis
of his contribution or potential contribution to the development and
growth of the Group.

Principal terms of the Share Option Scheme
The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised as
follows:

The Share Option Scheme was adopted for a period of 10 years
commencing from 26 August 2014 and will remain in force until
25 August 2024 unless terminated earlier by the shareholders of the
Company in general meeting. The Company may by resolution in
general meeting or the Board may at any time terminate the
operation of the Share Option Scheme and in such event no further
options will be offered but options granted prior to such
termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance
with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.
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The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be
at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option,
which must be a business day;

(i) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option;
and

(iii)  the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the option.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to our Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.

The 10% limit as mentioned above was refreshed at the annual
general meeting of the Company dated 25 September 2017 and the
annual general meeting of the Company dated 28 March 2019. As
at the date of this report, the total number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company is 572,900,134 Shares. On 5 March 2019, the Company
granted share options to certain Directors, employees and
consultant to subscribe for a total of 51,100,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company under the Share
Option Scheme. The exercise price of each option is HK$1.65 per
share with validity period of 2 years from the respective vesting
dates. 30,120,000 options were vested immediately on the 5 March
2019 and remaining 20,980,000 options were also vested 1 year
after such date of grant.

IR B I 5T 81 2 IR W A0 (E {7 45 € I8 i
P EHMBRNAEE BATEHEETSE
EIBNBEENER  UREL RTINS
BRHREE

(i) BXASARERABRODNELE
BEER(EREXRR)MKHE:

(iy BXAEBARERMBEBONREER
HBEREE R AEEE RN FIHYK
mE: Rk

(i) REBREZENROHEE-

REBRENENARAROABEZNA
H(BHEZB) BT RAER - BREAR
ABRERAROBREZOELSHER
BRAARNRBXNUET -

AT M910% EBR B R AR B #E201749
A25HEBTHBREBAFAERRARAE
20196 3A2HE R ITHRRBAFARE LE
o MARESHE  BERERESESRAR
A ] H b BB IR AT B D /Y 2 E0 B R
BOEMmMAT FTETHNRDRHE A
572,900,1348% » 7201943858 * &x A &
RIBFEREFEAETESZS  BEERFZHA
REBERE URBEARAARAPE H
51,100,0000% & f% 1 {0.107%8 0 Ay @AY -
BOHERENTEEAERIESET BX
B | & I 55 & A HA R & BA24F 230,120,00017
B E D R2019F3ACBE IR B E&
20,980,000 & g #E 7R E AR H B #1814

BB e



The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such
limit must be separately approved by Shareholders in general
meeting with such grantee and his associates abstaining from
voting.

Any grant of an option to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of our Company (or any of their respective associates)
must be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director) who is the
grantee of the option).

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director (or any of their respective
associates) will result in the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be
granted to such person under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Company (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue;
and

(i)~ having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million,

such further grant of options is required to be approved by
shareholders at a general meeting of the Company, with voting to
be taken by way of poll.
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Details of movement of the share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme during the Year are set out as follows:

Number of options

ERENE
Exercise  Outstanding Outstanding
Participants Date of grant  Vesting period Exercisable period price  at 1.4.2020  Granted Exercised Lapsed at 31.3.2021
120205 120214
4A18 3A318
ZHE REBH HEY T8 T il K AT 2R 21T X% it K AT
Directors
gz
Mr. Zhu Yongjun 5.3.2019 Vested upon date of  5.3.2019-4.3.2021 1.65 500,000 — — (500,000 —
REBEE grant
ERREBHER
Ms. Qin Shulan® 5.3.2019 Vested upon date of  5.3.2019-4.3.2021 1.65 2,200,000 — — (2,200,000 —
£33 gl grant
EREEBHER
5.3.2019 5.3.2019-4.3.2020 5.3.2020-4.3.2022 1.65 1,540,000 — — (1,540,000) —
Mr. Cai Jianwen®? 5.3.2019 Vested upon date of  5.3.2019-4.3.2021 1.65 2,200,000 — — (2,200,000) —
BEYEE grant
ERRERHGR
5.3.2019 5.3.2019-4.3.2020 5.3.2020-4.3.2022 1.65 1,540,000 = — (1,540,000) —
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas 5.3.2019 Vested upon date of  5.3.2019-4.3.2021 1.65 2,200,000 — — (2,200,000) —
THEEE grant
ERREEHER
5.3.2019 5.3.2019-4.3.2020 5.3.2020-4.3.2022 1.65 1,540,000 — — — 1,540,000
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu 5.3.2019 Vested upon date of  5.3.2019-4.3.2021 1.65 500,000 = — (500,000 =
BEREELE grant
ERRERHGR
Dr. Tong Ka Lok 5.3.2019 Vested upon date of  5.3.2019-4.3.2021 1.65 500,000 — —  (500,000) —
EELfEL grant
ERRERHGR
Mr. Choy Wai Shek Raymond  5.3.2019 Vested upon date of  5.3.2019-4.3.2021 1.65 500,000 — —  (500,000) —
MH, JP grant
ERRRE XEFE ERRERHGR
AFHL
Employees 5.3.2019 Vested upon date of  5.3.2019-4.3.2021 1.65 20,020,000 — — (20,020,000) —
&E grant
ERREBHER
5.3.2019 5.3.2019-4.3.2020 5.3.2020-4.3.2022 1.65 15,148,000 — — (5,388,000) 9,760,000
48,388,000 — — (37,088,000) 11,300,000
Notes: B &
e Resigned on 17 August 2020. 1. #20205F8 A17H BHE -
7l Resigned on 30 September 2020. 23 R20204F9 A30H BF (T ©
37 The Company has not granted any share options other than the Directors 3. BRERFIMIZEFRREBAHNTENESR
and the employees under continuous contracts as shown in the above S+ AR B I AR AE ] B AR o

table.



Apart from the aforesaid Share Option Scheme, at no time during
the Year and up to the date of this report the Company or any
associated corporation was a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate, and none of the Directors, or their spouses or children
under the age 18, had any right to subscribe for the shares in, or
debentures of, the Company, or had exercised any such rights.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests or Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meanings of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO")) which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which any such director or
chief executive is taken or deemed to have under such provision of
the SFO) or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register of members of the Company, or
which were required, pursuant to standard of dealings by Directors
as referred to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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EEens
(i) Interests in the Company (i) RELGHIEZR
Interests in ordinary shares 9% of the
REBRGES Total interests Total interests Company's
Personal Family Corporate in ordinary in underlying Aggregate issued voting
Name of directors interests interests interests shares shares interests shares
EEAF
ERfTR
REERY RERRGD RRERR
EBEE BA#ES RS AT L L RaEE LR WES
Mr. Zhu Yongjun KBERE 4,900,000 260,000 78,656,000 83,816,000 =3 83,816,000 12.08%
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas FHEEE — — - — 1,540,000 1,540,000 0.22%
Dr. Zhang Lihui RUBHLT 96,000 = = 96,000 = 96,000 0.01%
Dr. Tong Ka Lok ER%Et 480,000 = = 480,000 = 480,000 0.06%
Mr. Choy Wai Shek Raymond m#, sp BERAKE 700,000 = — 700,000 — 700,000 0.10%
SREE A THL
Note: B 5
15 The 77,000,000 shares are beneficially held by Jumbo Grand 1. #%77,000,0008% f% {3 HaJumbo Grand
Enterprise Development Limited (“Jumbo Grand”) and 1,656,000 Enterprise Development Limited
shares are beneficially by Excellent Point Asia Limited (“Excellent ([Jumbo Grand ) B # #% A+ M %
Point”). Mr. Zhu Yongjun owns 100% of the issued voting shares 1,656,000/% i {7 Bl Excellent Point
of Jumbo Grand and Excellent Point. Mr. Zhu Yongjun is deemed or Asia Limited ([ Excellent Point |) B &%
taken to be interested in all the shares which are beneficially Ho KB E S EHABJumbo Grand &
owned by Jumbo Grand for the purpose of the SFO. Mr. Zhu Excellent Point#)100% & 817 A 1% i
Yongjun is the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director of Rp - MESRBAERATE  KBE
the Company and is the brother-in-law of Mr. Allan Warburg, an P AR R E ER Jumbo Grand B
ultimate beneficial owner of Simple Gain International Limited, a HmHENERNTPHEEERZ KB
shareholder of the Company. BEAERARAEFEIRRANTE

FUAREFEEERRARRE
Simple Gain International Limited#) &

REZHEAN)NAT -



Interests in the associated corporation
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(i) REGEEREZ

% of the issued

voting shares of

Name of directors/ Name of associated No. of associate
chief executive corporation Capacity/Nature shares held corporation
1518 B = E
ES ERITHAE BE CBITERR#E
& B EE 2B 54 HE % 3 8 B B 53898 5 b
Zhu Yongjun Jumbo Grand Interest in controlled 10,000 100%
corporation
KBEE Jumbo Grand 1A E R
Zhu Yongjun Excellent Point Interest in controlled 50,000 100%
corporation
KBE Excellent Point 2 A B R
Chu Shu Cheong Prosper Power Interest In controlled 75 75%
corporation
KBS 8 B X R E R
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021 none of the M EXXFrEEE I R2021FE3A31

Directors and chief executives of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant
to the Listing Rules relating to the required standard of
dealings by the directors to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

B ARRIEERESTTRABHE
RARARREBHEZE(ERRES
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AN %A FT 5 2 50 I 0 O () EL At i 25
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Aley ERRIZEME ARNR R KB XA
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65



> 66

NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EFEWS

Substantial Shareholder’s Interests and/or Short Position in
Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2021, the
following person (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or who is directly or
indirectly interested in 5% or more of any class of issued shares
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any member of the Group:

Long positions in the shares of the Company

EZERRERE A TR K 45 5 B 5 e
BREKE

BE SR B20219F3A318  FTHIA L
(WHEARREERGERITBRAB)RAR
ARMIBEROPEEREESFRBE
&I EXVEB B2 K30 B IE X AR A A &
WENEZRAR  REABREESRBE
&I 5533616 A A R A7 B M) 2 R A 4
AR REEIMEESWEERNTR
ARBERATEASEBTIRNKERRIMHRKRE
A LR ENEMEREEHITRDS% A
R

RELGRBITFE
Approximate

percentage of
Number of shareholdings in

Name of shareholders Capacity shares held the Company
EEATIREY

BERAE 5% FaEERnEE BLa skt

Jumbo Grand (Note 1) Beneficial owner 77,000,000 11.10%

Jumbo Grand (Fff3%1) EnEAA

Prosper Power Group Ltd (“Prosper Power”) Beneficial owner 76,500,000 11.02%

(Note 2)

EBEBRGRAT([ER](HiE2) Em#EA A

Mr. Chu Shu Cheong (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 76,500,000 11.02%
corporation

KB s (M sE2) 5 A E R

Simple Gain International Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 40,000,000 5.76%

Simple Gain International Limited (Fff 5%3) BEREEA

Allan Warburg Holdings Limited (Note 3) Interest in a controlled 40,000,000 5.76%
corporation

Allan Warburg Holdings Limited (P 5£3) AR A E R =

Mr. Warburg Allan (Note 3) Interest in a controlled 40,000,000 5.76%

F oM 1 5 A (HEE3)

corporation

542 D 1 2
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholdings in

Name of shareholders Capacity shares held the Company
EARATRER

EEE g% HERGSE EESER R4

Kingston Finance Limited (Notes 2 and 4) Person having a security 76,500,000 11.02%
interest in shares

ML BAERA A (M E2R4) BEROEBERERNAL

Ample Cheer Limited (Notes 2 and 4) Interest in a controlled 76,500,000 11.02%
corporation

Ample Cheer Limited (Fff 52 %4) 1A E R

Best Forth Limited (Notes 2 and 4) Interest in a controlled 76,500,000 11.02%
corporation

Best Forth Limited (P} 5£2%4) R 5 B R

Chu Yuet Wah (Notes 2 and 4) Interest in a controlled 76,500,000 11.02%
corporation

F HE (MHak2Rka) X A E R

CEF Concept Holdings Limited (Note 5) Beneficial owner 55,400,000 7.98%

CEF Concept Holdings Limited (Fff 5£5) EmEEA

CEF IV Holdings Limited (Note 5) Interest in a controlled 55,400,000 7.98%
corporation

CEF IV Holdings Limited (Fff 5%5) R A B

China Environment Fund IV, L.P. (Note 5) Interest in a controlled 55,400,000 7.98%
corporation

China Environment Fund IV, L.P. (Fff&£5) AT A E R

CEF IV Management, L.P. (Note 5) Interest in a controlled 55,400,000 7.98%
corporation

CEF IV Management, L.P. (Fff 5£5) S B

CEF IV Management, Ltd. (Note 5) Interest in a controlled 55,400,000 7.98%
corporation

CEF IV Management, Ltd. (Ff5£5) VR B A E =

Zhang Yi (Note 5) Interest in a controlled 55,400,000 7.98%
corporation

5% 8 (Fff #£5) X2 A E R

|
/
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Notes:

¥, Jumbo Grand is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhu Yongjun who is the Chairman of
the Board and an executive Director of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Zhu
Yongjun is deemed to be interested in the 77,000,000 shares held by
Jumbo Grand for the purpose of the SFO.

25 The 76,500,000 shares are beneficially owned by Prosper Power Group Ltd
("Prosper Power”) which is owned as to 75% by Mr. Chu Shu Cheong.
Mr. Chu Shu Cheong is deemed or taken to be interested in all the shares
which are beneficially owned by Prosper Power. Mr. Chu Shu Cheong is
also a director of Prosper Power.

2k Simple Gain International Limited is wholly-owned by Allan Warburg Holdings
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Warburg Allan. Accordingly,
Allan Warburg Holdings Limited and Mr. Warburg Allan are deemed to be
interested in the 40,000,000 shares held by Simple Gain International
Limited for the purpose of the SFO. Mr. Warburg Allan is the brother-in-
law of Mr. Zhu Yongjun, the Chairman of the Board and an executive
Director of the Company.

4. The 76,500,000 shares are beneficially owned by Prosper Power and had
been pledged to Kingston Finance Limited as pledgee to secure a loan
granted to Prosper Power. Kingston Finance Limited is wholly-owned by
Ample Cheer Limited, which is in turn owned as to 80% by Best Forth
Limited, which is wholly-owned by Ms. Chu Yuet Wah. Accordingly, Ample
Cheer Limited, Best Forth Limited and Ms. Chu Yuet Wah are deemed to
be interested in all shares held by Kingston Finance Limited.

o CEF Concept Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by CEF IV Holdings Limited,
which is in turn owned as to 92.55% by China Environment Fund IV, L.P.,
an investment fund incorporated in the Cayman Islands. CEF IV
Management, L.P. is the general partner of China Environment Fund IV,
L.P., and CEF IV Management, Ltd. is the general partner of CEF IV
Management, L.P. Therefore, by virtue of Part XV of the SFO, CEF IV
Holdings Limited, China Environment Fund IV, L.P., CEF IV Management,
L.P. and CEF IV Management, Ltd. are all deemed to be interested in the
55,400,000 shares of the Company held by CEF Concept Holdings Limited,
CEF IV Management, Ltd. is wholly-owned by Ms. Zhang Yi. Accordingly,
Zhang Yi is also deemed to be interested in the 55,400,000 shares of the
Company held by CEF Concept Holdings Limited for the purpose of the
SFO.

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” and “Substantial Shareholder’s Interests and/or
Short Position in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company”
above, as at 31 March 2021, no other person was individually and/
or collectively entitled to exercise or control the exercise of 5% or
more of the voting power at general meeting of the Company and
was able, as a practical matter, to direct or influence the
management of the Company.

B -

Jumbo GrandBABELAAE (AR ARESE
ITERNTER)Z2EEE AL BHFR
HEEAMmE  KBEXEHE ABBIumbo
Grand#$ /5 #977,000,0000% A% 10 o A fE 25 o

#%76,500,0008 i R B VB AR A F ([ &
BDESHEE MERBRHELEEHETTS%
BE KAHEXLERRAXBERERER
BENMARNDTRAEZ - REEXRED
REBNES-

Simple Gain International LimitedfAllan
Warburg Holdings LimitedZ2 & # & - fAllan
Warburg Holdings Limited 8l ff T m & 5c 4 &
BB - At EFRBEEAITE - Allan
Warburg Holdings Limited & T i 12 5 4 ¥ 48
/A A Simple Gain International Limited# % 9
40,000,0008% A {7 R A #E s » EOMIBEER
ARAEFEIRRIATESTRABEREN
RK o

276,500,000k RN ERERE=ES  WEH
MYIeMNENBERARUEREMA) - A
DEERERN— S8R -2FYMBER
A 7 fHAmple Cheer Limited2 B A ' M
Ample Cheer Limited 8|8 Z=AELZ -2 5 A
#)Best Forth Limited# H80%# = o & I -
Ample Cheer Limited  Best Forth Limited &2 2
REZTHRRRRENERBKAER QAR
BHMBERDPEAER -

CEF Concept Holdings Limited 5 CEF IV Holdings
LimitedZ= & #4 * fCEF IV Holdings Limited
China Environment Fund IV, LP.(RFA S8 S
AEMARZHRERES) HEHI2.55% % & - CEF
IV Management, L.P./AChina Environment Fund
IV, LP.BE@EA % A - MCEF IV Management,
Ltd. A A CEF IV Management, LP.HE@E %
A Eit BB HRBEGAIEXNVBT S -
CEF IV Holdings Limited * China Environment
Fund IV, L.P. » CEF IV Management, L.P. 5 CEF
IV Management, Ltd.¥3 % /3 % CEF Concept
Holdings Limited#§ % #55,400,0000% 2 2 7] i%
HHEARES - RE L T2 EHACEF IV
Management, Ltd. ° Bt - 5t & %5 & B & G5l
s ' SREB IR AR CEF Concept Holdings
Limited 5 7/ #955,400,00008 A A Al R B

HE3S -

BKEXBEERERITHRABREG, - 18
BHOREHFNEZKABIRIEZERER
AARBG RABBKRMDOERS R AR ]
D AT 4 BB & A 0 2021438318 @ &
Hib A @RI K5k LR A AT Sz 4
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of the report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules during the Year.

Closure of the Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 11
August 2021 to 16 August 2021 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfers of shares will be registered. To determine the
entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM of the Company, all
transfer document, accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on 10 August 2021.

Events After the Reporting Period

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” above, there is no other significant event
after the Reporting Period of the Group.

Auditor

BDO Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-appoint
BDO Limited, the retiring auditor, as auditor of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

By order of the Board
New Concepts Holdings Limited

Zhu Yongjun
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Board believes that good corporate governance is one of the
areas leading to the success of the Company and balancing the
interests of shareholders, customers and employees, and the Board
is devoted to ongoing enhancement of the efficiency and
effectiveness of such principles and practices.

The Company has adopted the compliance manual which sets out
the minimum standard of good practices concerning the general
management responsibilities of the Board with which the Company
and the Directors shall comply and which contains, among other
things, the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of corporate governance.

The Board considers that the Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code during the Year.

The Board of Directors

Composition and Responsibilities

As at 31 March 2021, the Board comprises 8 directors (“Directors”),
comprising 3 executive Directors, 2 non-executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the
Board throughout the Year is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhu Yongjun (Chairman of the Board)
Ms. Qin Shulan (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 17 August 2020)
Mr. Cai Jianwen (resigned on 30 September 2020)
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas
Mr. Pan Yimin (appointed on 24 March 2021)

Non-executive Directors.

Dr. Ge Xiaolin (appointed on 2 July 2020)
Dr. Zhang Lihui

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian

Dr. Tong Ka Lok
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP
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The biographical details and responsibilities of the Directors as well
as the senior management are set out in the section “Biographical
Details of the Directors and Senior Management” on pages 37 to
41.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” to this annual report, the
Directors have no other financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other.

The Board is accountable to shareholders for the Company’s
performance and activities. While the Board is primarily overseeing
and managing the Company’s affairs, the Chairman of the Board
provides leadership to the Board in carrying out its duties. The
executive Directors constituting Chief Executive Officer and the
management of the Company are delegated with
responsibilities in the day-to-day management of the Company and
make operational and business decisions within the control of and

senior

delegation framework of the Company. The independent non-
executive Directors contribute valuable views and proposals for the
Board's deliberation and decisions.

The Company has throughout the Year met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least 3 independent
non-executive Directors with at least one of them possessing
appropriate professional
financial management expertise.

qualifications, accounting or related

At all times during the Year, the independent non-executive
Directors represent at least one-third of the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has submitted a
written statement to the Stock Exchange confirming their
independence and has undertaken to inform the Stock Exchange as
soon as practicable if there is any subsequent change of
circumstances which may affect their independence prior to their
respective appointment. The Company has also received a written
confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors
in respect of their independence for the Year. The Board considers
that all independent non-executive Directors are being considered to
be independent with reference to the factors stated in the Listing
Rules during the Year.
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From the beginning of the Year up to 17 August 2020 (the date
when Ms. Qin Shulan resigned as an executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company), the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company are separated, with
a clear division of responsibilities. After the resignation of Ms. Qin
Shulan, the position of the Chief Executive Officer remains vacant.
Mr. Zhu Yongjun is the Chairman of the Board and his primary role
is to provide leadership for the Board and to ensure that it works
effectively in discharging its responsibilities.

Prior to her resignation, Ms. Qin Shulan was the Chief Executive
Officer and her primary role was responsible for the strategic
planning and overseeing business operations of the Group, including
environmental protection business.

Other matters reserved for the Board include consideration of
dividend policy, approval of major investments, maintenance of an
adequate system of internal controls and review of the corporate
governance practices of the Group. Daily operations and
administration are delegated to management teams.

Procedure for Seeking Independent Professional Advice by
Directors

The Company has agreed to provide separate independent
professional advice and sufficient resources to Directors and all
Board Committees to assist them to discharge their duties. The
Company will consider to develop a written procedure to enable
Directors, and members of all Board Committees upon reasonable
request, to seek and be provided with independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

The Company has subscribed an insurance policy with an aim to
indemnify its Directors from any losses, damages, liabilities and
expenses arising from, including but not limited to, any proceedings
brought against them during the performance of their duties
pursuant to their respective services agreements entered into with
the Company.

Board Meetings

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals, to discuss the overall strategy as
well as the operational and financial performance of the Company.
Other Board meetings have been held during the Year for approving
the acquisitions of business, grant of share options, subscription and
issue of shares and change of Directors of the Company, etc. Such
Board meetings involve the active participation, either in person or
through other electronic means of communication, of a majority of
Directors. The Directors make every effort to contribute to the
formulation of policy, decision-making and the development of the
Group's business.
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During the Year, a total of 14 Board meetings were held. Various RAFE B2 LRITALKI4NEGH -

meetings of the remuneration committee, nomination committee RRINMERITLAFTHMEE S  ELEZES
and audit committee have also been held. The Chairman has had a ME#ZES € - TFCOEBIIENTE
meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the FERITUWENTESRIERTESTERED

presence of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors. e
Directors’ Attendance at the Board/Board Committee/General BEEREFECHE EELEEEE
Meetings BREXE Lt EE

Below are details of all Directors’ attendance at the Board and RAFERTHEFe SR BEFTEee
Board committee meetings, and general meetings held during the FHEMBERASHEBESHERMT
Year:

_|

Number of Meetings Attended/Held
HE/ BTERRY

Audit  Nomination Remuneration Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Director Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EXE ENZEE REEZEE HWNEEE RREE
B ik ik ik ik KE
Executive Directors: HITEE -
Mr. Zhu Yongjun ABELE 14/14 N/A 7 i@ A 3/3 N/A i@ 01
Ms. Qin Shulan (Note 1) R L (1) 414 NATER NATER  NATER 0N
Mr. Cai Jianwen (Note 2) B A (M aE2) 814  NATER  NATER 13 0n
Mr. Pan Yimin (Note 3) BHR K E(ME3) 1114 NATRER  NATEB  NATER 0N
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas (Note 4) Z 88 5% E (M) 1414 NATER NATER 23 1n
Non-executive Directors: FHITEE -
Dr. Ge Xiaolin (Note 5) BB gE T (M as) 1014 NATERE NATER NATEA 0N
Dr. Zhang Lihui RUERT 1414 NATEA  NATEA  NATEFA 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors: BV HHTEE :
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian BEBLE 14/14 6/6 3/3 3/3 1”1
Dr. Tong Ka Lok ER4HL 13/14 6/6 33 33 0/1
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, mH, /p  BER%E X85 14/14 6/6 3/3 3/3 171
A4t
Notes: B2 -
5 Resigned on 17 August 2020. 1. 202058 17 H B fE ©
4 Resigned on 30 September 2020. 2 202059 A30H BHE ©
3. Appointed on 24 March 2021. 3. 2021563248 EE T -
4. Appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee on 30 September 4. M20205F9A30R B LZE RFMEEGKE -

CAFARE

5. Appointed on 2 July 2020. 5. R2020F7 A2 E R T -
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Appropriate notices are given to all Directors in advance for
attending regular and other board or board committee meetings.
Meeting agendas and other relevant information are provided to the
Directors in advance of board or board committee meetings. All
Directors are consulted to include additional matters in the agenda
for such meetings.

Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary with a view to ensuring that board procedures, and all
applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

Both draft and final versions of the minutes will be sent to all
Directors for their comment and records. Minutes of board and
board committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and
such minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable prior notice by any Director.

All directors are also entitled to have access to board papers and
related materials. These papers and related materials are in a form
and quality sufficient to enable the board to make informed
decisions on matters placed before it. Queries raised by directors
shall receive a prompt and full response by the management.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal
The aforesaid service contracts may be terminated by not less than
3 month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, at
each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
Such
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

meeting of the Company, at least once every three years.
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The Board shall have power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as
an additional Director but so that the number of Directors so
appointed shall not exceed the maximum number determined from
time to time by the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible
for re-election.

Confirmation of Independence

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance
with the terms of the guidelines during the Year.

Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by Directors
The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of

Securities

conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors.
Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, and all
Directors confirmed in writing that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code regarding their
securities transactions for the Year.

Induction and Continuous Professional Trainings of
Directors

Each of the appointed Directors,
comprehensive and tailored induction and continuous professional

has received formal,
training to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and full awareness of director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the requirements of the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory obligations.

The Directors have also been informed of the requirement under
Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code
professional development.

regarding continuous
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During the Year, there was one in-house training conducted RAFEE @ ARAAEEIT KA A
covering the topics of connected transactions, directors’ duties and ZHEMERS BEZMELEE 2T
responsibilities, corporate governance practices, independence of JAER  BYUIFRTEEHNBBULEUN b
independent non-executive directors, disclosure requirements under R BIRFEH M HEEMOFRERTE -

the Listing Rules and SFO.

All Directors have attended the continuous professional development RAFE @ 2REEDHFFEZERRE
training and below are details of all Directors’ attendance on @ TX#Hy 2EEENL FEFE -
training during the Year.

Attendance/Numbers of
in-house seminars

HE 1T P EB R R B

Executive Directors: HITESF -
Mr. Zhu Yongjun KBELA 1
Ms. Qin Shulan (note 1) =R 2 £ (BaE1) ===
Mr. Cai Jianwen (note 2) R A (M 5E2) =
Mr. Pan Yimin (note 3) EBE A (BFRE3) e
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas FHETE 1
Non-executive Directors: HHTESE -
Dr. Zhang Lihui SR B 1
Dr. Ge Xiaolin BESE L 1
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUFHTEE -
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian EERBEE 1
Dr. Tong Ka Lok ERgEL 1
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP BERLE LEBE (A FH+ 1

Notes: B -

1 Resigned on 17 August 2020. 1. R2020F8 A17H BT ©

2 Resigned on 30 September 2020. 2. R202049 A30H EFfE ©

3 Appointed on 24 March 2021. 3. MR2021F3[24B E R T -

Board Committees EEZEE

Audit Committee EZZESE

The audit committee of the Company was established in compliance AR FMEXREZE S JHER FmRAI53.21

with Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with its written &322/ - W EHE WM ESE - &3

terms of reference. The latest terms of reference of the audit HWEZZECZEBESEIRARAR
i 2x

committee are available on the websites of the Company and the EfXXFT#8uta&E RS -
Stock Exchange.



The responsibility of the audit committee is to assist the Board in
fulfilling its audit duties through the review and supervision of the
Company’s financial reporting, risk management and internal control
principles and procedures, and to provide advice and comments to
the Board. The members meet regularly with the external auditor
and/or the Company’s senior management for the review,
supervision and discussion of the Company’s financial reporting, risk
management and internal control procedures and ensure that the
management has discharged its duties to have an effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The composition of the audit committee throughout the Year is as
follows:

Dr. Tong Ka Lok (Chairman)
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP

None of the members of the audit committee is a former partner of
the Company’s existing auditing firm. Dr. Tong Ka Lok, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting
matters, was appointed as the chairman of the audit committee.

During the Year, the audit committee held 6 meetings. Details of
the attendance of the members of the audit committee in the said
meeting are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance
at Board/Board Committee/General Meetings” above.

The summary of work of the audit committee during the Year is as
follows:

o met with the external auditors, reviewed and made
recommendations for the Board’s approval on the annual and
interim reports of the Company;

o reviewed and approved audit fee;

o recommended the re-appointment of BDO Limited as auditor,
and approval the remuneration and terms of engagement;
and

J reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems including the internal audit
function.

The audit committee also discussed with the management and
auditor on the progress and effect resulting from the prior years’
qualified opinion, and rationale of current year’s modified opinion,
details of which are set out on pages 35 and 36 to this report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Board established the remuneration committee on 26 August
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
relevant CG Code. The latest written terms of reference of the
remuneration committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
The remuneration committee is responsible for, inter alia,
formulating and making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s emolument policy and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing such policy. The Board
expects the independent

judgment and ensures that executive Directors do not participate in

remuneration committee to exercise

the determination of their own remuneration.

The composition of the remuneration committee throughout the
Year is as follows:

Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, mH, sp (Chairman)

Dr. Tong Ka Lok

Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian

Mr. Cai Jianwen (resigned on 30 September 2020)

Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas (appointed on 30 September 2020)

During the Year, the remuneration committee held 3 meetings.
Details of the attendance of the members of the remuneration
committee in the said meeting are set out under the sub-heading
“Directors’ Attendance at Board/Board Committee/General

Meetings” above.

The summary of work of the remuneration committee during the
Year is as follows:

o reviewed and recommended to the Board on the Group’s
remuneration policy and strategy;

o reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management
during the Year; and

o assessed performance of executive directors and approving the
terms of executive directors’ service contract.
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Nomination Committee

The Board established the nomination committee on 26 August
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
relevant CG Code. The latest written terms of reference of the
nomination committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the nomination committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Directors, assessing the
independence of independent non- executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on appointment and re-appointment

of Directors.

The composition of the nomination committee throughout the Year
is as follows:

Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian (Chairman)
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, mH, sp
Dr. Tong Ka Lok
Mr. Zhu Yongjun

During the Year, the nomination committee held 3 meeting. Details
of the attendance of the members of the nomination committee in
the said meeting are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’
Attendance at Board/Board Committee/General Meetings” above.

The summary of work of the nomination committee during the Year
is as follows:

J reviewed the existing Board's structure, size and composition;
o reviewed and made recommendation on the appointment on
non-executive Directors;

. reviewed and assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and

o made recommendation on the retiring Directors at the 2019
AGM of the Company.
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Board diversity policy

The Company recognises the benefits of having diversity in the
composition of the Board and adopted its own board diversity
policy on 26 August 2014.

The Company noted that people from different backgrounds and
with different professional and life experience are likely to approach
problems in different ways and accordingly, members of the Board
with diverse backgrounds will bring different concerns and questions
to the table, and allow the Board to consider a wider range of
options and solutions when deciding on corporate issues and
formulating policies for the Group. In determining the Board’s
composition and selection of candidates to the Board, factors
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
ethnicity,
knowledge and length of service will be considered. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against the selection criteria, having regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board, the business model and specific

background, professional experience, skills, industry

needs of the Group. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The nomination committee has monitored the implementation of the
board diversity policy since its adoption, and also reviewed it to
ensure its effectiveness and concluded that no revision to the policy
is required at the last nomination committee meeting held.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee was responsible to maintain the
nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”) and
review the same regularly. The purpose of the Nomination Policy is
to identify candidates who are suitable to become a member of the
Board and to make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of candidates nominated for directorships. The Board shall be
composed of members with balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to accomplish the Group's
business development, strategies,
opportunities. The core criteria for selection include gender, age,
cultural and education background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and industry and regional
directorship in other listed/public companies and
independent non-executive Directors, the number of years they have

operation, challenges and

experience, number of

in case of

already served. According to the nomination procedure, the
Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying potential new
decision. The

Directors and recommends to the Board for
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appointment shall be subject to the approval by the Board in
accordance with the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association, the Main Board Listing Rules and the Nomination
Policy.

Corporate Governance Function

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the corporate governance
practices of the Company with reference to Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The summary of their work during the Year is as
follows:

o developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations;

o reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management
of the Group;

o reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees of the Group and
the Directors; and

o reviewed the Company’s compliance with CG Code and

disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

Emolument Policy

The remuneration policy of the Group is to ensure the fairness and
competitiveness of total remuneration. The emoluments of executive
Directors are determined based on the skills, knowledge, individual
performance as well as contributions, the scope of responsibility and
accountability of such Directors, taking into consideration the
Company’s performance and prevailing market conditions. The
remuneration policy of non-executive Director and independent non-
is to ensure that they are adequately
compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company’s
affairs including their participation in respective Board committees.
Their emoluments are determined with reference to their skills,

executive Directors

experience, knowledge, duties and market trends.
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Accountability and Audit

Financial Reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of the
Financial Statements for the Year which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group in accordance with the statutory
requirements and accounting standards and other financial
disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules. The financial results
of the Group are announced in a timely manner in accordance with
statutory and/or regulatory requirements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set
out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 89 to 98.

External Auditor's Remuneration

During the Year, the Group engaged BDO Limited as external
auditor of the Company. The fee in respect of audit services and
non-audit services provided by BDO Limited and its affiliates for the
Year were as follows:

o] 5 R 4% 8

Bt ¥ e AR

EEemABHEURBBEEEL  SHEL
REMBRUTHEMR B RERERHRN
FENMBERE  NEBEMAFMEINARE
BEBRANEE - AEENHBRAEDIE
REER /REERTEER QM-

EEY THEEMERFHAIBERANERK
THERE  ARHARRFELENEN
MRCE REEM o

REMABERBRAETHNRHA CHRE
8998 H #)JB I/ & BHAD W] E A

4§ & 2 S5 A i B

RAFE  RNEBEEEB I EERGT
EBMARATBAR RN ZEE - B
VEERSHTMEEMERARREHE
RAEIRAFEREBZRE RIEFZRE
MERMT :

Nature of services Amount
AR 75 M & k2]
HK$’000

FHET

Audit services in relation to annual results BREFE£ENEZRS 1,450
Review of interim results ERPEEE =
Non-audit services IEEZRTE 948

The audit committee has expressed its views to the Board that the BWEZZE@REEFLERT ' HRAKARG

level of fees paid/payable to the Company to the Company's
external auditor for annual audit services is reasonable. There has
been no major disagreement between the auditor and the
management of the Company during the Year.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board has overall responsibility for the effective
management and control systems of the Group and
committed to the maintenance of good corporate governance,
practices and procedures of the Group. The Board also admitted the
effectiveness of the existing risk management and internal control
However, such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate risk of failure to achieve business

risk
internal

systems during the Year.
objective, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. Nevertheless, the
management is authorised to engage an external professional
service provider to conduct review on the Group’s policies and
make recommendations for the improvement and strengthening of
the risk management and internal control systems during the Year.

Effectiveness

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating, determining,
establishing and maintaining an effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness to safeguard the Company’s assets and the
interests. During the Year, the Board and the audit
committee of the Company have conducted a review on the

shareholders’

effectiveness of Group’s risk management and internal control
systems.

The Board has overseen the management in the design,
risk management and
internal control systems, and has reviewed the effectiveness on the

implementation and monitoring of the

Group'’s certain policies during the Year.

The Board identified and evaluated the risks and analysed the core
risks within the Group to mitigate related risks arising from the
existing operations after evaluating its risk management and internal
controls systems.

The key risk management and internal control procedures of the
Company are as follows:

i determine the scope, identify the risks and compile a list of
such risks;

2: evaluate and prioritise the risks based on the possible financial
loss and impact on operating efficiency, sustainability and
reputation;
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3 identify the risk control measures against major risks, conduct

internal control assessments of the design and
implementation of such measures, and formulate measures to

improve any defect;

4. review and evaluate the risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis and ensure the constant
improvement of the risk management system; and

Sy report the findings to the audit committee and the board of
directors.

The Board confirmed that the Group’s risk management and
internal controls systems were acceptable and there was no material
non-compliance or failures issues located but various areas for
improvement have been identified during the Year. Certain remedial
measures have been and will be taken to strengthen the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.

The Group reviewed the effectiveness of its risk management and
internal control systems at least annually. The Board and the audit
committee also considered that the key areas of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, including the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’'s accounting are

reasonably conducted and implemented.

Inside Information

The Group has adopted and implemented its own disclosure policy
aiming to provide a general guide to the directors and senior
management of the Company in handling of confidential
information and/or monitoring of information disclosure pursuant to
applicable laws and regulations in compliance with the Securities

and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO").

The disclosure policy provides the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information by
publication of the announcement to the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company on a timely basis to enable the public,
namely shareholders, institutional investors, potential investors and
other stakeholders of the Company to access the latest information
of the Group, unless such information fall within the safe harbours
under the SFO.

Briefing and training on the implementation of the disclosure policy
have been provided to Directors and senior management of the
Group.
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Delegation by the Board

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the Company in discharging its duties, certain
responsibilities are delegated to various board committees which
have been established by the Board to deal with different aspects of
the Company’s affairs. Unless otherwise specified in their respective
written terms of reference as approved by the Board, these board
committees are governed by the Company’s articles of association
as well as the Board's policies and practices (in so far as the same
are not in conflict with the provisions contained in the articles of
association).

With the establishment of the audit committee, remuneration
the independent non-
executive Directors will be able to effectively devote their time to
perform the duties required by the respective board committees.

committee and nomination committee,

The Board has also delegated the responsibility of implementing its
strategies and the day-to-day operation to the management of the
Company under the leadership of the chief executive officer and
executive Directors. Clear guidance has been made as to the
matters that should be reserved to the Board for its decision which
include matters on, inter alia,
reporting, internal controls, communication with shareholders, Board
membership, delegation of authority and corporate governance.

capital, finance and financial

Company Secretary

During the Year, Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas undertook over 15 hours’
professional training to update his skill and knowledge in
compliance with the CG Code.

Changes in Constitutional Documents
During the Year, there has been no changes in the constitutional
documents of the Company.
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Shareholders’ Rights

The Way by Which Shareholders Can Convene
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM")/Put Forward
Proposal

According to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the requisition of one or more shareholders of the Company
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Article 113 of the Articles of Association provides that no person,
other than a retiring Director shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing
by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been
lodged at the head office or at the registration office. The period
for lodgment of the notices required under this Article will
commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice
of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and the
minimum length of the period during which such notices to the
Company may be given will be at least 7 days.

Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to propose a
person other than a retiring Director for election as a Director at the
Company’s general meeting, he/she should attend the following:

o Prepare a notice in writing of his/her intention to propose a
person for election as a Director.

o The person proposed for election as a Director shall also
prepare a notice in writing of his/her willingness to be
elected.
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o Such notices shall be lodged at the head office of the Company
at Office B, 3/F, Kingston International Centre, 19 Wang Chiu
Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong or at the address of Tricor
Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

o The period for lodgment of such notices will commence no
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and
the minimum length of the period during which such notices
to the Company may be given will be at least 7 days.

The relevant procedures are set out in the circular to the
shareholders which is sent together with this annual report and the
Company’s website at http://www.primeworld-china.com.

The Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to
the Board by addressing them to the Company at our head office in
Hong Kong at Office B, 3/F, Kingston International Centre, 19 Wang
Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong or by email through the
Company’s website at http://www.primeworld-china.com.

Communication with Shareholders and
Investors

The Company endeavors to maintain effective communications with
the shareholders and potential investors of the Company.

Save as mentioned under the sub-heading “The Procedures for
Sending Enquiries to the Board” above, in order to provide more
relevant information to our shareholders, the Company has
published all corporate information about the Group on its website
at http://www.primeworld-china.com. It is a channel of the
Company to communicate with the shareholders and potential
investors with our latest corporate development. All our corporate
communications, such as statutory announcement, circular, financial
reports are available on the website for easy access by the
shareholders and potential investors. In addition, the Company
meets its shareholders at the annual general meeting so as to
promote the development of the Company through mutual and
efficient communications.
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Dividend Policy

The Company aims to strike a balance between maintaining
sufficient capital to develop and operate the business of the Group
and rewarding the shareholders of the Company. According to the
dividend policy of the Company, in deciding whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Company
shall take into account, inter alia, the following factors:

—  the Group’s operating results, actual and expected financial
performance;

—  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

—  the level of the Group'’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and the relevant financial covenants;

—  the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

—  the Group’s liquidity position;

— general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal and external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group; and

— any other factors that the Company may deem appropriate and
relevant.

Such declaration and payment of the dividend by the Company is
also subject to any restrictions under the Companies Laws of the
Cayman Islands, any applicable laws, rule and regulations and the
Articles of Association of the Company. Any declaration and
payment of future dividend under the Dividend Policy are subject to
the Board’s determination that the same would be in best interests
of the Group and the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The forthcoming AGM of the Company is scheduled to be held on
16 August 2021. At the AGM, the chairman of the Board as well as
chairmen of the nomination committee, remuneration committee
and audit committee or, in their absence, other members of the
respective committees shall attend to answer questions from
shareholders at the annual general meeting. The representatives of
the external auditor shall also present and available to answer
questions at the meeting.

The notice of AGM and the necessary information on issues to be
considered in the AGM will be set out in the circular to be

dispatched to the shareholders of the Company in due course.

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{&H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of New
Concepts Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated

“Group”) set out on pages 99 to 267, which

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects on the corresponding
figures of the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion”
section of our report, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then

March 2021, and of its consolidated financial

ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk
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Basis for Qualified Opinion

In previous years, the Group paid deposits for the potential
acquisition of a 49% equity interests in PT. Dempo Sumber Energi
("DSE"”) (“DSE Agreement”) and a 80% equity interests in PT.
Sumatera Pembangkit Mandiri (“SPM"). In addition, the Group paid
certain expenses on behalf of DSE and advanced loans to DSE, SPM
and their beneficial shareholders. During the year ended 31 March
2017, the shares of DSE and SPM (representing 49% and 80% of
the equity interest in DSE and SPM respectively) were transferred to
Stand Ascent Limited (“Stand Ascent”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
indirectly held by the Company. The Group accounted for DSE and
SPM shares held by Stand Ascent as collateral to secure the
payments for the deposits paid and expenses paid on behalf and
loans advanced as stated above. After the transfer of shares, the
Group appointed 4 out of 6 directors of DSE and 5 out of 7
directors of SPM. Thereafter, the Group has entered into a series of
transactions and agreements with various parties including further
payments for deposits for the potential acquisition of additional 5%
equity interests in SPM and the termination of the DSE Agreements.

On 29 June 2018, the Group entered into a disposal agreement
and on 15 August 2019 a supplemental deed to the disposal
agreement (collectively “the Disposal Agreement”) to dispose of the
Group’s 100% equity interest in Stand Ascent (the “Disposal”). Up
to the date of the Disposal, the Group have received an aggregate
amount of HK$83,764,000 from the buyer in the Disposal
Agreement and its beneficial controlling shareholder (the “Money
Received”).

On 15 August 2019, the Group also entered into a settlement
(the
of the consideration for

relation to the
(the
According to the Settlement Agreement, the

agreement “Settlement Agreement”) in
settlement
“Consideration”).
Consideration will be settled by the amount due by the Group to

the purchaser and its beneficial controlling shareholder for the

the Disposal

Money Received. The amount of Money Received in excess of the
Consideration was agreed to be waived.
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As at the date of the Disposal, the aggregated amount of deposits
paid, expenses paid on behalf and loans advanced (“Payments”) of
approximately HK70,269,000 was accounted for as receivables. The
carrying amount of the Payments as at the date of disposal after
netting off the impairment provision of HK$15,854,000 was of
HK$54,415,000 and gain on the Disposal of HK$29,349,000 (note
7) was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

The directors of the Company have not provided us with
satisfactory evidence relating to the nature of the transactions
giving rise to the Payments as detailed in the paragraphs above (the
“Transactions”) (further details are disclosed in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements) and their conclusion that the
Payments are receivables in nature throughout the years. As such,
we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
satisfy ourselves whether the Transactions have been appropriately
accounted for, including whether accounting for the Payments as
receivables is appropriate and accordingly (i) whether impairment
provision recognised against the Payments is appropriate and the
amount of impairment provision recognised is properly determined
or measured in accordance with HKFRSs; and (ii) whether the gain
on the Disposal is properly calculated. As a result, we were also
unable to satisfy ourselves whether the disclosures in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements are complete and accurate.
There were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform
to satisfy ourselves
Consequently,
adjustments to these amounts/disclosures were necessary.
Accordingly, our audit opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial

as to the above-mentioned matters.

we were unable to determine whether any

statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 was modified.

Our audit opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2021 is also modified because of the
possible effects of this matter on the comparability of the related
2021 figures and 2020 figures in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our

Group
Professional Accountants”
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 3(b)(ii) in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group had a net loss of
HK$63,605,000. As of that date, the Group had bonds,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings totalling
HK$149,186,000, trade and retention payables, other payables and
accruals and lease liabilities totalling HK$289,360,000 included in
current liabilities while the Group’s cash and cash equivalents was
HK$66,686,000. As stated in note 3(b)(ii), these conditions, along
with the matters set out in note 3(b)(ii),
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified
in respect of this matter.

indicate that a material

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. As described in the
“Basis for Qualified Opinion” section above, we were not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves the
nature of the Transactions and whether the Transactions have been
appropriately accounted for during our audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020. Such limitation of scope of work may have a consequential
effect on the comparability of the related 2021 figures and 2020
figures included in the other information. Accordingly, we are
unable to conclude whether or not the other information is

materially misstated with respect to these matters.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These

were of most significance in our

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matters described in the “Basis for
Qualified Opinion” section and “Material Uncertainty Related to
Going Concern” section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.

Impairment assessment of goodwill, operating concessions
and other intangible assets

Refer to notes 15, 16(a), 17 of the consolidated financial statements
and accounting policies on note 4(c), 4(h), 4(i).

As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate carrying amount of goodwill,
operating concessions and other intangible assets after impairment
was HK$83,049,000 which represented 7.7% of the Group's total
assets. An impairment assessment is performed by management
annually or when there are indicators of impairment by comparing
the carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the asset or the
cash generating unit to which the asset relates.
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The impairment assessment is significant to our audit due to (i) the
and (i) the significant
judgements and estimates involved in determining the recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill,
operating concessions and intangible assets are allocated, including,
amongst others, expected future cash flows and discount rates.

significance of the carrying amounts;

Our response:

Our audit procedures in relation to Impairment assessment of

goodwill, operating concessions and other intangible assets
included:
o Discussing with management about the technological, market,

economic and legal environment and economic performance
of each cash-generating unit to assess management’s
identification of impairment indicators;

o Assessing the key assumptions used in management’s cash flow
projections for impairment assessment of goodwill, operating
concessions and other intangible assets, including, amongst
others, expected future cash flows and discount rates, with
the assistance from our valuation specialists; and

o Assessing the adequacy of disclosures in connection with the
impairment assessment of goodwill, operating concessions and
other intangible assets.

Impairment assessment of trade and retention receivables,
deposits and other receivables and receivables under
service concession arrangements

Refer to notes 16(b), 22, 23 of the consolidated financial statements
and accounting policies on note 4(h), 4(j)(ii).

As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate carrying amount of trade and
retention receivables, deposits and other receivables and receivables
under service concession arrangements was HK$351,027,000 which
represented 32.4% of the Group's total assets. An impairment
assessment is performed by management at the end of the
reporting period.
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The impairment assessment is significant to our audit due to the
significance of the carrying amounts and significant estimates
involved in determining the future cash flows from such deposits
and receivables based on, among others, the ageing of these
deposit and receivable balances,
creditworthiness, past repayment history and historical write-off

customers’ and debtors’

experience.

Our response:

Our audit procedures in relation to Impairment assessment of trade

and retention receivables, deposits and other receivables and

receivables under service concession arrangements included:

o Assessing the methodologies and inputs adopted by the
management of the Group in estimating the expected credit
loss (“ECL") of trade and retention receivables, deposits and
other receivables and receivables under service concession

arrangements;

o Considering whether any debtor or group of debtors was
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments; and

o Reviewing subsequent settlements of the trade and retention

receivables, deposits and other receivables and receivables
under service concession arrangements.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the

Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

liguidate the Group or to cease
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The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The audit committee of the Company
("Audit Committee”) assists the directors in discharging their
responsibility in this regard.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

we exercise
skepticism

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
professional judgment and maintain professional

throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.
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o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lee Ka Leung, Daniel
Practising Certificate No. P01220

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

LEBERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 # 2202143 /A31H 1 /&

2020
Notes HK$'000
B 3E FET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS HEGEER
Revenue A 7 591,523 648,616
Cost of sales 5 & B A (567,858) (601,634)
Gross profit EF 23,665 46,982
Other income and gains, net H A Ug A K U 55 0% 78 7 56,824 40,833
Reversals of/(provision on) expected % @b & & %94 E &) 78 £
credit loss on financial and EEBERD (EEH)
contract assets 5,402 (37,928)
Administrative expenses TR (112,994) (131,372)
Other expenses Hi A 8(a) (1,448) (53,703)
Finance costs B 7% B 2 9 (38,294) (33,314)
Loss before tax from continuing REFELEEBD
operations B 7% Al 5 18 8(a) (66,845) (168,502)
Income tax T8 #i 12 3,240 21,244
Loss for the year from continuing KA FBLEEBH
operations FAEBE (63,605) (147,258)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION CRIEEEETR
Loss for the year from RKEBEKIEEEEBD
discontinued operation FRNEE 8(b) — (165,196)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR EREE (63,605) (312,454)
v
\l B
/ |
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
meBEmk
For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z£2021%3H31H I F/Z

2020
Note HK$'000
k=2 T T
Loss for the year attributable to HBRARAREAAN
owner of the Company: FAEE
— from continuing operations — REREKEED (54,998) (130,483)
— from discontinued operation — REERIEREFED - (165,196)
Loss for the year attributable to the (REBRANAFHEA AHK
owner of the Company FAFBIE (54,998) (295,679)
Loss for the year attributable to non- 57 /B 7 3F 152 f% #E 25 19
controlling interests FAFBIE
— from continuing operations — REFEEEER (8,607) (16,775)
(63,605) (312,454)
Loss per share attributable to the (FEBRALXATHEE AN
owner of the Company: HkEE : 13
Basic BN
— Loss for the year — HRER HK(8.47)# fll HK(51.61)7% 1l
— Loss for the year from continuing — R B F B KL E£BH
operations FAEIE HK(8.47)# 1l HK(22.78)i& 1l
Diluted e
— Loss for the year — BREE HK(8.47)# 1ll HK(51.61)7& 1l

— Loss for the year from continuing — R B FEKL L EKH
operations FANEE HK(8.47)# fll HK(22.78)7 {1l
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

SeEHEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t Z202143H31H 1F F/Z

2020
HK$'000
T T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEREE (63,605) (312,454)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hith 2 E U 25
Other comprehensive income that may be RAEZBRTERHHE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent EEGZNAEMEE
periods: W as
Exchange differences on translation of M INE ZE TS B
foreign operations bE X Z & 26,169 (21,081)
Recycle of exchange difference upon HEIINBEFERKE R
disposal of foreign operations and BRI EER
discontinued operation E N ZBEMEIR 3,749 —
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FRE2EKEEE
THE YEAR (33,687) (3337535)
Attributable to: EER
Owners of the Company VIN/NETEZ =N (32,297) (313,446)
Non-controlling interests 1R = (1,390) (20,089)
(33,687) (333,535)
b6
/"
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A B AROR &

31 March 2021 2021435315

2020
Notes HK$'000
B % FBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W IR RE 14 100,359 181,691
Goodwill EES 15 — 22,563
Operating concessions A T 16(a) 80,636 260,472
Other intangible assets HEtwEREE 17 2,413 51,785
Receivables under service concession  fR 75 43 & 1 2 HF FE UL
arrangements A 16(b) 61,183 314,752
Prepayments, deposits and other ENRIE - EZe Kk
receivables H & U R IR 23 62,068 42,307
Retention receivables EUWIRE € 22 7.415 19,733
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 314,074 893,303
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories T8 20 12,206 40,612
Contract assets aREBE 21(a) 12,215 7,283
Trade and retention receivables 5 FE W IR K B IR
rE2 22 134,583 171,679
Receivables under service concession AR 7% 4 & #E 2 HF FE UL
arrangements FRIA 16(b) 8,409 32,112
Prepayments, deposits and FERRIE - Ze REAM
other receivables & W R IE 23 77.369 95,462
Loan receivables ERER 24 363 2,908
Consideration receivables R E 18 — 17,607
Financial assets at fair value through &3B18251% A F &
profit or loss ATEMNERMEE 19 — 10,804
Tax recoverable A U [B 5 18 — 513
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIREEEY 26 66,686 29,817
311,831 408,797

Assets of a disposal group classified 2D &FHFELELN
as held for sale S AR A E 38 457,460 —

Total current assets mEEEMAE 769,291 408,797
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
frB MR

31 March 2021 20214#3H31H

2020
Notes HK$'000
B 5% FE T
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENER
Contract liabilities aRaE 21(b) 7,253 4,854
Trade and retention payables B RN REREN
RE 2 27 116,218 166,990
Other payables and accruals o FE ST FRIE K B ET
% H 28 171,380 222,039
Lease liabilities HEEBRE 36 1,762 5,660
Due to directors JENEEZE 25 — 9,296
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITRAMEER
borrowings 29 123,686 254,033
Bonds &5 30 25,500 25,500
Tax payables JE 5P A 18 7,333 7,877
453,132 696,249
Liabilities of a disposal group DERIFIELHED
classified as held for sale HEARNEE 38 253,550 —
Total current liabilities M B EAEE 706,682 696,249
NET CURRENT ASSETS/ RBEEFE
(LIABILITIES) (BE%HE) 62,609 (287,452)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEHEERRESBER
LIABILITIES 376,683 605,851
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERENEE
Due to related parties JE 1F BA Bt 5 3R IE 25 212,482 217,345
Interest-bearing bank and other ARRTRAMEER
borrowings 29 — 134,663
Retention payables ERGRE S D8, 2,715 7,673
Other payables b & 5 3R IE 28 12,000 13,998
Provision B 31 10,737 45,712
Lease liabilities HEAE 36 — 5,587
Deferred tax liabilities REFHIBEEE 32 3,084 26,648
Total non-current liabilities EREBABEESE 241,018 451,626
Net assets BEFE 135,665 154,225
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
iR B B R UL

31 March 2021 20214#3H31H

2020
Notes HK$'000
Bt 5 FHT
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners of the SFERARGHEE AK
Company 1 2
Share capital A& AR 33 69,359 57,290
Reserves RG] 35 31,118 53,014
100,477 110,304
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR #E 2 35,188 43,921
Total equity A 135,665 154,225
Zhu Yongjun Pan Yimin
REBE BEBE
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director

EIRRPTES HITES
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREHR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £2021F3H31H 1F F/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

SERFATRAA
Share Exchange Non-
Share premium Merger Share option  fluctuation ~ Accumulated controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests  Total equity
Ef BhE ERRE

R% BREE aftEs L1 B RABR B3 kERER  RESE
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Tk T TR TR T T Fikn kT
(note 35(@a)  (note 35(b)  (note 35(c))
(Wase)  (Wass)  (Ess)

At 1 April 2019 R201984A18 57,29 511,955 14,000 18322 (1,424) (182,866) an7.2m 64,010 481,287
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (295,679) (295,679) (16,775) (312,454)
Other comprehensive income for the year: FREMEERR:
Exchange differences on translation of BENEEBAELY

foreign operations EXZE - - - = (17,767) = (17,767) (3314) (21,081)
Total comprehensive income for the year FERRARSEE - - - - (17,767) (295,679) (313,446) (20,089) (333,535)
Amortisation of share option BRERH - - - 6473 - - 6473 = 6473
Forfeit of share option RRERE - - - 857) = 857 = - =
Lapsed of share option BREXH - - - (8,705) = 8705 = = B

At 31 March 2020 2020538318 57,290 511,955 14,000 15233 (19,191) (468,983) 110,304 390 154,225
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAMNEDE
For the year ended 31 March 2021

B E2021F3A31H 1 F &

Attributable to owners of the Company

BERZATHEN
Share Conversion  Exchange Non-
Share  premium Merger Share option option  fluctuation Accumulated controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total equity
L3 BRiE ERRD
k% BER SRR BE  ERERRE BE  RiER i FeRER  BRLE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i TAR T TEL TEr TER Thr FEL TR TAR
(note 35(a))  (note 35(b))  (note 35(d))  (note 35(c))
(asa)  (BisEsse))  (Wss)  (WE3s)
At 1 April 2020 H202054A18 57,290 511,955 14,000 15233 - (19,191) (468,983) 110,304 392 154,225
Loss for the year EhEE - (54,998) (54,998) (8607) (63,605)
Other comprehensive income for the year: EREBRENE:
Exchange differences arising from translation RENEERFELNES 28
of foreign operations — — — — 18,952 — 18,952 217 26,169
Recycle of exchange differences upon HENAEHRER HILEKE
disposal of foreign operations and BRERZE
discontinued operation - - - — — 3,749 - 3,749 — 3,749
Total comprehensive income for the year ENEENEEE - - - - 2,701 (54,998) (32,297) (1,39) (33,687)
Acquisition equity interest WEEERERRE
of non-controlling interests - — - — - (620) 319 2570 (10,196) (7,626)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HERBAF(KE39) - - - - - - - - 203) (2,033)
Deemed disposal of equity interest to non-controling Bt & R T3k 2R E S
interests - — — - — — (4,886) (4,886) 4886 —
Lapse of share options (note 3¢) B R 5 (R E34) - = - (6,374) = = 6,374 = = =
Forfeit of share options (note 34) SRUBE B (R 534) - - - (5,094) = = 5,004 = = =
Issue of shares BARH 10,069 10,528 - - - - - 20,597 = 20,597
Issue of convertible bonds (note 43) BOTERER (i) e = = = 822 = = 82 = 82
Shares issued upon exercise of TREFEAERETRE
debt conversion righs (note 43) (Hi543) 2000 2189 - - (822) - - 3367 - 3367
At 31 March 2021 R021534318 69,359 524,672 14,000 3,765 - 2,890 (514,209) 100,477 35,188 135,665
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 # 2202143 /A31H 1 /&

2020
Notes HK$'000
B 5 FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RE&EZFEHH
ACTIVITIES REeERE
Loss before tax from continuing RERELCEEBRD
operations GOl SR (66,845) (168,502)
Loss before tax from discontinued RKEBEKRIEEEEBH
operations B 7% A g5 18 — (170,557)
Adjustments for: BATESEEL AL :
Finance costs B 7 B 7R 9 38,294 46,803
Interest income F 2 WA 7 (34) (504)
Gain on disposal of items of HEDH BRR
property, plant and equipment IR B B s 7 (141) (3.578)
Provision of major overhaul ANEREAE 31 15,356 16,245
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries PEMRBARIMKZE 7 (27,872) =
Loss on discontinued operation ERIEEEEBH
&5 18 8(b) 320 —
Fair value change on financial FREBEREATE
assets at FVTPL AERNEREEDN
NFEEE — 02023
Depreciation e 8(a) 30,763 44,472
Amortisation of operating R AT RE R AR
concessions 8(a) 5,809 16,430
Amortisation of other intangible H b & B i
assets 154 11,804
(Reversals of)/provision of expected SRMEEHNEEN
credit loss on financial and FEEEEEE
contract assets (BEE) B (5,402) 37,914
Gain on disposal of equity interest  HEZ AR A A
in Stand Ascent Limited % R A9 U 2 7 — (29,349)
Impairment of goodwill EENEEED 8(a) 1,128 139,898
Impairment of property, plant and /e 5]
equipment FERE - 678
Impairment of other intangible H i\ & ERE
assets — 777
Impairment of operating KRR ST RERLE
concession — 578899
Impairment of inventories FERE 8(a) 23,946 e
Equity-settled share option LARE 2= 45 & 1Y B AR
expense X 34 — 6,473
15,476 il

11,331 ;ﬁil
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

meRenER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z£2021%3H31H I F/Z

2020
HK$'000
FET
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERD () 6,467 (1,246)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets & #9& & (& hn) 7 24 (4,973) 41,652
Decrease in trade and retention Z 5 WK IE K E
receivables e 2,057 48,696
Decrease in prepayments, deposits ERRIE - Ze &k
and other receivables B e W IR A 29,532 18,947
(Increase)/decrease in receivables Bl 745 5 7 4 2 HE FE AR
under service concession FRIB(EM) R
arrangements (3.869) 4,959
Increase in contract liabilities aH B EEM 2,399 1,607
Decrease in trade and retention B S EMNRERER
payables REERD (12,902) (47,916)
Increase in other payables and H b & A 5B R FE AT
accruals AN 19,474 77,571
Cash from operations MEELENR S 53,661 155,601
Overseas taxes paid B B8 N IE (218) (5,263)
Net cash flows generated from KETHEENR S
operating activities mEFE 53,443 150,338
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REBREEH
ACTIVITIES HaEng
Interest received B F B 34 504
Purchase of intangible asset BERTEE (2,499) =
Purchase of operating concessions BERERSTE (2,277) (3,895)
Purchases of items of property, plant FEEYZ - #E R
and equipment REIEB (8,112) (6,121)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HE¥E  #EK
property, plant and equipment 518 B FTis 2R 13,238 6,057
Proceeds from disposal of LENE A RS RIE
subsidiaries 24,498 —
Proceeds from loan receivables fEUWE R ATIS 3R 2,701 5,129
Acquisition of non-controlling Ui B E 20 AR 2
interest (7,626) —
Transfer to discontinued operation EREERIEEEED (4,423) =
Transfer to asset classified as held for BB EHME AFEHE
sales H & E (2,590) ==
Net cash flows generated from REESHEEN
investing activities RemnEFH 12,944 1,674
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
,m Eﬁi/ﬂbii’%

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143H31H 1F F/Z
2020
Note HK$'000
B 5 FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING KEREEHN
ACTIVITIES HeRsE
Proceeds from issue of shares BTG ERIE 20,597 —
Proceeds from issue of convertible BOABMBRESFIE
bonds IE 43 4,000 —
New bank and other borrowings FERITREMEER 33,575 135,472
Repayment of bank and other BERTEREMEER
borrowings (39,401) (81,380)
Repayment to capital element of BEHEEBRNTKHN
lease liabilities payments BEREHLD (4,081) (8,809)
Interest element of lease liabilities HE B EMNRD
payments MEE D (224) (1,038)
Interest paid ERNE N (30,237) (45,765)
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to JENEZEEHIECH L)
directors 0 (9,120) 4,656
Decrease in amount due to a related & {5 B8 B 5 5K IE 8
parties (4,863) (167,298)
Net cash flows used in financing B &S B PTA
activities REMEFH (29,754) (164,162)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) RERBELEEBY
IN CASH AND CASH W, (GRY)FE
EQUIVALENTS 36,633 (12,150)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUNEE R
beginning of year ReEEEY 29,817 38,745
Effect of foreign exchange rate SN [ 2 & B i %2
changes, net b %=C 236 3,222
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S$XRBIRER
END OF YEAR REEEY 66,686 29,817
ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH WR&2RIRLZEMY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HERaWm
Cash and bank balances ] & RIRITRE 66,686 29,817
/
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 35 ¥R 3% B &

For the year ended 31 March 2021 # £202143A31H 1 F/Z

[=

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
New Concepts Holdings Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of the Company is Office B, 3/F, Kingston
International Centre, 19 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong
Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in
construction works and environmental protection.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and registered share

Issued ordinary/

1.

EERERESEH
BIEEE (R ERADANESE
BEMRIHERAT  ARAME
TR AEBNEE RS9
£ 7 @ ERE S O3IBBE -

FAARABREMBRR (BEIA
SEDIZREZETRERRRF -

RARBMREBBEIZMERR
B (B pr ) ER £7 e

FRAMBATMEH
ARREEMBLRANFBAT

Percentage of equity

attributable to the

Name business capital Company Principal activities
M, ERTEE EBRAEATN
e A REEBE ot it iR A BEES TEXH
2020
New Twins Enterprises British Virgin US$1 100 100  Investment holding
Limited Islands/Hong
Kong
EBRAES/ 1ETT REER
B
New Concepts Foundation Hong Kong HK$60,510,000 100 100  Provision of foundation

Limited works and general
building works
BIEMEBRAA £ 60,510,000/ 7T REMETER K

EFIiE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

1. EEREEEH (&)

(continued)
Place of
incorporation/  Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered share attributable to the
Name business capital Company Principal activities
M B#TLE FEERAATH
ey S REEBE B A EZEstt TEXH
2020
Dynamic Premier Limited  British Virgin US$50,000 100 100  Investment holding
Islands/Hong
Kong
RBRABE/ 50,000% 7T REER
BB
Prime World Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100  Investment holding
HEAERAR £ 10,000/ 7 REZK
RERBEDER People’s Republic  RMB120,000,000 100 100  Kitchen waste
B2 A (“Taiyuan of China treatment
Tianrun”) (X RAXEI)  (“PRC")/
Mainland China
REARAME AR BRI NRER
(THED/ 120,000,0007T
AL A 3D
Ultra Premier Limited British Virgin US$50,000 100 100  Investment holding
Islands/Hong
Kong
RBRIESR,/ 50,000 7 REEK
BB
BIEFEAED R PRC/Mainland US$30,000,000 60 60  Kitchen waste
BIRAE (“Hefei China treatment
Feifan”) (R AEJER)) B HEIAM  30,000,000% 7T BTSRRI

—

=
4R

=
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ¥ REBEZHE (&)

(continued)
Place of
incorporation/  Issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered share attributable to the
Name business capital Company Principal activities
AL E#TEE BERAATN
& BE R SR R UTES EiHE DL TEEB
2020
B (RB)RE R PRC/Mainland RMB110,000,000 100 100 Provision of
BRAFO China environmental
improvement
solutions
B B i AR RERSEUEAR
110,000,000
o These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises o 25 M R AR IR P BUEE Rt AN
under PRC law. HMBELE-
Except for New Twins Enterprises Limited and Ultra Premier FRNew Twins Enterprises Limited &
Limited, the above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Ultra Premier Limited#h = it fff &8 A
Company. ARARRIHEERS -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, ERINEHEERRBEEFEREHF
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results NEBIEKAEEFEEEAS D
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets MARGIMBEAR -EFRARMHE
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in B R RMFEESRBBRILE

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
April 2020

The HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material
HKAS 8

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark

HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 Reform

The adoption of the above revised standards has no
significant financial effect on the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has not early applied any new or amended
HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impact on the applications of these
amended HKFRSs are summarised below.

2. RPBEEMBREEL
((HEEMBREEL ]

(a)

RENEET EIETHHMBR
+£#H| — B2020E4818 #
£
EAeHM e EHZEN
RIRRETE ST B®RE L
Al ERAEE M E /T2 5 58
B

BRAMBREERNE EBNTR
SEERT

BREHEABIRR EANTER
BB G ERE8N
kool

BREMBRE RS
165F 0 3T

COVID-1948 8
HeE=E

BEGHERF39% -
BEMBREER
FIRRBERHR
A B E95% B 5 7T

MEEEHE

Ry b QBRI RS A/
BRELBEBEAYBHEEE -

AEBLERANRANREGE
AP i) R A B 2 A {3 AT SRR
EAEEMBREER -ER
ZEREITBRAMBHRE LR
TEBLWT -

113




NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

S
> 114

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 755 R MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z£20214#3H31H i F/Z&

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (&E 1)
(continued) (4&)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 (a) FRENHET ST HHUBR
April 2020 (continued) & %20 — H20205F4A1H #E
&)
Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a BB R EERFE3FBI1E
Business i EFHESE

The amendments clarify the definition of a business and
introduce an optional concentration test that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The election to

ZEEABEEBZER X
SIABEBEENERERNRA A
YK —HEBREE
EBUFEBETEHETME -

apply the concentration test is made for each AEERSBERXZERERAS
transaction. The concentration test is met if FEAR WEABBEEZA

substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or
group of similar identifiable assets. If the concentration
test is met, the set of activities and assets is determined
not to be a business. If the concentration test is failed,
the acquired set of activities and assets is further
assessed based on the elements of a business.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 —
Definition of Material

The amendments clarify the definition of material and
align the definition used across the HKFRSs. Information
is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements, which
provide financial information about a specific reporting
entity. Materiality depends on the nature or magnitude
of information, or both. An entity assesses whether
information, either individually or in combination with
other information, is material in the context of its
financial statements taken as a whole.

FEATFE2HABEFEE—T
B A& E s — AR R E R A
Ef  ARERTEA - MW
EEPEAS  A-—@EEBR
BERBERLIFEEL - HT
HAasEhEAR  PTRES—
HMEHREESRBEB LR
1R — Fatfh -

EFEEEERFVRREEE
st ERFHRIIEF] — EX
B E 7%
ZETRBEANEERR —
BRVWBREENPFERNE
& - WEFER - BRI
FEEHEHBRYBHRRZ
TERAEERZEVHRR
(RS EREERIMBEER)
EHZREERTE AW
ERBER BEAEEEHRF
EHZMEREENHRBER
FREME - BERALENDHM
BHREMS - FEHER (EFEHK
EREME ETBERX -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

(a)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
April 2020 (continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

HKFRS 16 was amended to provide a practical
expedient to lessees in accounting for rent concessions
arising as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, by
including an additional practical expedient in HKFRS 16
that permits entities to elect not to account for rent
concessions as modifications. The practical expedient
applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of Covid-19 pandemic and only if all of
the following criteria are satisfied:

(@) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change;

(b)  the reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and

(c) there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

2.

% Al
A1)

e THE A EHE S
£ %A — BH20205F4H 18 #E
£ E)

BB HEERFE165H91E
5T COVID-1915 i £ 1B &

E;‘%Hﬂ%iﬁiiﬁﬁuﬁm%ﬁa{’ﬁ
LB BREBAMBRE
ﬁﬂ']%m*ﬂqﬂﬂﬂ)\—lﬁgﬁﬂ\ﬂ

TEERE RTERBEET
HHeERIEER  AEM
ABLCOVID-19EA 2 & E R
PEHEBRRENITERES
FoAITHE R EZEEBR
COVID-19% EE %S| Bz &
Eh BHERFAUTHHAELE
AIBSE A

(@) MENREFEREE

RIHEREREZEFHA
ZHEREBEAZER - 3k
PREBRE:

(b) MENRZEMBRIBESR
2[5 % B2021F6H30H
RZAB MR &

(0 MEZHEMERRIEHL
BEEEY-
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z£20214#3H31H i F/Z&

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

(a)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
April 2020 (continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions (continued)

Rent concessions that satisfy these criteria may be
accounted for in accordance with this practical
expedient, which means the lessee does not need to
assess whether the rent concession meets the definition
apply other
requirements of HKFRS 16 in accounting for the rent
concession.

of lease modification. Lessees shall

As the Group has no and rent concessions during the
year ended 31 March 2021,
Company considered that the effective of amendments
on HKFRS 16 had no significant impact on the financial
statements.

the directors of the

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9:
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The amendments modify some specific hedge
accounting requirements to provide relief from potential
effects of the uncertainties caused by interest rate
benchmark reform. In addition, the amendments require
companies to provide additional information to investors
about their hedging relationships which are directly

affected by these uncertainties.

2.

L e S CHE R
H£#H| — B2020FE4818#
&)

BB B HEERFEI167891E
57 COVID-1915H £ 1B &

(&)

RFEuESE z2HEERAMN
RRUATHEEIEAR X
TEMABEIGEHSESR
BRAEEBRZ TS - AR
AEEREBMEREELSE
1R EMBEBHEEER A
/E.E °

HRASEBERNEZE2021F3A31
BEtEEYERSER AR
RESRAE BEUWBREE
Bl 5 165% /915 5T &£ U B 7% 3R
RIEEERTE-

HFEEERF39% « EEH
BHREEREIHREEMT
RERRFZIFERIELT  FIFE
BEXE
BERETERETEEN+E
FERE ARERN R EENE
ERTHERNRTZBER
& o lpsh AR ERARM
REERBBEBEEIZEFT
BEARFEZHTHERZE
SNE R o



For the year ended 31 March 2021

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current®
Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use?
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of

Fulfilling a Contract®

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework?*

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments and
Amendments to lllustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16 Lease’

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June

2021"
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z£20214#3H31H i F/Z&

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

are not yet effective (continued)
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April

2021.

z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

Effective for business combinations for which the date of
acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2022

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or
contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning
on or after a date to be determined

The Group is not yet in a position of whether these
new pronouncements will result in substantial changes
to the Group’s accounting policies and consolidated
financial statements.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRS"”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Basis of preparation and going concern

assumption

(i) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments, which are measured
at fair values as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

2. RpEEUBHREEL
?Eg%ﬂ#?"iﬁ*&ﬁlﬂ)
o) EEMEMRE RO

1|§,J§FEEH%$E¢EEU (#%&)
R2021FAA1A K 2 BB

FEEHBAER

2 R2021E1 1Ak 2 BB
FEHEAER

3 R202FE 1 A1A K2 B BN
FEPEAER

4 ot Uk BE B HA A 2022961818
g2 &AM E EFE SR
BRRZENEBRE FER

5 MR2023FE1 A1k 2 BB
ir‘ﬂﬂﬁaﬁix&

5 BRI BiRATEANEREBH
iZ«é%ﬁﬁAaﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁia’J
BEHEIEA

AEBAREEEZSHBEME
BERAEENS A BRI
EHMBHRERHRERES -

3. EEIEE

(a) MWHIEH
RAEUMBRERDIERAEE S
BIHE LR B e
FRE(ITXHBIE S Y B #H
LEBDARBERAHESH
BRERTEY - W SAUE
BEBEEABARSFAER
NElESE EMBRARETHER
HEEE-

(b) GHREERFHEEERR

() FEEE
BT P A & AT BOR
A BETERIA
BATEAEN HAE
R TR B L AR B



3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of preparation and going concern

(b)

assumption (continued)

(i)  Going concern basis

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
had a net loss of HK$63,605,000 as at 31 March
2021. As of that date, the Group had bonds,
interest-bearing bank and other
totalling HK$149,186,000, trade and retention
payables, other payables and accruals and lease
liabilities totalling HK$289,360,000 included in
current liabilities while the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents was HK$66,686,000.

The above conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty that may cast significant

borrowings
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doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a FEL LN NBKER

going concern and, therefore it may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the
Company have prepared a cash flow forecast of
the Group covering a period of 18 months from
the end of the reporting period (the “Forecast

Period”).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(b) Basis of preparation and going concern
assumption (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

The cash flow forecast has included the effects of
the following major measures and events that
have been implemented or taking place in order
to enhance the Group's liquidity position to meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall

(ii)

due:

(a)

As disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements, in February 2021, the
Group and the purchaser entered into the
disposal agreement in relation to the disposal
of the 100% equity interest held in the
Taiyuan Tianrun Bioenergy Co., Ltd. (“Taiyuan
Plant”) at the cash consideration of
RMB120,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$141,982,000). Up to the date of approval
for issue of these consolidated financial
statements, a deposit of RMB20,400,000
(approximately HK$24,138,000) was received
while conditions precedent regarding (i)
written approval of the disposal agreement by
the Taiyuan Urban and Rural Management
Bureau; and (i) written consent for the
disposal as well as its agreement to assist in
the change of business registration of Taiyuan
Plant from CITIC Financial Leasing Company
Limited have yet been satisfied but the
directors of the Company are of the view
that these conditions will be satisfied with the
proceeds to be received that will meet the
liquidity needs of the Group;
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3.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of preparation and going concern
assumption (continued)

(ii)  Going concern basis (continued)

(b)

(b)

(@)

On May 2021, the Group entered into 9
subscription agreements with each of the
subscribers. Pursuant to the subscription
agreements, the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue, and the subscribers
have conditionally agreed to subscribe for an
aggregate of 169,472,000 subscription shares
at the subscription price of HK$0.295 for the
gross proceeds approximately HK$50,000,000.
Such subscription is approved by the
Shareholders at an extraordinary general
meeting held on 18 June 2021; and

The Group obtained the facilities of HK$50
million within the Forecast Period from an
individual who holds 75% equity interest in
a substantial shareholder of the Company.
An amount of HK$35 million was utilised as
available working capital up to the date of
approval for issue of these consolidated
financial statements.
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3

B E2021F3A31H I F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation and going concern
assumption (continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that, taking into
account the above-mentioned measures, the Group
would have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due over
Accordingly, it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2021 on a going concern basis.

the Forecast Period.

Should the Group fail to achieve the abovementioned
plans and measures, it might not be able to continue to
operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying values of
the Group’s assets to their net realisable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been

reflected in these consolidated financial

statements.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated. Each entity within the Group maintains its
books and records in its own functional currency. The
functional currency of the Company is HK$.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised
in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case
the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

profits are eliminated in full

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the vyear are
statement of comprehensive income from the dates of
up to the dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to

included in the consolidated

acquisition or

the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method when the acquired set of activities
and assets meets the definition of a business and
control is transferred to the Group. In determining
whether a particular set of activities and assets is a
business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets
and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input
and substantive processes and whether the acquired set
has the ability to produce outputs.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued)

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the
Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value. The Group'’s previously held
equity in the acquiree is
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or
losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may

interest re-measured at

elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure
the non-controlling
ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests

interests that represent present

are measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in
issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from
new information obtained within the measurement
period (@ maximum of 12 months from the acquisition
date) about the fair value at the acquisition date. All
other subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to owners of the Company.
Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive
controlling interests even if this results in those non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

income is attributed to such non-

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amount of the Group’s
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes

interests and the non-

in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly

in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts

assets (including goodwill),

previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the relevant assets
or liabilities were disposed of.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is
able to exercise control. The Company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (1) power over the investee, (2) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (3) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these
elements of control.

De-facto control exists in situations where the Company
has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee without holding the majority of the
voting rights. In determining whether de-facto control
exists the Company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances, including:

o The size of the Company’s voting rights relative to
both the size and dispersion of other parties who
hold voting rights;

o Substantive potential voting rights held by the
Company and other parties who hold voting

rights;
o Other contractual arrangements; and
o Historic patterns in voting attendance.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend

received and receivable.

investments
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
fair value of the Group's previously held equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition
date.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration
paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree,
the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit
is the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates cash inflows that are largely independent of
the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, by
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable
amount, and whenever there is an indication that the

unit may be impaired.

4. FEETBRHBE (&)

(c)

[k
BEEMEERENIFE
WBRE T EMIFERESE S
BRAKBE AR AN RKE
TRENRAFERAN  BER
WEBHAENARAEER
BENAFEMNED -

HWABNEERBEBENAFE
BRACNRENRFE R
W R EERERN S
BRWET RN BT P
R R A B 2 (EH
BE - ABLBIRNKERD
EEMFHRNIESER -

BB A R R B B 1R AT
E-pREARNE  WBEL
WEEBLDSEERHAZWE
B 1 [B) A fE R s 0 % AR BA IR
CELABEN -BREELABUR
—HRNABRNEE ZHEE
EEERERA MZEFRE
MARBEBINKBHME
EXEEANINBRSRA - &
PTEFENREELBMEF
KR 17 B A7 AT g IR OB E A
BEEETRENR  TER
HRERASEEN WS -

127



>
> 128

NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 755 R MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2021

4.

B E2021F3A31H I F &

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Goodwill (continued)

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment before the end
of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit
pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount to each
asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each
asset will not reduce the individual asset’s carrying
amount to below its fair value less cost of disposal (if
measurable) or (if determinable),
whichever is the higher. Any impairment
goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not

its value in use

loss for

reversed in subsequent periods.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at FVTPL and
contingent consideration asset at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level T  —  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 4. FEETBREBE (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Related parties (e) FABKRA
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETANBEAT —ABERAE
& B H 7 B
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that (@ —FAR”R—BALTHZAL
person’s family and that person: BEH Bz AL
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; () HAEEHEEIZES

f of Ak A 2 LA

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAEEHEBEAK
RN K

(i) is a member of the key management (iy RASEHEFESR
personnel of the Group or of a parent of ANEZEEREK
the Group; 8
or 54
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following (b) —FHEFE FIEMGHE
conditions applies: NEE
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of () ZEBHASEAR
the same group; A—%5BMKER
E‘I -
(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of (i) —HEBAES—M
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary B (5 —EEN
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity); Al B A A
BAEEN V= PNCIDE:)
R /N R = e
E
(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures (i) ZEBEAEERS
of the same third party; A—Ff=rma
=
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 4. EEHBRBE (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued) (e) FEABtH (&)

(b)  (continued) () (&)

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity (ivy —HEBARE=F
and the other entity is an associate of the ERNEEE
third entity; ME—EBRZF

ZSHEBNBEQ
=]

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner,

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of property, plant and equipment
includes its purchase price and the costs directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
recognised as a separate asset, as
it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

amount or
appropriate, only when

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. The
useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. The annual rates are as follows:

Office premises Over the shorter of lease

terms or useful life

10% to 20%
10% to 33%

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and
office equipment

Motor vehicles 10% to 25%, over the
shorter of lease terms or
useful life

Land and building 10% to 50%
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the net
its carrying amount,
recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

sale proceeds and and is

Leasing

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for
an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are
leases and/or (ii)
underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected

short-term leases for which the
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for low-value assets and leases for which at the
commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over

the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and
(i) the amount of the
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the

would comprise: initial
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (i) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate
of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. The Group
measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost model.
Under the cost model, the Group measures the
right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Leasing (continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease,
if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid
at the commencement date of the lease are considered
to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable: (ii) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using

right-to-use the

the index or rate as at commencement date; (iii)
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a
purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (ii)
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
and (iii)
reflect any
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in the
lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the

payments made; remeasuring the carrying

amount to reassessment or lease

underlying asset.

Accounting as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
Initial direct costs
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added

the relevant lease. incurred in
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over

the lease term.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Leasing (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum
lease payments and recorded together with the
obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments
under finance leases, are included in property, plant and
equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets.
The finance costs of such leases are charged to the
statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases,
but are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is
the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating
leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals

remain with the lessor are

receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals
payable under operating leases net of any incentives
received from the lessor are charged to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Service concession arrangements

Consideration given by the grantor

A financial asset (receivable under a service concession
arrangement) is recognised to the extent that (a) the
Group has an unconditional contractual right to receive
cash or another financial asset from or at the direction
of the grantor for the construction services; and (b) the
grantor has little, if any, discretion to avoid payment,
usually because the agreement is enforceable by law.
The Group has an unconditional right to receive cash if
the grantor contractually guarantees to pay the Group
(a) specified or determinable amounts or (b) the
shortfall, if any, between amounts received from users
of the public service and specified or determinable
amounts, even if the payment is contingent on the
Group ensuring that the infrastructure meets the
specified quality of efficiency requirements. The financial
asset (receivable under a service concession
arrangement) is accounted for in accordance with the
policy set out for loans and receivables under “Financial
assets” below.

An intangible asset (operating concession) is recognised
to the extent that the Group receives a right to charge
users of the public service, not an
unconditional right to receive cash because the amounts
are contingent on the extent that the public uses the

service. The intangible asset (operating concession) is

which is

accounted for in accordance with the policy set out for
“Intangible assets (other than goodwill)” below.

If the Group is paid for the construction services partly
by a financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, in
which case, each component of the consideration is
accounted for separately and the consideration received
or receivable for both components shall be recognised
initially at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Service concession arrangements (continued)
Construction or upgrade services

Revenue and costs relating to construction or upgrade
services are accounted for in accordance with the policy
set out for “Construction contracts” below.

Operating services

Revenue relating to operating services is accounted for
in accordance with the policy set out for “Revenue
recognition” below. Costs for operating services are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Contractual obligations to restore the
infrastructure to a specific level of serviceability
The Group has contractual obligations which it must
fulfil as a condition of its licence, that is (a) to maintain
the kitchen waste treatment plants it operates to a
specified level of serviceability; and/or (b) to restore the
plants to a specified condition before they are handed
over to the grantor at the end of the service concession
arrangement. These contractual obligations to maintain
or restore the kitchen waste treatment plants, except for
upgrade element, are recognised and measured in
accordance with the policy set out for “Provisions”
below.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(continued)

Operating concessions

Operating concessions represent the rights to operate
kitchen waste treatment plants are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on the
straight-line basis over the respective periods of the
operating concessions granted to the Group of 25 to
30 years.

Patents
Purchased patents are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straightline
basis over their estimated useful economic lives of 5 to
6 years.

Customer list

Customer relationships are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straightline
basis over their estimated useful economic lives of 5
years.

Technologies

Technologies are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful economic lives of 8 years.

Non-compete Agreement

Non-compete Agreement are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straightline
basis over their estimated useful economic lives of 5
years.

Trademark

Trademarks are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful economic lives of 26 years.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments

()

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without
a significant financing component is initially
measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:
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4.

B E2021F3A31H I F &

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

()]

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or

loss.

FVTPL: Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss include financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial recognition
at fair value through profit or loss, or financial
assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair
value. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
repurchasing term.

including separated embedded

selling or in the near
Derivatives,
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not solely payments of principal and interest
are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as
described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss on
initial

recognition if doing so eliminates, or

significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

4.

FTEEHBEME (F)

()

o
(i)

IRGE)
EHEE(F)
EETA(E)
B BEINASYER
BHREREMBTAE M
ZERERERARIN
Ae RAE - BIRE K
REHE - REBHR AT E
MEREEEERAERRF
LR E - FBWA - S
BE Wz B2 B 1R A S BB R
BEER o R FERMNE
o] Wi 28 70 18 25 FE AR

FRBmEATERFE
FBBBRERATEFED
CREERRERHEEEN
ERMEE RYVARERR
BEBBBRREAFER
ENSREENRFBRTE
BAFTEFENERE
E-emMEENRNEH
ALEXBLOMEA - 8l
SERFKEEE -TAT
A(BEBIRANITE
TR BER/FHEHE
5 BRIEREESBNY
HITH RS MEIN I
B NAS RS EE
BENRBEBRREQY
EEDBRTE  TE
BEBEN BRFAE
AASETS T AN R RS
KA ERBBEME
mWEE R FEFENG
o RNE BN R V)56
REBEBEIAEERE
BEDEAFEFTE A
REBRBIETEABERIK
fER D St RACEE -



4,

2021 5H AEEEER)ERAT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 75 R Y =

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

()

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets (continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading,
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
the
comprehensive income. This election is made on
an investment-by-investment basis.
at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value.
Dividend income are recognised in profit or loss
unless the dividend income clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in
other
reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity
instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby
changes in fair value,
income are recognised in profit or loss.

the Group could

investment’s fair value in other
Equity

investments

comprehensive income and are not

dividends and interest

Impairment loss on financial assets
The Group recognises
expected credit loss on trade and
receivables, contract assets,
service concession arrangements, deposits and
other and
consideration receivables. The ECLs are measured
on either of the following bases: (1) 12 months
ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from possible
default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are
ECLs that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

loss allowances for
retention
receivables under
receivables

receivables, loan
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Financial Instruments (continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

(continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The shortfall
discounted at an approximation to the assets’

original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances
for receivable from service
arrangement, trade and retention receivables and
contract assets using HKFRS 9 simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has applied the probability of based on
that of counterparties with similar credit rating,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on the 12-months ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since origination, the allowance will be based on

the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without
includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical
informed credit assessment and forward-looking

undue cost or effort. This

information.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

()

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrate otherwise.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in
default when: (1) the debtor is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset
is more than 90 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more logging default criteria
is more appropriate.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial
assets interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of
directly attributable costs incurred.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 4. EEEHBRME(&2)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j)  Financial Instruments (continued) () =MIRE)
(iii)  Financial liabilities (continued) (i) 2HEEE)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BRI ANG E H) %
BE

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including BEBEKATENSRE
trade and other payables, borrowings, certain EEFEE S & E M FE R
preference shares and the debt element of B EE BETEERE
convertible loan note issued by the Group are RATRITHARRE X
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using EERNERID  Hig
the effective interest method. The related interest {5 A E B B oEIR 55 RK
expense is recognised in profit or loss. At HENEZTHR

= S X
BmMER -

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss W EENKILERE
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as ERARBBEHBRER
through the amortisation process. BmMER -
(iv) Effective interest method (iv) EEFE*

The effective interest method is a method of ERFMEEDNAESHME
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset EdEmEE 2 #BEKA
or financial liability and of allocating interest KA AR 5 F) 8 Uk
income or interest expense over the relevant ARFEZTHEZHE &
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that BAEAERERMEENE
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or BzFEEAFE s (H@EA)
payments through the expected life of the WA B ARG BRI
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a U A S HIEHERL IR 2

shorter period. F & o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

()

v)

(vi)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the original or modified terms
of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract issued by the Group and not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised initially at its fair value less transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contact at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the loss allowance, being the ECL
provision measured in accordance with principles
of the accounting policy set out in note 4(j)ii);
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 4, ETEEFHTBRME (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j)  Financial Instruments (continued) () =T HEE)
(vii) Convertible loan notes (vii) TRBREHERF
Convertible loan notes issued by the Group that AEEBTESAEBNRA
contain both the liability and conversion option MR EARE S 2 AT MR E
components are classified separately into their KEBRR Y6 R D
respective items on initial recognition. Conversion FHERSEBEZHEE - AE
option that will be settled by the exchange of a RS —HeMEE
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset R]|ARRAEZEEEE
for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity AT HETHEE ZA]
instruments is classified as an equity instrument. MR EARE - o ERKRA
TS
On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability RUIRHERE  BEDD
component is determined using the prevailing ZRFEDRECT A E
market interest rate of similar non-convertible HMEH 2 BTmS N EE
debts. The difference between the proceeds of E o BT BMRERER
the issue of the convertible loan notes and the ZIEFHIEEB B D
fair value assigned to the liability component, AEZAFEGIEFSE
representing the conversion option for the holder A EREE K=
to convert the loan notes into equity, is included AR EARE) 2 =R TY
in equity (convertible loan notes equity reserve). SPARER (TRRERE

BRESEE) -

In subsequent periods, the liability component of REZHRB AT RKEER
the convertible loan notes is carried at amortised EBRZEEHMOERAER
cost using the effective interest method. The M KR H P AR B BR -
equity component, represented by the option to RRZA & 5 - BI Al & & 3B
convert the liability component into ordinary DHRBABANREBE 2
shares of the Company, will remain in convertible i BRERNITBRKRE
loan notes equity reserve until the embedded NEBE=RHE B2
option is exercised (in which case the balance BEMERITERIE (R
stated in convertible loan notes equity reserve will BAT ATBmRERER
be transferred to share capital and share EaErzERBEEs
premium. Where the option remains unexercised A AR 2 B 1 4 (B) o fis HA
at the expiry dates, the balance stated in BRER B B ARET
convertible loan notes equity reserve will be £ AR AR EREE
released to the retained earnings. No gain or loss EmEE G mERE
is recognised upon conversion or expiration of the REBETF - B H s R
option. HA B 1 2 e R R Al U 5

A -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

()]

(vii)

(viii)

Convertible loan notes (continued)
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability
and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of the proceeds. Transaction costs
relating to the equity component are charged
directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability portion and amortised over
the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows in
relation to the financial asset expire or when the
financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial
liability in whole or in part as a result of
renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid and
are recognised initially and measured at their fair
value on the date the financial liability or part
thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the
equity instruments issued cannot be reliably
measured, the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability
extinguished. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability or part thereof
extinguished and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss for the year.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

U]

(m)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-
out basis and, in the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which will probably result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Income tax
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are nonassessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

4.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill, if any, and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits,
deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to
the expected manner in which the carrying amount of
the asset or liability is realised or settled and that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
reporting period.

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in measuring
deferred tax amount is when an investment property is
carried at fair value under HKAS 40 “Investment
Property”.
deferred tax amounts on these investment properties
are measured using the tax rates that would apply on
sale of these investment properties at their carrying
amounts at the reporting date. The presumption is

Unless the presumption is rebutted, the

rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than
through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed. Where the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to the statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to the
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest for the
construction of a qualifying asset, the initial carrying
amount of the government loans is determined using
the effective interest rate method, as further explained
in the accounting policy for “Financial liabilities” above.
The benefit of the government loans granted with no or
at a below-market rate of interest, is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the
received,
government grant and released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

which

loans and the proceeds is treated as a

4.

FTEEHBEME (F)

(n)

L A 46 BY

A #78 Bh 30 BE
Hu 8 B o i 15
FRAFERR - S/MER
XEBEBE XM A
BEHRAXHOBBARE R
BREERER A UA o fiH ¥ B) B
BEAR MAFESFTAR
EWARR - YREBEENTR
AERFHANEESES B
WK R BaER AREER
HEEBED NG RALTRTE
XHR A REBER -

A I W E 5 e Uk
B R A M R

=
=
X

fid AN &= [ W BX B0 BT B AR T A
T R AR T T 5 6 ) 3K gt B
BRREARMBERY RAIBAE
ROERASES N EXE
BMEBEINSHRRE—SM
o MRERNEEEE - LT
MEFERTIZONEE L
BT &R A & (R E R84 R
HERDKRAEREZRNZE
#) R RBTHE BB IE - WA A8
MEENEAERFHANE
FERDHYFIINRBER



For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is

and constrained until

subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the Group a significant financial benefit
for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method. For
a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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4.

B E2021F3A31H I F &

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group satisfied a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

— The customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s

performance as the Group performs.

—  The Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced.

—  The Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternate use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If none of the above conditions are met, the Group
recognises revenue at the point in time at which the
performance obligation is satisfied.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise,
recognised at a point in time when the customer

revenue is

obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the
Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the surveyors’
assessment of work performed and the costs incurred
up to the end of the reporting period as a percentage
of total estimated costs for each contract.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Revenue recognition (continued)

When the Group provides more than one service in a
service concession arrangement, the transaction price
will be allocated to each performance obligation by
reference to their relative stand-alone selling prices. If
the standalone selling prices are not directly observable,
they are estimated based on expected cost plus a
margin or adjusted market assessment approach,
depending on the availability of observable information.
In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of
a financing component if it is significant.

(a) Construction service revenue

The Group’'s performance in respect of
construction services creates or enhances an asset
or work in progress that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced, thus the Group
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, by reference to completion of
the specific transaction assessed on the basis of
the surveyors’ assessment of work performed and
the costs incurred up to the end of the reporting
period as a percentage of total estimated costs
for each contract.

Revenue from the construction services under a
service concession arrangement is estimated on a
cost plus basis with reference to a prevailing
market rate of gross margin at the date of the
agreement applicable to similar construction
services rendered.

(b) Service fee income
The Group recognised revenue when the related
services are rendered.

(c) Industrial fluids system services income
The Group recognised revenue from industrial
fluids system services when the related services
are rendered.
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4.

B E2021F3A31H I F &

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Machinery rental income is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Financial guarantee service fee income is recognised
proportion basis over the contract terms.

Revenue from the sales of construction materials is
recognised at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, generally when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal
title of the construction materials and the Group has
present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is portable.

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for services that the Group
has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Contract asset is recognised when (i) the Group
completes the infrastructure construction works under
such services contracts but yet certified by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by
customers, or (i) the customers retain retention money
to secure the due performance of the contracts. Any
amount previously recognised as a contract asset is
reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it
is invoiced to the customer. If the considerations
(including advances received from customers) exceeds
the revenue recognised to date under the output
method then the Group recognises a contract liability

for the difference.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Employees (including directors) and
consultants of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees and
consultants render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
and others providing similar services is measured by
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at
the date at which they are granted. The cost of equity-
settled transactions with parties other than employees is
measured directly at the fair value of the goods or
services received, unless that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably,
measured indirectly by reference to the fair value of the

equity instruments granted.

in which case the fair value is

The fair value of the share options granted is
determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 34 to
the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in

employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning

and end of that period.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date
but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s

fair value of awards,

best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are
reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other
conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also

service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have not
been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards
include a market or
transactions are treated as vesting
whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

non-vesting condition, the
irrespective of

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if
the terms had not been modified, if the original terms
of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(a)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

Other employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits
Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that are
expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of each reporting period in
which the employees render the related service.
Short term employee benefits are recognised in
the period when the employees render the related
service.

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement

plans are recognised as an expense in the profit

or loss when the services are rendered by the

employees.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

(iii)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
case, the exchange differences are also recognised in

other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the rates approximating to
those ruling when the transactions took place are used.
All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting
period.
recognised
accumulated in equity as exchange reserve. Exchange
differences recognised in profit or loss of group entities’
separate financial statements on the translation of long-
term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net

Exchange differences arising, if any, are

in other comprehensive income and

investment in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other income and

accumulated in equity as exchange reserve.

comprehensive
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased:

o property, plant and equipment under cost model
o investments in subsidiaries
o goodwill and intangible assets

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
HKFRS, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that
HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset or cash
generating unit, discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or cash generating unit.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations
(i)  Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are
classified as held for sale when:

. they are available for immediate sale;

o management is committed to a plan to sell;

o it is unlikely that significant changes to the
plan will be made or that the plan will be
withdrawn;

o an active programme to locate a buyer has

been initiated;

o the asset or disposal group is being
marketed at a reasonable price in relation
to its fair value; and

o a sale is expected to be completed within
12 months from the date of classification.

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of:

o their carrying amount immediately prior to
being classified as held for sale in
accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy; and

. fair value less costs to sell.

Following their classification as held for sale, non-
current assets (including those in a disposal
group) are not depreciated.

The results of operations disposed of during the
year are included in profit or loss up to the date
of disposal.
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4, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (continued)

(ii)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group's business, the operations and cash flows
of which can be clearly distinguished from the
rest of the Group and which represents a
separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a part of a single co-
ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or
is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs
upon disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier.
It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented on the face of the
statement of profit or loss, which comprises the
post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation and post-tax gain or loss recognised on
the measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or
on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group
constituting the discontinued operation.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and

the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these

assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

(a)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Determination of functional currency

The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the
respective functional currencies of the Company and its
subsidiaries. In determining the functional currency of
each entity in the Group, judgement is required to
determine and consider the currency that mainly
influences sales prices of goods and services and of the
country/jurisdiction whose competitive forces and
regulations mainly determine the sales prices of goods
and services; the currency that mainly influences labour,
materials and other costs of providing goods or services;
the currency in which funds from financing activities are
generated; and the currency in which receipts from
operating activities are usually retained. The functional
currency of each entity in the Group is determined
based on management’'s assessment of the primary
economic environment in which the entities operate.
When the indicators are mixed and the functional
currency is not obvious, management uses its
judgement to determine the functional currency that
most faithfully represents the economic effects of the
underlying transactions, events and conditions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Judgements (continued)

Income taxes

The Group has exposure to income taxes in different
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in
determining the provision for income taxes. Determining
income tax provisions involves judgement on the future
tax treatment of certain transactions and interpretation
of tax The Group carefully evaluates tax
implications of transactions and tax provisions are set up

accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is

rules.

reconsidered periodically to take into account all
changes in tax legislation, interpretations and practices

in respect thereof.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are

described below.

Construction work and service contracts

The Group recognises revenue for construction work
and service contracts according to the percentage of
completion of the individual contracts of construction
work or service. The Group’s management estimates the
percentage of completion of construction work and
service based on the actual cost incurred over the total
budgeted cost, where corresponding contract revenue is
also estimated by management. Because of the nature
of the activity undertaken in construction and service
contracts, the date at which the activity is entered into
and the date when the activity is completed usually fall
into different accounting periods. The Group reviews
and revises the estimates of both contract revenue and
in the budget prepared for each
construction contract and service contract as the
contract progresses.

contract costs
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

B E2021F3A31H I F &

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Classification between operating concessions and
receivables under service concession
arrangements

As explained in note 4(h) to the financial statements, if
the Group is paid for the construction services partly by
a financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, it is
necessary to account separately for each component of
the consideration. The consideration received or
receivable for both components shall be recognised
initially at their fair values.

The segregation of the consideration for a service
concession arrangement between the financial asset
component and the intangible asset component, if any,
requires the Group to make an estimate of a number of
factors, which include, inter alia, future guaranteed
receipts and non-guaranteed receipts,
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.

and also to

Determination of fair value of contract revenue
in respect of the construction services rendered
Revenue from the construction of kitchen waste
treatment plants under the terms of a BOT contract is
estimated on a cost-plus basis with reference to a
prevailing market rate of profit margin at the date of
the agreement applicable to similar construction services
rendered in a similar location, and is recognised on the
percentage-of-completion method, measured by
reference to the proportion of costs incurred to date to
the estimated total cost of the relevant contract.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Determination of fair value of contract revenue
in respect of the construction services rendered
(continued)

The construction margin is determined based on the
gross profit margins of market comparables by
identifying relevant peer groups, which are listed on
various stock exchanges. Criteria for selection include:

(i) the peer firm must be in the field of the
construction of infrastructure, majoring in kitchen
waste treatment facilities in the PRC; and

(ii) information of the peer firm must be available and
from a reliable source.

Useful lives and residual values of items of
property, plant and equipment and other
intangible assets

In determining the useful lives and residual values of
items of property, plant and equipment and other
intangible assets, the Group has to consider various
factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvements in provision of
services, or from a change in the market demand for
the product or service output of the assets, the
expected usage of the assets, the expected physical
wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the assets,
legal or similar limits on the use of the assets and
historical Adjustment of depreciation/
amortisation is made if the estimated useful lives and/or
the residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment and other intangible assets are different
from previous estimation. Useful
values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least
at the end of each reporting period, based on any
changes in circumstances.

experience.

lives and residual
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair
value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management

recoverable. An

must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
three reportable operating segments as follows:

(a)  Construction works segment engages in the provision of
foundation works, civil engineering works and general
building works in Hong Kong;

(b)  Environmental protection segment engages in the
construction and operation of kitchen waste treatment
plants in the PRC and the engineering, procurement
and construction of kitchen waste and water treatment
business in the PRC (together with the construction
work segment “continuing
operations”); and

referred to as the

(c)  Industrial fluids system services segment engages in the
provision of industrial fluid system services in Nordic

area (under Vimab Holding AB, “Vimab”) (the
“discontinued operation”).
Vimab was indebted to a fund (the “Fund”) in the

principal of SEK131,000,000 (approximately HK$101,509,000)
pursuant to a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”)
entered into between Vimab (as borrower) and the Fund (as
lender). Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the indebtedness
should have been repaid in full on 16 April 2021, and such
indebtedness was secured (the “Pledge”) by all the issued
shares of Vimab (the “Pledged Shares”). According to the
Loan Agreement, the Fund has the right to call for immediate
full repayment. The Fund enforced the Pledge and transferred
all the Pledged Shares to a company designated by the Fund
on or around 7 April 2020 without any instrument entered by
the holding company of Vimab and the Company. As such,
Vimab ceased to be the subsidiary subsequent to such
enforcement of Pledged Shares, and was regarded as a
discontinued operation in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
Accordingly, the related financial information of the industrial
fluids system services was not included in the operating
segment information from the continuing operations and the
comparative information was also reclassified to conform with
the current period’s presentation. Further details of the
discontinued operation are set out in note 8.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss
before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax except that
interest income, finance costs, fair value change from the
Group’s financial instruments as well as head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets mainly exclude cash and cash equivalents and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude certain of other payables, bonds,
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities, and other unallocated
head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at
the then prevailing market prices.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143/31H I FZ

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WENIMEHE (&
(continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021 HF2021FE3A31H L EE

Discontinued

Continuing operations operation

CRLEE

REREER %

Construction  Environmental Industrial fluids
works protection Sub-total system services  Consolidated

I%$keE
BETE RE Mgt EX 4] Fa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET TET THET TET

(note 8(b))

(Mt EE8(b))

Disaggregated by timing of RIEARREEHF D :
revenue recognition:

Point in time s B — 69,211 69,211 - 69,211
Over time I B 504,913 - 504,913 — 504,913
Revenue from other sources H it 5OR KA — 17,399 17,399 - 17,399

Revenue and sales to external MR EEL R

customers BARBHER 504,913 86,610 591,523 - 591,523
Reconciliation: B -
Segment results RS 17,644 (38,175) (20,531) - (20,531)
Reconciliation: H -
Interest income FI S WA 34 — 34
Corporate and unallocated income A& k& A ERA K

and gains g 754 — 754
Corporate and unallocated NGNS R

expenses (8,808) — (8,808)
Finance costs B A (38,294) — (38,294)
Loss before tax BT BT B 1R (66,845) — (66,845)
Segment assets DHEE 243,520 773,159 1,016,679 — 1,016,679
Reconciliation: Hk:
Corporate and unallocated assets AFRADEEE 66,686 — 66,686

Total assets BEHAE 1,083,365 — 1,083,365
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t £202143/31H I F/Z

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. FTERBER (=7
(continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021 #BE2021#3A31HILLEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BRILES
REGEEE %
Construction Environmental Industrial fluids
works protection Sub-total system services  Consolidated
I%RE
EZIR R it RERE Ga
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TET TET TEL TET
(note 8(b))
(M=£8(b))
Segment liabilities HBEMRE 338,116 520,504 858,620 - 858,620
Reconciliation: : B -
Corporate and unallocated liabilitles A FRIRASEEE 89,080 - 89,080
Total liabilities ARAE 947,700 — 947,700
Other segment information: Hip R s :
Depreciation & 21,612 3,151 30,763 - 30,763
Amortisation of operating concessions 4% % 45 &F 1 % 3 - 5,809 5,809 - 5,809

Reversal of Expected credit loss RRANBERN

("ECL") financial and contract EHEEFE(E

assets HERER) AL (3.715) (1,687) (5:402) - (5402)
Impairment of goodwill EERE - 1,128 1,128 - 1,128
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

A 75 R Y =

B E2021F3A31H 1 F &

6. EEFMER (=

Year ended 31 March 2020 #XE2020F3A31B L FE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BRIEEE
Construction  Environmental Industrial fluids
works protection Sub-total  system services Consolidated
T¥neE
BETR RR NE 2o R RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAEL THET FTET THET FTHET
(note 8(b))
(fii E8(b))
Disaggregated by timing of ~ ZWARREEFD
revenue recognition:
Point in time ik — 96,786 96,786 188,552 285,338
Over time e B i 535,032 o= 535,032 — 535,032
Revenue from other sources £t BB U A — 16,798 16,798 — 16,798
Revenue and sales to external HSNEE B {EHH
customers BAREESR 535,032 113,584 648,616 188,552 837,168
Reconciliation: Hi
Segment results PBEE (13,661) (100,724) (114,385) (166,938) (281,323)
Reconciliation: ik
Interest income FEWA 504 — 504
Corporate and unallocated A A RAZ BURA R
income and gains W 2% (135) 2,584 2,449
Corporate and unallocated ~ R AR AD X
expenses (21,172) 7,286 (13,886)
Finance costs KR (33,314) (13,489) (46,803)
Loss before tax R AER (168,502) (170,557) (339,059)
Segment assets NiPEE 278,273 822,698 1,100,971 171,312 1,272,283
Reconciliation: HE
Corporate and unallocated ~ RRIR KD EEE
assets 25,394 4,423 29,817
Total assets EEHE 1,126,365 175,735 1,302,100
| *}} 'Y
i ;
/ 3 l% &
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z£20214#3H31H i F/Z&

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. BEDWEE (&
(continued)

Discontinued

Continuing operations operation
BRIEEE
FEREEH 5%
Construction  Environmental Industrial fluids
works protection Sub-total  system services Consolidated
IXneE
BEEIR RIR et 25 R TE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL TR FTET TET
(note 8(b))
(Fii&E8(b))
Segment liabilities PBWERE 429,696 454,068 883,764 151,586 1,035,350
Reconciliation: ik
Corporate and unallocated ~ AAIR AN EEE
liabilities 96,572 15,953 112,525
Total liabilities BEER 980,336 167,539 1,147,875
Other segment Hith s :
information:
Depreciation nE 27,499 6,248 33,747 D25 44,472
Amortisation of operating LT
concessions — 16,430 16,430 — 16,430
Amortisation of other HttmEESH
intangible assets — — — 11,804 11,804
ECL on financial and contract &R M A NEEHN
assets EREEER 1,320 36,608 37,928 (14) 37,914
Impairment of property, plant % « #22 %
and equipment RERE — — — 678 678
Impairment of goodwill HERE - 1,304 1,304 138,594 139,898
Impairment of operating BERT A
concession — 52,399 52,399 — 52,399
Impairment of other intangible £ & & & 5 (&
assets — — — 777 777
Gain on disposal of equity ~ HEBVLERAF
interest in Stand Ascant RAEE e

Limited = (29,349) (29,349) = (29,349)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. HEERBEH (&
(continued)
Geographical information 138 & 4
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEIEBEFEBIA
2020
HK$'000
FABT
Hong Kong BB 504,913 535,032
Mainland China A B A 86,610 113,584
591,523 648,616
The revenue information above is based on the FHRWABRUNERPUE BE
locations of the customers. Tt o
(b) Non-current assets (b) FHEEE
2020
HK$'000
FABT
Hong Kong BB 93,577 119,454
Mainland China AR A 89,831 300,112
183,408 419,566
The non-current asset information above is based on the L RBEEENAEEM

locations of the assets and excludes financial assets. ELER THERESMEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z£20214#3H31H i F/Z&

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. FEENWER (&
(continued)
Information about major customers FEEFREH
Revenue from external customers of the Group’s construction LATARBINBEPHBARKEE
segment who contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue BETRES P mAEEBKA SR
as follows: #10% :
2020
HK$'000
FAT
Client A BEEA N/AT 3 83,764
Client B =2FEB 140,164 N/AAS 38 A *
Client C ®PC 113,493 N/AZ 38 A *
Client D ZED 76,889 N/AZTS 3@ B *
330,546 83,764
* Revenue did not contribute over 10% of the Group’s revenue for the * REEFETERASEERATRE10%

corresponding years. B A o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 7.
NET

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains, net, from
continuing operations is as follows:

H%)\ Bt e A B W a i F
fi

REFELEEBHRA - EMRA
NS FBODFTOT

2020
HK$'000
FET
Revenue from contracts KEBEESHBHIKA
with customers
Construction works RETRE 504,913 535,032
Environmental protection R IR
— operational income — EERA 69,211 96,786
Subtotal Nt 574,124 631,818
Revenue from other sources H fth R E U A
Environmental protection R IR
— financial income — B A 17,399 16,798
591,523 648,616
Timing of revenue recognition W \ & 52 B [
Goods or services transferred at RE—RHEEN
a point in time B m sk AR % 69,211 96,786
Service transferred over time e B ) 2 9 R 7S 504,913 535,032
574,124 631,818
Other income H it g A
Bank interest income R1TH B U A 34 504
Gain on disposal of equity interest HEEZARAA
in Stand Ascent Limited ([&]) B R W=
(“Stand Ascent”) (note a) (Pff 5Fa) — 29,349
Financial guarantee service fee income B ERREERA 2,619 2,633
Machinery rental income BB 2 A 7,630 683
Rental income AL WA 870 23
Government grants (note b) BT 4 Bh (Bt 5Eb) 8,028 3,522
Release of deferred income B BUERE A 507 599
Sales of construction materials BEVEHEE 2,735 —
Others H A 176 357
22,599 37,670
Gains, net WisigEE
Gain on disposal of property, plant and H&EWE  HEF
equipment % 16 B U 2 141 3,163
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) i & KB A 7 A UK 2§
(P 5£39) 27,872 25
Exchange gain PE 5, U 2= 6,212 =
34,225 3,163
56,824 40,833
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

7. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,
NET (continued)
The following table provides information about trade and
retention receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities
from contracts with customers.

WA~ bl A R m %
#](E)
TRREBEURAEFANNESE
WHERERRBS  ANEERA
WEEHER -

31 March
2020
2020%F
3A31H
HK$
BT

Trade and retention receivables B 5 FE W IE K eI
(note 22) REB & (H5E22) 141,998 191,412
Contract assets (note 21(a)) AHEE (MsE21@)) 12,215 7,283
Contract liabilities (note 21(b)) A X B E M E210)) 7,253 4,854

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's rights to
consideration for work completed but not billed at the
reporting date on revenue related to the provisions of
infrastructure construction. The contract assets are transferred
to receivables when the rights become unconditional. This
usually occurs when the Group provides the invoice to the
customers.

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance
consideration received from customers out of which
approximately HK$4,854,000 (2020: HK$3,247,000) of the
contract liabilities as of 31 March 2020 has been recognised
as revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021 due to
completion of some works.

As at 31 March 2021, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group’s existing contracts is
approximately HK$504,912,000 (2020: HK$629,397,000). This
amount represents revenue expected to be recognised in the
future from partially-completed long-term construction
contracts. The Group will recognise the expected revenue in
future when or as the work is completed, which is expected
to occur in the next 12 to 36 months.

BRHEETEEASEREHERR
ERERES HHE T TEFERRK
AREZZENTRKIMKENENF
B o BB ERZENK R EGIR
BREEERFE - UBBAERAKH
AEFPHARERELE -

AHBEZEHART P KEMENRE
BRI P R2020F3831BA N EE
#94,854,0007%8 7T (20207 : 3,247,000/
TREFTIREIMEERAEE
2021F3A31B IEFEMA ©

R202163A318 ' pEEEAEERA
AHETHBBENETNRFERE
%8 #) /A504,912,0007% 7T (20204 :
629,397,000 7T) c Z £ XI5 HETE
HERBo T IHNRIRES HER
WA - AEEBNRIRT LRER
KRIRFEHMWA - B TRBR KK
Z36MARNTEL °
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 7. Hg A - Hihdg \ Ry 5%

NET (continued) M=)

Note: B 5

(a) The gain on disposal of equity interest in Stand Ascent arising from (a) EHEZEFTNG —RIXRZ R HBE
series of transactions and agreements with various parties as below: B S AR ) e
As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 22 AR A | B A20165E1 4228 -
January 2016, 23 March 2016, 6 April 2016, 14 ‘April 2016, 30 201693 H23H * 2016F486H ~ 2016
May 2016, 21 June 2016, 21 September 2016, 24 April 2017, 20 F48148 2016558308 201656
October 2017 and 6 July 2018, the Group entered into a series of A21H - 201659A21H « 201744824
agreements in relation to potential acquisitions of a 49% equity H 2017410 A20H K&2018547 A6 H &Y
interest in PT. Dempo Sumber Energi (“DSE”) and a 80% equity NPT & - AN & B B 3EPT. Dempo
interest in PT. Sumatera Pembangkit Mandiri (“SPM”) and Sumber Energi ([ DSE |) #949% % #E - PT.
subsequent potential acquisition of additional 5% equity interest in Sumatera Pembangkit Mandiri ([ SPM |)
SPM. DSE and SPM are limited liability companies incorporated in 80 % AR 2 LA K2 EL 12 7T B Y5 BB SPM 55 90
Indonesia and are principally engaged in the development of 5% RN EERBEEI Y —ER1H
hydropower stations in Indonesia. % o DSERSPMA R ENE s it B 32 9

BRom TEENEERKNEER-

In addition to the acquisition deposits, the Group paid certain RIEEER I - AEEBRDSEX
expenses on behalf of DSE and advanced loans to DSE, SPM, Mr. Xu & FHX - WHADSE * SPM - &5 %
Peng (“Mr. Xu”) and Mr. Muhammad Yamin Kahar (“Mr. £ (% % &£1) EMuhammad Yamin
Muhammad”). Mr. Xu and Mr. Muhammad were beneficial Kaharc 4 ([ Muhammad 5 4 |) 244 &
shareholders of DSE and SPM. R o R 58 £ K Muhammad 5t 4 A DSE &

SPME) & 2 IR 3R ©

As the collateral to secure the repayment of acquisition deposits EV (AAARBEEENEZEHNEBAR

and the advanced expenses and loans, 28,420 Class A shares of A)) JEE #28,4200%DSE AR (HE

DSE (representing 49% of the equity interest in DSE) and 800 FADSE  49% % #) &% 800k SPM & iff fi%

ordinary shares of SPM (representing 80% of the equity interest in (FBE R SPMB0% Ik ) » 1ERUEE1E

SPM) were transferred to the Stand Ascent, a wholly owned BEARRAITIRERBERERERD

subsidiary indirectly held by the Company. The Group also Ei o AEE B ZEDSE 6B EF

appointed 4 out of 6 directors of DSE and 5 out of 7 directors of H A48 RSPM 72 EFHF5H - K&K

SPM. The Group’s nominated directors in DSE and SPM resigned B ADSERSPMiE Z M EFEHE H

before the date of disposal. Al B 1E ©

On 20 October 2017, the sale and purchase agreement for DSE was 720174108208 * DSEE & 17 3% B &

terminated and a deed of termination and indemnification (the 1F - REE - %554 - DSEEEMuhammad

“DSE Termination Deed”) was entered into between the Group, Mr. ST R 1 RRE 2 & ([ DSEAR 1E 2

Xu, DSE and Mr. Muhammad. B e

Y ‘

57 ﬂ|]L,.f
{ I
I A
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7. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 7. WA - Hilr A R Ug 5%
NET (continued) NG

Note: (continued) B 5E - (/?:E)

The Group entered into (i) a disposal agreement with £& 2 {2 £ g
JRABBR A A (“Fujian Jiahe”) and (i) the second supplemental deed
to the disposal agreement on 29 June 2018 and 15 August 2019
respectively (collectively “Disposal Agreement”) to dispose of 100%
equity interest in Stand Ascent (which held 49% equity interest in
DSE and 85% equity interest in SPM) at an aggregate consideration
of HK$50,932,000. The consideration represented (i) US$2,205,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$17,199,000) (based on the value of
the 49% equity interest in DSE); and (i) US$4,324,800 (equivalent
to approximately HK$33,733,000) (based on the value of the 85%
equity interest in SPM).

On disposal of Stand Ascent, the total aggregate amount paid/
advanced in relation to the series of transactions mentioned above
(collectively as “Payments”) was approximately HK$70,269,000. The
Group have recognised an impairment provision of HK$15,854,000
during the year ended 31 March 2018. No further impairment
provision made against the Payments afterward. As at the date of
the Disposal, after netting off the impairment provision of
HK$15,854,000, the carrying amount of the Payments was of
approximately HK$54,415,000.

Up to the date before disposal, the Group have received an
aggregate amount of HK$83,764,000 from the buyer in the
Disposal Agreement and its beneficial controlling shareholder (the
“Money Received”).

On 15 August 2019, the Group entered into a settlement
agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) in relation to the
settlement of consideration for the Disposal Agreement (the
“Consideration”). According to the Settlement Agreement, the
Consideration will be settled by the amount due by the Group to
the buyer and its beneficial controlling shareholder for the Money
Received. The amount of Money Received in excess of the
consideration was agreed to be waived.

On 17 September 2019, Fujian Jiahe provided a confirmation to the
Group in respect of the completion of the Disposal Agreement,
pursuant to which the Company’s obligations under the Disposal
Agreement has been fulfilled and discharged. During the year
ended 31 March 2020, the Group has recognised a gain on
disposal of the equity interests in Stand Ascent of HK$29,349,000.

Included in profit or loss is HK$6,956,000 (2020: Nil) of government
grants obtained from Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) under
the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Hong Kong SAR
Government supporting the payroll of the Group’'s employees.
Under the ESS, the Group had to commit to spend these grants on
payroll expenses, and not reduce employee head count below
prescribed levels for a specified period of time. The Group does not
have other unfulfilled obligations relating to this program.

AEE D BIR201846 A298 20194
8HISHEBEEMERERAE ([A
BAERD) FT () & 2 R & 5
FHNE_OHEAZERE(GBAILER
#1) - LA & B (33 B DSE 49% Ak #E
K SPM85% % #) #1100% A% # « 4 X
f& //50,932,000% - B & &
()2,205,0003 7t (48 5 74 917,199,000
7S 70) (JZDSE49% I M BETE): &
(ii)4,324,8003 7t (#8535 1 #933,733,000
7 7T) (3 ASPM  85% A% #E B9 (B & &t
H) -

REEBEAE S EXFRERRS
EXf BERMBREHEBRIZEN
1A ]) & #£49/570,269,000/8 7T - AEE
REE2018563A310 I EEERARE
£ 1£515,854,0008 T - H&BERZE
RIERBEREBE RNLESHEA
HA + 7 40 B& 15,854,000/ JT i (B B &
% ZEXRENEEDLSENAR
54,415,000/ JT °

HEHLEMN—ALL - AEEEREE
HENESREESERBREKRA
$£83,764,0007% 7t ([ B W k| ) -

201968 A15H - AL BB BFELHE
e K E (R BT A=
(TAfRpZE]) - BBRMFRZE  KER
LAEERERAERNESRELE
HERBRENREEE-THAEHE
HEREEMRBBEREOEE -

MR2019F9A17H - BEEMERMASE
ERERLERECDETK - Bt - A
AIRNHERHEETHEBERBITLR
B RELZ20206F3A31HLEEE - &
CEEHALEE L RENH K
29,349,000/% T °

=t A 18 25 #96,956,000/8 7T (20204 :
&) BRE BB RIITIRE BT H# LA
B & & & 18 TRt Z 5t 8l (R E %5t
BB HE ANTELAEEE
IHIE - RREEEEIT - XEEE
AEFERG N EMBBRFIRS
WARRIEEHEARKEZELRATR
EAB -AEBWEH A MKTE
MABITEME -
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8(a). LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax, from continuing operations, is
arrived at after charging/(crediting):

8(a). B ¥i il K5 18
7R 5 B R 45 A4S TS 0 R B B I
BRME/ (G A) FHIEAR %2

B

2020
Notes HK$'000
Bt = FAT
Cost of inventories sold EEFERAK 10,093 33,433
Cost of construction works BRETRERA 452,195 482,743
Cost of engineering, REIE HKERZEE
procurement and construction AR #5 A A
services rendered 37,353 32,952
Cost of kitchen waste 12t 2 B by 3 R 1B AR 7
treatment services rendered 39N 44,271 52,506
Write down on inventories 17 & #f 38 23,946 —
Auditor’s remuneration % 26N B & 1,450 2,200
Depreciation e 14
— Owned property, plant and — BEWZE  #EN
equipment B 28,031 30,901
— Right-of-use-assets included — 5t A F%IIE B &
within EREEE
— office premises — WREYE 2,325 2,551
— motor vehicles — AE 407 295
Amortisation of operating KRR AT R O
concessions 16(a) 5,809 16,430
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss,  4ME (Ukz%) /K518 558
net (6,212) S|
Employee benefit expense RERBARAEZ(TEIE
(excluding directors’ EEEHM(FFE10)):
remuneration (note 10)):
Wages, salaries, bonuses, BE ST RS I
allowances and benefits in =B R E YR 5
kind 106,694 108,106
Equity-settled share option LARE 2 45 B HY
expense FER R — 5,048
Pension scheme contributions R K & &5 24 3
(defined contribution (R EHREED
schemes) 5,008 6,393
111,702 119,547
Impairment of goodwill EHERE 5 1,128 1,304
Impairment of operating AT R E
concessions 16 — 527899
Loss on discontinued operation 2 #R I 48 & % 1 /& 18 8(b) 320 =
Other expenses, net HibFXiF8E 1,448

53703 ol
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8(b).Discontinued operations
The results of the Industrial Fluids Services for the year ended
31 March 2021 (since 1 April 2020 up to enforcement of
shares on or around 7 April 2020) and the corresponding

8(b).ERIEEELF
TERERKEE 202138318 1b
FZ(H20205F4 818 #£ £202054 A
7 B % Al 12 98 % 1T AR 17 1) K AR FE HA

period are presented below:

MEOEEZ5 0T

2020
HK$'000
FA T
Revenue N — 188,552
Cost of sales $HE A — (50,820)
Gross profit EF — 137,732
Other income and gains, net - NS B D — 3,000
Reversal of expected credit loss of BocmEEREEE
financial assets &1 — 14
Administrative expenses TR X — (157,765)
Finance costs B & P A — (13,489)
Other expenses H A& — (1,455)
Impairment loss of goodwill EE R EE R — (138,594)
Loss before tax from discontinued REBRIELEETD
operation B 5 A1 &S 18 — (170,557)
Income tax credit FriS i & — 5,361
Loss for the year from discontinued REERIEREEBHH
operation FAEE — (165,196)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

8(b).ERIEEEER(&F
ERLEEEBATHRLBREE

8(b).Discontinued operations (continued)
The assets and liabilities under discontinued operation upon

derecognised were as follows: REaEmT :
Notes
B 5

Property, plant and equipment Y - R KRB 14 45,160
Other intangible assets Hih\EEEE 17 51,785
Inventories FE 34,369
Trade and retention receivables 2 5 FE W IE R E IR

RE< 19,403
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TETFRIE - 1R E R HE A

F& W R IR 6,068
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss #iBIEz5Z A FEFEH 19

TREE 10,804
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEEYD 4,423
Trade and retention payables B 5 R RE R E A

RE & (11,717)
Other payables and accruals HibENREREER (25,822)
Lease liabilities HEAE (4,940)
Tax payables FE ST R IR (1,031)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings TERITREMEER (113,260)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBAE 32 (14,922)

320

Loss on discontinued operation BERIEEEEBRER 8(a) (320)
Total consideration BB —

HZ2021F3A318 L FE (H2020F4 A1
H#£ 2202094 A7 H sk A 14 58 HI A 1T R 17
) REESEE ERELREELRAR
ReReFHEEeHET

The net cash flows incurred by discontinued operation for the
year ended 31 March 2021 (since 1 April 2020 up the
enforcement of shares on or around 7 April 2020) and the
corresponding period are as follows:

2020
HK$'000
FAET
Net cash flows from operating REKLE ARG
activities mEFE — (27)
Net cash flows used in investing KEFSHMANE S
activities mEF — 3,720
Net cash flow used in financing BEEHMANES
activities mEF - (3,213)
Net increase in cash and cash ReRRESEEY
equivalent B 5 38 AN —
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8(b).Discontinued operations (continued) 8(b).ERILEEXERE (Z

Note:

Vimab Holding AB (”“Vimab”) had an outstanding borrowing of
SEK131,000,000 (approximately HK$101,509,000) from a creditor (the
“Fund”) which should be repaid on a one-off manner on 16 April 2021.
Pursuant to the loan agreement, the Fund can terminate the loan
agreement and demand immediate full repayment of the loan if any of the
following events occurs:

(i) Vimab is in delay with payment of interest or other payment for more
than two weeks;

(ii) any pledge/collateral pledged for the Loan is significantly
deteriorated, and after 30 days from the notification by the Fund,
the Fund does not consider that an acceptable explanation and plan
of action have been corrected or presented by Vimab;

(iii) it is clear that Vimab will not be able to pay the remainder of the
entire loan together with interest and default interest; and/or

(iv) any of the terms of the loan agreement have not been complied
with, and after 30 days from the notification by the Fund, the Fund
considers the matter has not been remedied.

As security to the loan, Vimab pledged all the issued shares in each of
Vimab and its subsidiaries to the Fund (“Pledged Shares”). Pursuant to such
loan agreement, if Vimab fails to fulfill its obligations thereunder and being
alerted of the same, the Fund is entitled, without prior notice to Vimab, to
enforce the pledge and sell the Pledged Shares in the manner and under
the terms that the Fund deems appropriate and which are most
economically efficient to cover its costs and outstanding indebtedness
under the loan agreement.

Throughout the period from the commencement of the loan agreement up
to 31 March 2020, Vimab has complied with its obligation to pay the
interest according to the terms of the loan agreement. Nevertheless, the
Fund expressed concern on the liquidity of Vimab in late March 2020 and
requested the Company to finance Vimab within a short period of time.
Despite the Company attempted to negotiate with the Fund to resolve the
aforesaid concerns and sought for extension of time, the Fund served a
termination notice of the loan agreement to Vimab and demanded for
immediate full repayment of the outstanding indebtedness thereunder on
3 April 2020. On 7 April 2020, the Company was notified by Vimab that
the Fund informed Vimab that the Fund requested to transfer the Pledged
Shares to a company designated by the Fund and Vimab updated its
register of shareholder pursuant to the Fund’s request on 9 April 2020.

As such, the outstanding borrowing of SEK131,000,000 (approximately
HK$101,509,000) from the Fund was classified as current secured other
borrowings (note 29) as of 31 March 2020, and the event also result in the
impairment recognised for goodwill (note 15), intangible assets (Note 17)
and property, plant and equipment (note 14) related to Vimab.

M RE

Vimab Holding AB ([ Vimab |) B —£#& &k —%
BEREA(ZESR])HAREEEE131,000,000
I #2573 BA (#9101,509,000% 7T) * X EE & &
R2021F48168 — R BEE - BREE X%
o MBEUATEMSHE  ZESAKRIEER

ek WERKAE 2 HEEZEN

(i) Vimab #5 /R 7 8 3 E b 508 5 58 B
HEH:

(ii) RREREROEAER RGN
Bz E BN ZE S %X EF0XR
& - ZE SR AVimabll SIS E kiR H
AR R R T B AT &

(i)  VimabBAKENSZINZERNEEZH
HERMNBRERFE &K

(iv) ERBZENEAERRBET AR
FZETETEAORER  ZEERB
B FRARBAYL -

ERZERNER  VimabERZELERH
B RVimab R B R R M2 E HTRMH
(TEHRED]) - REZEF % fiVimabR
REETERETHEEEGDUSE  BIZE
CHEEEFTELBAVIMabHIER T - RIR
ZEERRBEE RAR A LB R R EE K
IGE RN & ERE AT 0P W a5/
MITERR B EERED -

R E %% H A =202063H318 4 &
Vimab—ERBERBZNERBTINFE
FMBMEME - AR ZESMN2020638 T A
FRRBEVimabA R BN I - W ERKARRRE
BEAAVImabEE - REAR A E R AR E
SEMMAA MR WEEERREME @ 1EZ
H £ M202054 A3 [VimabZ ) B Z 5 # &
WIEBA Y EXNKE2HEEERBEE
THIAREBER - N2020F4878 © AR FH#
Vimab& Al » Z E & A EVimab * ZE S B K
MIEE R B EREE ARG - MR20206F489
B VimabREZESHEREREREERL
HZH °

F It - A202093A318 £ RZESHKRE
i f& B131,000,000%% 42 7% 35 (47101,509,000
BB AR RBEMEE (K 7£29)
1 22 71 8 B 3t B2 Vimab 48 B8 A9 75 2 (T &E15)
EmIEE (M E17) R - #28 RS E (B
14) BER R E ©



9.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

9. MERE
IR A DT

2020
HK$'000
TAT

Interest on amounts due to related
parties

Interest on bank loans, overdrafts and
other loans

Interest on convertible bonds

Interest element of lease liabilities

Interest on bonds

Interest on other payables

Ji& 1<) A Bk 5 3K IE
SRR 6,431 7,702
WITER -BIR

HiERHHE 22,152 16,267
AIMRESHFE 189 —
HEAGENT S 224 1,038
BEH R H B 1,654 1,661
H b fE S 3R IE B9 I B 7,644 6,646

38,294 33,314

183



S
> 184

NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 755 R MY A
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10. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 10.

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

= = &M
REEBHEXIMERAFESL
AR B - BB A F R F383(1))
©)  OROEAREERBR(BKEE
EMEER RO B2 BEENFAE
EHMMT

2020

HK$'000

F&ET

Fees B 1,649 2,476

Other emoluments: HE < -

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e JEAERR

benefits in kind BV A= 3,609 3,598
Equity-settled share option expense LA 75 45 B 1) B AR

il — 1,425

Pension scheme contributions BRIREFT B 45 54

3,654 5,077

5,303 /8553

During the previous year, certain directors were granted share
options, in respect of their services to the Group, under the
share option scheme of the Company, further details of which
are set out in note 34 to the financial statements. The fair
value of such options, which has been recognised in the
statement of profit or loss, was determined as at the date of
grant and the amount included in the financial statements for
the prior year is included in the above directors’
remuneration disclosures.

RE-—FE ETEFREBEARAN
B BB F R A& B R AR
BERBRE E—TFBHN AN
BRERWMEL - ZEBRENAFE
TTRELAHMET  BEREBHERA
MR MEL-—FEHBRRAMIIE
BEFANLEZFMBEEN G -



2021548 fAxsEmERERasa 185

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
51 705 R A P

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143/31H I FZ

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 10. EE #H N (&
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIFEBITEESE

Equity-settled

share option Total
Fees expense remuneration
DHEREHEN
we AR HERA 3 FibN
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHT
2021

Mr. Choy Wai Shek, 2RASLE
Raymond, MH, JP KEEE X TFHL 420 — 420
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian # {& 8 55 4 420 — 420
Dr. Tong Ka Lok EEiEL 420 — 420
1,260 — 1,260

2020

Mr. Choy Wai Shek, EREAEL
Raymond, MH, JP KB A FHLt 345 — 345
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian Z& £ 855 £ 345 — 345
Dr. Tong Ka Lok EEEEt 345 — 345
1,035 = 1,035

There were no other emoluments payable to the FANEERNBIIIERNITES
independent non-executive directors during the year B H Bl & (20204 : £E) -

(2020: nil).




NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MF M

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t £202143/31H I F/Z

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)  10.

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

Salaries,

bonuses,
allowances

and benefits

Fees in kind

EEHME
(b) RITEBRERTES

Equity-settled Pension
share option scheme Total
expense contributions remuneration

MR s E BRe

e BRI AT Bl B E
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TERT TERT
2021
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Zhu Yongjun KREELE — 1,800 — 18 1,818
Mr. Pan Yimin® EHREAEO — 9 — - 9
Mr. Cai Jianwen® BEENXRAEY — 600 — 9 609
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun THELE
Nicholas — 1,200 — 18 1,218
Non-executive directors: FEH{TEE ¢
Dr. Zhang Lihui Ry EE L 120 - — — 120
Dr. Ge Xiaolin® EE#ETo 269 - — — 269
389 3,609 — 45 4,043
2020
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Zhu Yongjun RBELAE - 1,800 — 18 1,818
Ms. Qin Shulan® SHRBRLY 621 56 475 — 1,152
Mr. Cai Jianwen® BRI EY 700 542 475 18 1,735
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun THELE
Nicholas — 1,200 475 18 1,693
Non-executive director:  FFHITES :
Dr. Zhang Lihui RYBEL 120 = - - 120
1,441 3,598 1,425 54 6,518
Note: P -
™ Appointed on 2 July 2020. o 20207 A2H EEE -
@ Appointed on 24 March 2021. @ R2021F3A24B &R E -
® Resigned on 17 August 2020. @ 202048 17 8 B T °
@ Resigned on 30 September 2020. @ 202099 A30H & fF °

During the year, no remuneration was paid or payable by the
Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2020:
Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director or a chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year (2020: nil).

FARA AKREALECHRENEEH
B (ERMARKBE RN INBER R
B A R BER A (5 (20204 : ) o

FR - BEANEEEEARS TR
ABREXRERETAHFIMOLH
(20204 : &) -
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11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 1. hEaeaHES
The five highest paid employees during the year included 2 FRN Afudm e ¥ EEF 8124
(2020: 2) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out (2020%F : 2R EE - HENHFIS
in note 10 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of R _ESCHIEE10 o FRE 3% (2020
the remaining 3 (2020: 3) highest paid employees who are F 3R)MFARARANESNIFRSIT
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as BAEMZSFESENTMAFBTOT
follows:
2020
HK$'000
FHE T
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e JEA ERER
benefits in kind B = 4,176 3,905
Pension scheme contributions (defined E{K& &t & 5%
contribution schemes) (R EHRTED 54 54
4,230 329509
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest HHNTUATARNNEEEHE RS
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following Eﬁ(/\%ﬁ SHEEMABNT

bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EE AR
2020
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T &
1,500,000 7T 2 B
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ JT &
2,000,000/ 7T 1 —

187
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z£20214#3H31H i F/Z&

11.

12.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no share options were
granted to the non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees in respect of their services to the Group,
further details of which are included in the disclosures in note
34 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options,
which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the prior year is
included in the above non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

INCOME TAX

The amount of taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents:

11.

12.

hEmEHiES (7)

REZE2021F38318 ILF[E - B3
EEFERTBRAERRHEERE
MRS B R A PR 75 I I B I 4 - 3
— BB ER AN R R M 34 H
WEEE ZFERENATEDIR
BRHEBHET BERBRZRRARE
R E—FERBRRMISED
AN EFERIESITHRAERS
T EREGHEEERS -

P i3 %i
BARBENORESER

2020
HK$'000
TR
Current — Hong Kong BNE — B

Charge for the year FAZH — —
Current — PRC BENEf — &

Charge for the year FAZH 152 —
Overprovision in prior year T FERBEEE — (72)
Deferred tax (note 32) i AE 7538 (Ff 7£32) (3.392) (21,172)
Total tax credit for the year FARIBE 2 AT (3,240) (21,244)
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12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 12. FRE#H (&)
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax HRABBEEMETERBRAIEE
at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate to the tax credit at the BRMBERRERRNEET R X
Group's effective tax rate is as follows: AERNRIEEENERAT
2020
HK$'000
T T
Loss before tax B % Bl & 18 (66,845) (168,502)
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate %% /% E Ft £16.5%
of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) (20204F : 16.5% )
SFEMEIA (11,029) (27,803)
Different tax rates enacted by specific 45F B R,/ FARE R K
countries/jurisdictions or local A ABEGH TR
authorities i & (6,229) (6,631)
Income not subject to tax HZA R A A (19,659) (8,274)
Expenses not deductible for tax ENGIEiE Aol 25,504 19,485
Tax losses utilised from previous &) 1T HA A A LIS
periods B8 — (11)
Tax losses not recognised RNERB T EE 8,086 2,200
Overprovision in prior year TEHBERE — (72)
Others HAh 87 (138)
Tax credit at the Group’s effective tax A% E TR R
rate AEMBIEES (3.240) (21,244)
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13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13. BREBRAATKREFEA

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the loss per share amount is based on the
loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 649,000,189 (31 March 2020: 572,900,134) in issue
during the year. The calculation of the diluted loss per share
amount is based on the loss for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the Company. No adjustment has
been made to the basic loss per share amount presented for
the year ended 31 March 2020 in respect of a dilution as the

SR ESE

SREEeBEDNERGEBRAAE X
BREREANFTFABEARRNFEE
2 % 77649,000,189A% (202043 A31
H : 572,900,1348%) & i@ A% < o0 #& F
HHYAESL SREEBEESED
ERGBR ARG EABRERE AN
FABEFTE BMEXBEESAEREE
2020F3A31A L FEMA 25 &K
EXEEeBE BAARTEBERER

BMEESHMEINERERABES
BEAEREEYE -

impact of the share options and convertible bonds
outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per
share amount presented.

2020
HK$'000
F BT
The calculations of basic and diluted &REXRZEEEHIED
losses per share are based on: TELDER
Losses B8
Loss attributable to ordinary equity FBRE AR T ERE
holders of the parent, used in the BREANEE AR
basic loss per share calculation: BRERGEFTE
— From continuing operations — REFELEER 54,998 130,483
— From discontinued operation — REBERIEEEER — 165,196
54,998 295,679
Shares % 13

Weighted average number of ordinary Hi/A B 81T & Al 217
shares in issue and issuable during BRI T
the period, used in the basic losses BARERERER
per share calculation mi 2L 649,000,189 572,900,134




14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143/31H I FZ

202154 AIEEEER) ERAR

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P75 R MY

14. V%  -BERRHE

Furniture,
fixtures and
Office  Plant and office Motor Land and
premises  machinery equipment  vehicles  building
154
BAE RER TR
YE BERBE BIZRE RE ¥ @3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000
TER TET TER TERT TER TER
31 March 2021 202143H318
At 31 March 2020 and at R2020F3831H &
1 April 2020: 1202044818 :
Cost B AR ' 12,196 337,042 13,871 17,586 1,441 382,136
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (4,486)  (178,184) (8,856) (8,723) (196)  (200,445)
At 1 April 2020, net of R2020F4 718 -
accumulated depreciation EMBRRGTE 7,710 158,858 5,015 8,863 1,245 181,691
Additions NE - 7,488 624 — - 8,112
Disposals HE - (13,025) - (72) — (13,097)
Disposal of subsidiaries & B A 7 (B 5E39)
(note 39) — (64) (276) — — (340)
Discontinued operation BERIEEEER
(note 8(b)) (i z£8(b)) (4,376) (36,899) (14) (2,626) (1,245)  (45,160)
Transferred to assets held EBREERELEEE
for sale (note 38) (Fi5£38) — — (690) (313 — (1,003)
Depreciation provided during 4 R & &5
the year (2,325) (24,752) (2,760) (926) — (30,763)
Exchange realignment R GES - 71 124 84 - 919
At 31 March 2021, net of 1202143 A318
accumulated depreciation EMBRAGHE 1,009 92,317 2,023 5,010 — 100,359
At 31 March 2021: R2021%3A318 :
Cost A 7,820 243,499 12,410 8,284 — 272,013
Accumulated depreciation 25 E (6,811)  (151,182) (10,387) (3,274) — (171,654
Net carrying amount REFE 1,009 92,317 2,023 5,010 — 100,359
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% -BERSRE (&)
(continued)
Furniture,
fixtures and
Office Plant and office Motor  Land and
premises machinery  equipment vehicles building Total
BRA
I NES RER TR
mE BEREW HOER AE BF FoE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR THET THT TR T THT

31 March 2020 2020%3H318
At 31 March 2019 and at M2019F3A318 &

1 April 2019: R201954 7318 :

Cost XA — 350,561 14,274 22,544 1,194 388,573

Accumulated depreciation 25 E = (153,458) (6,012)  (11,275) (214)  (158,763)

Restated net carrying ERFEEE)

amount 12,196 197,103 8,262 11,269 980 229,810

At 1 April 2019, net of R20194 818

accumulated depreciation EHNRRATE 12,196 197,103 8,262 11,269 980 229,810
Additions NE — 5,891 157 i3 — 6,121
Disposals k= = (1,578) (17) (884) — (2,479)
Depreciation provided during & AT & & &

the year (4,114) (35,479) (3,241) (1,573) (65) (44,472)
Impairment loss wEEE (49) (569) = (40) (20) (678)
Exchange realignment ERRE (323) (6,510) (146) 18 350 (6,611)

At 31 March 2020, net of 72020534318 -

accumulated depreciation BNk RGHE 7,710 158,858 5,015 8,863 1,45 181,691
At 31 March 2020: R2020%3A318 :
Cost B AR 12,196 337,042 13,871 17,586 1,441 382,136
Accumulated depreciation B MELRRE
and impairment (4,486) (178,184) (8,856) (8,723) (196)  (200,445)
Net carrying amount REFE 7,710 158,858 5,015 8,863 1,245 181,691
Note: e
An impairment loss of approximately HK$678,000 was recognised on B AVimabR2020F4A W1 T~ B A B A &l
property, plant and equipment due to Vimab ceased to be the subsidiary MR E RERIKEBEIBREBRD
on early April 2020. See note 8(b) for the detail. 678,000/ 7T ° 515 R i 5£8(b) °
Construction plant at carrying values of approximately HK$84,355,000 BREM@EA84,355,000%F L (2020
(2020: 112,810,000) were pledged to the Group’s other borrowings. £ :112,810,000/70) MBREMEEFRAEE

HABEERI -
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% -BEREE (&)
(continued)
Right-of-use assets included in the Group’s property, SIANFEENYE  HEREEH
plant and equipment EREEE
Office premises Motor vehicles
WAEME RE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
At 1 April 2019 M2019F4A1H 12,196 4,062
Depreciation e (4,114) (508)
Impairment loss WA 8 (49) =
Exchange realignment M i, 5 & (323) —

At 31 March 2020 and at 1 April 2020 7202063 H318 &

2020478 1H 10, BS54
Depreciation neE (2,325) (407)
Disposal of subsidiary ey NG] — (2,339)
Discontinued operation BRIEEEER (4,376) —
At 31 March 2021 7202143 A31H 1,009 808
As at 31 March 2021, the net carrying amount of the R2021F3A31H * AEBKTERNER
Group’s motor vehicles includes an amount of HK$808,000 M JF %8 B 15808,0007% st (20207 :
(2020: HK$3,554,000) of right-of-use asset, of which the 3,554,000/ L) M R E K E - B P
ownership would be transferred to the Group by the end of BREENRHERBFUBRIOREER
the lease term with minimal consideration. EAREH-
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15. GOODWILL 15. &
HK$'000
FHT
Cost at 1 April 2019 201954 A1 8 B B 2R 169,698
Impairment during the year FARE (139,898)
Exchange realignment PE H 33 (=23
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R2020F3H318 &
20204 H 1R 22,563
Impairment during the year FARE (1,128)
Transfer to assets of a disposal group classified as held for E&Z= S A {EHE
sale (note 38) B &S AR BB E
(Bt 5%38) (22,334)
Exchange realignment ME N 3 B 899
At 31 March 2021 K2021F3H31H —
At 31 March 2020: 202043 A318 :
Cost B 268,985
Accumulated impairment ZRERE (246,422)
Net carrying amount PR T ) 58 22,563
At 31 March 2021: MR2021%3A31H :
Cost B AR 1,304
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (1,304)
Net carrying amount AR H A —
Impairment testing of goodwill i8R =0 e

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the following cash-generating units (CGUs) for impairment

testing:
o Taiyuan Tianrun cash-generating unit (“Taiyuan Tianrun
GGV

o Hefei Feifan cash-generating unit (“Hefei Feifan CGU")*;
and

o The Vimab Group cash-generating unit (“Vimab CGU")*

*  Goodwill was fully impaired during the year ended 31 March 2020.

BREGEHRBNERELOEET
53R & E A B AT RER -

. ARREBREELEBM(XRR

REARSELBEM])

. BREFAREELEEM(ARE
FEANRESEESBM* R

. Vimab&ks B B € E £ ¥ fu
([Vimab3R &€ EE B M) *

* AEREZE2020F3A31HILEEEHK
BB °
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15. B8 (&)
SRESRSELEMMEE
MEESENT :

15. GOODWILL (continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units is as follows:

Taiyuan Tianrun

CGU Hefei Feifan CGU Vimab CGU (note)
KEXHB BIEEA Vimab
ReELE( ReELEN REEXEf (M)
2020 2020 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThIL TR TR
Carrying amount of goodwil BENRELE — 22563 — — — —
The recoverable amounts of the above CGUs have been B EEEEMAAKRDESEDIR
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash BHEESREBANEREBEEEN
flow projections and the fair value less cost of disposal A ER & A ([ AT ER S K
("FVLCD"). KERE -
Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the 8 LR S E A B AL N2021F3 A
above CGUs for 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020. The 318 K2020F3A318 M £ A B &
following describes each key assumption on which B ASBEEFEBZEBK . TXE
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake aE IR R 1T P B R DRI i AR Y
impairment testing of goodwill. MIREREBAMEKENSEEER
S
The number of years used for Hefei Feifan CGU are based on HEEFENBREEEELFTRNEH
its respective BOT contract period, details of which are set out NS BRBOTEX A AER  FEHR
in note 16. R FE16 ©
The cash flow projections beyond the 5 years periods are AFHRENESRERATHERTS
extrapolated using a growth rate as follows: HREHEH
2020
Taiyuan Tianrun CGU ARRBEREEEESBN N/A —%
Ai#EmA
Hefei Feifan CGU SREARCELEN —% —%
Vimab CGU (note) VimabIE & &= £ B N/A N/A
(Hft3E) AER i@ A
3
i 1
/

=
4R

=
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15. GOODWILL (continued) 15.

Zero growth was assumed for Hefei Feifan CGU based on
utilisation of maximum Kitchen Waste processing capacity.

The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections are as

wE(E)
AREERBAREL REEEHE
AR BRABEARSELEGA
T

BANRESREFAMBERERMT

follows:
2020
Taiyuan Tianrun CGU ANRRXRBEREESEELEAM N/A 13.3%
iEH
Hefei Feifan CGU ERFEANBRCEESN 12.4% 11.6%
Vimab CGU (note) Vimab3i & = £ E N/A N/A
(B ) RiER 3 A

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risk
relating to the relevant units.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, Hefei Feifan
CGU have been fully impaired as the recoverable amount of
Hefei Feifan CGU lower than their carrying amount. No
impairment loss on goodwill related to Hefei Feifan CGU
recognised (2020: HK$1,304,000). See note 16 for the detail.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, impairment loss of
approximately HK$1,128,000 recognised on goodwill as
Taiyuan Plant classified as disposal group held for sales in
February 2021 and the fair value less cost to sell of the
Taiyuan Tianrun CGU were determined to be lower than their
carrying amount. See note 38 for the detail.

Note:

A impairment loss of approximately HK$138,594,000 was recognised on
goodwill due to Vimab ceased to be the subsidiary on early April 2020.
See Note 8(b) for the detail.

PRABRERE BHAIFIX - B R
HEMABENEERR -

HZE20219F F2020F3 8318 L FE
BEEABESELBMNERKRE
AIEEARECEEEMNATRESEE
BREREEMR - WEERSIRE
EIEABLELEUNEERERSRE
(2020%F : 1,304,000/ 7T) ° s 15 = &
BMIE16 ©

HZE2021F3A318 LLFE ' ERERE
£ 5 B &5 18 491,128,000/ 7T © B R
2012 KRBE D EAFEL
EEE BATFEREERRERER
CEEEMNKATAERELREE
FTE - et 2 HM 38 o

B &
f RAVimabR2020F4 R ¥ T~ B /KT E A 7] -

T 58 49138,594,0007% It Y 7 2 Rk (B 5 48 ©
=15 B K 5E8(b) ©
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16. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS

The Group has entered into service concession arrangements
with certain governmental authorities in Mainland China on a
BOT basis in respect of the construction and operation of its
kitchen waste treatment business. These service concession
arrangements generally involve the Group as an operator in (i)
constructing kitchen waste treatment plants (the
“Facilities”) for those arrangement on a BOT basis; and (ii)
operating and maintaining the Facilities at a specified level of
serviceability on behalf of the relevant governmental
authorities for periods ranging from 25 to 30 years (2020:
25-30 years) (the “Service Concession Periods”), and the
Group will be paid for its services over the relevant periods of
the service concession arrangements at prices stipulated
through a pricing mechanism. The Group is generally entitled
to use all the property, plant and equipment of the Facilities,
however, the relevant governmental authorities as grantors
will retain the beneficial entitlement to any residual interest in
the Facilities at the end of the Service Concession Periods.
Each of these service concession arrangements is governed by
a contract and, where applicable, supplementary agreements
entered into between the Group and the relevant
governmental authority in Mainland China that set out, inter
alia, performance standards, mechanisms for adjusting prices
for the services rendered by the Group, specific obligations
imposed on the Group to restore the Facilities to a specified
level of serviceability at the end of the Service Concession
Periods, and arrangements for arbitrating disputes.

16. REFrEH

AEBEREE REEERN REE
75 ABOTH = B2 R B (A it 5 T BT
WRARI L ZTERIG ST L HE - %5
RIS ELHE— S RBANEEE
AR - (NVABOTHER A S HiiE
EEENREER([ZEEED : &
(i) 4% R 15 & AR %5 7K - X 28 48 B R TS 4
RS REEZERNE  AH25%830
F (2020%F : 252304 ) ([ AR 7% 5 75 4
HR])  MASEEBRREISTER
HE 6 8 B BAR % 15 3 E (B #5151 BF
BB S 3 AR A5 UR R R IE - AN —
MERERZERENATE Y - #
22 MR tE AT MBI HEIE R
BT A B AR 75 45 5 A HABR 4 RS R
BERZEREEMARSERNER
R SZERBREIELEZIAE
B A B i AR R BT R AT L &
PR (ER)BREBEAEE  EF
HHE(EPRIE)RNTIEE  NEEM
RERBHOAEHS  AEBRRD
B EHR AR A SR EIRE
ZHRTERGKEMAENEEEE
LA R {5 4l 43 19 22 3 o
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16. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS 16. IRFE¥SsFHELRHE (£2)

(continued)

A summary of the major terms of the principal service

concession arrangements is set out as follows:

Name of company

TERBEHARHENIZHRREE

HHN AT ¢

Type of service

as operator Location Name of grantor concession arrangement  Service concession period
EBEERN
AT & H Bh B¥ANEHE IRFSar R R B 75 45 27 #E A BR
Taiyuen Tianrun Taiyuen, Shaxin province, AR M ARREE BOT on kitchen waste 30 years from
the PRC EIEE treatment 2013 to 2043
PNGENE HEILAEKRT ARTHAREFE & BT 3% 57 32 §YBOT H12013%F #E 20434 I
EHEB 304F
Hefei Feifan Hefei, Anhui province, ARTHTERR BOT on kitchen waste 25 years from
the PRC treatment 2013 to 2038
SR TEZBEAED BETHTERER & B 51 3] 57 32 /9BOT F120134F #€ Z£2038%F I
254
Hancheng Hancheng, Shanxi BT A S fEA BOT on kitchen waste 30 years from
province, the PRC iR treatment 2018 to 2047
I FhEIBRTE & BT BT HS (A & B 0y 3% B2 3 H9BOT F12018%4F #E £20474F I
BEa it 304F

Pursuant to the service concession agreements entered into by
the Group, the Group are granted the rights to use the
property, plant and equipment of the Facilities and the related
land, which are generally registered under the names of the
relevant subsidiaries of the Group, during the Service
Concession Periods, but the Group is generally required to
surrender these assets to the grantors at a specified level of
serviceability at the end of the respective Service Concession
Periods.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s receivables under
services concession arrangements and operating concession of
HK$69,592,000 (2020: HK$325,562,000) and HK$80,636,000
(2020: HK$185,223,000), respectively, were pledged to the
Group’s bank and other borrowings.

IRIB N5 B R] S B0 AR 75 15 RE AR W o
AEEEERRBEFFFERARAMER
ZERMAYE - HaE KRB R
B L (— MRAKRKE R KB A B
MBEBR)ER - EARE KA
A& BRI 5 5 7 HA R A8 R 42 45 E IR
BRKFEZEEEXEMETA -

7N £5 B ) R 75 5 5T 4 A Bk R R ZRTE %
£ R ) BRTE 2 B2 9 5169,592,000
# 7T (20204 : 325,562,000/ 7©) &
80,636,00078 7T (20204 : 185,223,000
BIL) BEER T ASEREITREAE
g o
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SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS  16. IR 45erE=HE (&)
(continued)
As further explained in the accounting policy for “Service A0 7N B 75 R 3% BT sE4(h) BT L TR 75 4
concession arrangements” set out in note 4(h) to the financial STHERBE IS ST R P — Rt
statements, the consideration paid by the Group for a service RNEBGRG T ELHESNHRE
concession arrangement is accounted for as an intangible AR ABTEE(KEFTE) &
asset (operating concession) or a financial asset (receivable A& E (RIS IF AT R BEE R IE) 3k
under service concession arrangement) or a combination of MEFEE (WHER) - LT AEEAEE R
both, as appropriate. The following is the summarised BEAELENERNEEANXNET »
information of the intangible asset component (operating (BEFTEIERemEEANI D
concessions) and the financial asset component (receivables (Bl 745 5 75 % &2 HF FE USRI B & BH R
under service concession arrangements) with respect to the B
Group’s service concession arrangements:
a) Operating Concessions a) KEEYITHE
2020
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April R4A1H 260,472 346,244
Additions IR 2,277 3,895
Amortisation provided during FRNEERE
the year (5,809) (16,430)
Impairment loss RAEEE — (52,399)
Transfer to inventories EREREEFE (37,345) =
Transfer to asset classified as ERZOBRABIELHE
held for sales (note 38) 8 & E (P 5E38) (115,322) —
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHKEBAR
(note 39) (P 5£39) (41,728) —
Exchange realignment ERREE 18,091 (20,838)
At 31 March M3A31H 80,636 260,472
At 31 March: MR3A318 :
Cost (DN 145,754 335,632
Accumulated impairment loss R R EE B (54,941) (50,821)
Accumulated amortisation REt (10,177) (24,339)
Net carrying amount AR EF R 80,636 260,472
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[=

16. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS 16. IRFE¥SsFHELRHE (£2)

(continued)

Impairment assessment

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and
operating concessions are allocated to the Hefei Feifan CGU,
representing an individual CGU. The recoverable amount of
the Hefei Feifan CGU is determined based on either fair value
less costs of disposal or VIU whichever is higher. The
recoverable amount of the Hefei Feifan CGU has been
determined by VIU calculation based on cash flow projections
from formally approved budgets covering a 18 years (2020:
19 years) period, which is the remaining contractual period of
the BOT on kitchen waste treatment. Management considered
that the budgets should cover the remaining contractual
period of the BOT on kitchen waste treatment as it reflects
the production plan of this CGU.

During 31 March 2021, the directors of the Company
determined no impairment loss on operation concessions
related to Hefei Feifan CGU (2020: HK$52,399,000) as the
carrying amount, of the assets belonging to Hefei Feifan CGU
over its recoverable amounts.

W BT fh

BETRENR mERLCERSTE
AR EGREIIENBECEESEM(—
EBIRESELEN) - AEEAES
EXBEMAATRDEESEASDFERD
ERNALEFRAEEMEFTNESSE °
ARIEARSEEEMM AT E S
DIREESREBALFEREEFNE
EEE L EREIER L ER18F
HA (20204F : 194 H3) (BN & & &1 | B
EBOTHIH T M) BERR - 12
BRA  mREE LR EEBOTH &
TANERMIEIESEEBMNEE
FTE . BB ATEER -

MR2021%3A318 ' AR BEEETH
RERIEANBESELEEMLCERET
#E I 48 5 (B &5 78 (20204 : 52,399,000
B ABAREARCELEEME
ERREE SR H AT Y e £ 58 F7 3 e
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SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS 16. IRIEiSsFHExHE (£2)

(continued)
b) Receivables under service concession b) MRIBISFELEEIRIE
arrangements
2020
HK$'000
FABT
Receivables under service PR 75 5 R ME 2 BE
concession arrangements JE W 5k 1R 69,592 346,864
Portion classified as current DEERBEENT D
assets (8,409) B2 1:12)
Non-current portion JEm B 2 5 61,183 314,752
Movements in the provision for impairment of Pl 75 'RF 5T #E % BE FE W K IR R B
receivables under service concession arrangements are as BEOEHOT :
follows:
2020
HK$'000
FH& T
At beginning of year REA) 2,335 1,974
Impairment losses, net IEEEFRE (157) 497
Transfer to asset classified as ERERBEARBELE
held for sales BE (1,634) ==
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHEAQR (156) —=
Exchange realignment PE W & 34 (136)
At end of year RER 422 2:335
\l:'f':
W
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16. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS

16. RFHFERH (F)

(continued)
b) Receivables under service concession b) RIBIFTFEZHEEWKRIE(E)
arrangements (continued)
For receivable under service concession arrangements, AR TS AT e L BE R IR SR IB T
the Group applies the simplified approach in measuring T ASEERBERN A A
ECL, that is to recognise a loss allowance based on =EHEEEE  TARZR
lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The Group has ERBMEREHEHEESBRE
applied loss-rate method for calculating the ECL of EREEEE AXEBCDHEA
receivables from service concession arrangements. Under EEXD A ERBEIESR
this method, impairment is calculated using an R RIENTESREEEIE -
estimated loss rate and multiplying it by the BRI & RET RS H
outstanding balance at the end of the reporting period. RERAAFTEIEEFEURER
HEERETHE o

Set out below is the information about the credit risk T X H A A K E RS A
exposure on the Group's receivable under service BRPRBREFEER RN E
concession arrangements: o
As at 31 March 2021 $:202153H31H

Gross carrying amount  BRTE A2 %8 (T8 7T)

(HK$'000) 8,415 61,599 70,014
Expected credit losses BHEEEEEHE
allowance (HK$'000) (FHxL) 6 416 422
Expected credit loss rate FEHAZ B E1E = 0.07% 0.68%
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SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS

(continued)

b) Receivables under service concession
arrangements (continued)

16. RFHETHERH (F)

b) MREFHFEHEBWKRIE (&)

For the receivable under service concession FrE & A & 4 R B AR 75 45
arrangements of a disposal group classified as held for TR PEIB T E Wk 1B (M &
sale (note 38): 38) :
Gross carrying amount BRI 458 (T8 T)
(HK$'000) 26,069 259,957 286,026
Expected credit losses EHREEBEER
allowance (HK$'000) (F#ExT) 19 1,755 1,774
Expected credit loss rate FEHI{E B E B =X 0.07% 0.68%
As at 31 March 2020 $:2020%3H31H
Loss rate —
Loss rate — Non-current
current portion: portion HK Total
EEEx —
EEE — FEM BB 5
BN EE S B Bt
Gross carrying amount  BRE A %E (T8 L)
(HK$'000) 32,148 317,051 349,199
Expected credit losses BHEEEEEE
allowance (HK$’000) (F#mT) 36 2,299 2,335
Expected credit loss rate FEHA(E B 1 = 0.11% 0.73%
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. HthEEEE

Non-
compete
Customer list Technologies  Trademark  Agreement Patents Total
EFRgE Bl HiE  THREHE L] @it
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THL THL TiET THEL THT FHT
31 March 2021 202143A318
Cost at 1 April 2020, net of R2020F4R 18 £
accumulated amortisation R BB R H8 21,351 26,123 3,793 518 - 51,785
Additions AE - - - — 2,499 2,499
Amortisation provided during FRMERE
the year — — - — (154) (154)
Discontinued BRI %75 (K 58(b))
operation (note 8(b)) (21,351) (26,123) (3,793) (518) - (51,785)
Exchange realignment 5 A% — - - — 68 68
At 31 March 2021 R202143A318 — — — — 2,413 2,413
At 31 March 2021: #20214£3H318 :
Cost KA — - - — 2,567 2,567
Accumulated amortisation 25t EH - - - - (154) (154)
Net carrying amount REFE - - - - 2,413 2,413
31 March 2020 20203H318
Cost at 1 April 2019, net of 1201954810 £
accumulated amortisation KA BB Rt B 5 31,140 33,132 4,364 753 - 69,389
Amortisation provided during FRBHERE
the year (7,284) (4,177) (168) (175) — (11,804)
Impairment loss (note) MEBE (M) (320) (392) (57) ) = (777)
Exchange realignment RS (2,185) (2,440) (346) (52) - (5,023)
At 31 March 2020 720206348318 21,351 26,123 3,793 518 — 51,785
At 31 March 2020: 14202053R318 :
Cost A 34,313 33,733 4,142 830 — 73,018
Accumulated amortisation and 2 BHERAE
impairment (12,962) (7,610) (349) (312) — {21,233)
Net carrying amount BESE 21,351 26,123 3,793 518 = 51,785
Note: Bt 5

#H E2020F3A318 Ik F E © B BVimab®
2020F4 AT B RITEAR - Mt EMmER
B ERERBERE #9777,000% 7T © & B R M
#£8(b) ©

During the year ended 31 March 2020, an impairment loss of
approximately HK$777,000 was recognised on other intangible assets due
to Vimab ceasing to be the subsidiary on early April 2020. See note 8(b)
for the detail.



2021 5H AEEEER)ERAT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B g R M 5
For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z
18. CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLES 18. FEW K (8
2020
HK$'000
FH T
Consideration receivables FEUAKE (FisEa ~ b)

(Note a, b) 3,723 40,956
Impairment VERIE] (3,723) (23,349)
Current portion BN D — 17,607

Note: e -

Movements in provision for impairment of consideration receivables are as

follows:

EWREREREBEESHNT

2020

HK$'000

FH&T

At beginning of year REA] 23,349 =
Impairment loss recognised B R EEE 8,658 23,349
Written-off i 58 (28,284) =
At end of year RFE R 3,723 23,349

(a)

Pursuant to the Vimab Agreement, the consideration for
the Vimab Acquisition was to be satisfied as to (i)
approximately HK$23.0 million and (i)
approximately HK$147.5 million by way of the allotment
issue of 42,137,142 (the
“Consideration Shares”) at the issue price of HK$3.5
per represented
approximately 7.36% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by them, and 19,488,428 new
Shares out of the Consideration Shares are subject to a

in cash;

and new Shares

Share. The Consideration Shares

lock-up period, which will be released upon fulfilment
of certain financial benchmarks by the Vimab Group for
the financial year ended or ending (as the case may be)
31 December 2018 and 2019. Details of the lock-up
arrangement are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 3 May 2018.

(a)

1R #BVimab1# 3% - Vimabdk B =
T8 B X 8 () %923,000,000/%8 7C
K ] & & E: Ri®
147,500,000 7t LA 3% & B% IR 15
35T R EITER R RET
42,137, 1428% 51 Bx 2 ([ X (B I’
B FREE - RERDE
EHEERARRKERERDE
AHIE BEITRAKI7.36% MK
BIZ H19,488,4280% #7 i% 15 2%
AZEH  BRVImabEEH =
20184 [2019412H31H Ik B
BREERFBRAME) WET
WGEEEEXNERR BEX
EHNFEBHERAARBEHA
201845 A3 M Aff »
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2 B20213H31H IF F/Z

18. CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(a)

(b)

(continued)

Audited 2018 EBITDA is yet to be available as at 31
March 2021. The unaudited 2019 EBITDA is less than
the financial benchmark of that as set out in the Share
Purchase Agreement. Therefore the Company attempts
to negotiate with other parties to the Vimab Agreement
to agree such results and not perform a special audit as
stipulated in the Vimab Agreement.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has recognised a
consideration receivable of HK$3,723,000.

As at 31 March 2021, impairment loss of HK$3,723,000
was recognised on consideration receivable in related to
Vimab Acquisition.

On 14 December 2016, the Group completed the Clear
Industry Acquisition. As part of the sale and purchase
agreement, the Group is entitled to receive contingent
consideration, which is based on the amount of profit
of the Clear
subsidiaries (“Clear Industry EPC Group”) during the
March 2017, 2018 and 2019 (the
“Guarantee Period”).

Industry Company Limited and its

years ended 31

As at 31 March 2019, the Guaranteed Period was
completed. Based on the information available at that
moment for the years ended 31 March 2017, 2018 and
2019 (excluding the profit attributable to the business
contracted by the other members of the Group with the
Clear Industry EPC Group), the profit guarantee in the
Clear Industry Acquisition could not be fulfilled. The
Group has recognised a consideration receivables of
HK$37,232,000.

(b)

FEBITDA R B /5 o R & 3 %
20195 EBITDAE 8 A% 15 &% FT 8
MBEZR AL - Bt - NAAIE
B B Vimab 5 B b 77 B 5 A
BEHEBESE LRI A Vimab
MR R] AT AT R 1% o

M202043A318 » AEBHER
& Y K 83,723,000/ TT °

M2021%€3A31H * B BVimab
WEEEEME KRR ERRRE
5483,723,0005% 7T °

MN20165E128148 » N & B =
RiEFBRKBEEE-(EAEE
HEH—BD AKREEREK
EXE A Clear Industry Company
Limited & H Hf B 2 & ([ 1S F| 5
EPCEE ) H =20174 » 20185
20193 A318 IFFE ([H#R
HDAEMSHEAENHIAR

E o

M201943 8318 » #ERHPE =
H -ENERAESER #=E
20174 ~ 20184 &20194F3 A31
HIEFEMENBKESER
FIRFE (MR AEEEMKE R
AIINH F IS FIBREPC R B A 275
FEREEF) RegEX - A& E
B R E W X (837,232,000
e
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18. CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(b)

(continued)

The special audit of the Clear Industry EPC Group as
stipulated
completed during the year and the performance
guarantee was not met.

in the Clear Industry Acquisition was

As at 31 March 2020, an impairment of HK$23,349,000
recognised on the consideration receivables,
assuming that HK$13,883,000 could be recovered from
the realisation of 18,982,992 consideration shares
returned by the vendor and offset certain outstanding
payables to the vendor.

was

The parties to the Clear Industry Acquisition entered
into a settlement agreement on 28 May 2020, pursuant
to which the Group agreed Qinggin settled the
consideration receivables by offset outstanding payable
of HK$8,949,000, and the consideration shares would
not be returned to the Group. During the year ended
31 March 2021, impairment loss of HK4,935,000 was
recognised on consideration receivable in related to
Clear Industry Acquisition, and the provision for
impairment of HK$28,284,000 was fully written off.

20214 F 3§

AXEEERERLIF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 75 R Y =

B E2021F3A31H 1 F &

18. EWIHK R (&)

(b)

(&)
EHNBEBEEARINFEHNE
EPCRE MR FZENF AT
B RBRARBEARED -

M20205F3A318 - BREBE
T PR 2 #918,982,992 8% (B i%
PDREEETAREERNERS
FRIE A YL 13,883,000 7T B
TR W (R (B Rk (E23,349,0007%8
—=

EHBKBESEITINSAR
202045 A28 H 7] 3 M fF %
Bt - ALEERE - BYHEKRE
wEEAKAEERENRE
8,949,000/ 7T 4 1 JE YL (X (& -
MRBERAOBTERETFTAE
® - & F2021F3H318 It F
E EREMNBKESENE
WRERRZHREESIB
4,935,000/ 7t ' i A B B B
28,284,000/ 7T B & &M 84 -
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. EBREBHRAFETER
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS EREE

2020

HK$'000

FET

Listed equity investment, at fair value R KRE
/&

BAFE — 10,804
During the year ended 31 March 2020, loss amounted to HE2020938310 IEFE » KEER
approximately HK$9,928,000 in respect of Group’s financial FRNBEBRREATEFENERE
assets at fair value through profit or loss was recognised EE B J§5 18 499,928,000/% T °

during the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, as disclosed in the HZE2021F3A8318 ILFE © A
note 8(b), no financial assets at fair value through profit held ST ~AEBEYEREFER/E
by the Group as Vimab ceased to be subsidiary of the Group. HEATESTENE®MEE

Vimab N B AN E B B 2 s FrE -

20. INVENTORIES 20. 586

2020

HK$'000

FAT

Finished goods arising in: TRB AT EIER R M

— Environmental protection business —— ER{RE 12,206 6,243

— Industrial fluids system services — IERERARDG — 34,369

12,206 40,612
At 31 March 2021, inventories of approximately 20219 3A31H * #912,206,000% 7T
HK$12,206,000 were stated at net realisable values (2020: 1z & 1% A] B 30 % E 2 5l (20204 :

nil). 47 o
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 21. EHEEREGWETR
LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets (a) EHEE

31 March

2020

20204

3A31H

HK$'000

T T

Related to construction contracts E2#E 24 4948 12,377 7,404
Impairment AR (162) (121)

12,215 7,283
Contract assets represents the Group's right to receive ENEEEBAEEMETIE
consideration for work completed but not yet billed mWMAREERN TRKIMARE
because the rights are conditional upon the satisfaction BN - FRE R AE RN AR
by the customers on the construction work completed REHASEMEXNERIRE
by the Group and the work is pending for the RTIMBERAEE Mz
certification by the customers. The contract assets are BERFEFRA - B&ENK
transferred to the trade receivables when the rights RERGERGBERASEERSG
become unconditional, which is typically at the time the HEPHMTHKEETLEMNRR
Group obtains the certification of the completed MR GREEEREZEES

construction work from the customers. FE U RIE o
/ |
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

(a)

Contract assets (continued)

The Group classifies these contract assets under current
assets because the Group expects to realise them in its
normal operating cycle.

The movements in provision for impairment of contract
assets are as follows:

21. EHEEREWERE(E)

(a)

EHEAE(E)
AEBERBZEANEELRE
MEBEERT DEAEERE
HERE - RELBHANER
BEWEE -

BHREERERBENESNT

2020

HK$'000

FAT

At beginning of year RE A 121 24,790
Provision on/(reversal of) B E 1R ()

impairment loss 41 (434)

Write-off of impairment loss 8 R E B 1R (B =)
(Note) — (24,235)
At end of year RER 162 121

Note: As at 31 March 2020, the Group has written-off a contract
asset with a gross carrying amount of approximately
HK$24,235,000 which resulted in a decrease in provision for
impairment of contract assets of approximately
HK$24,235,000.

The Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance of contract
assets at lifetime ECL. In view that contract assets have
substantially the same risk characteristic as the trade
debtors for the same types of contracts, the Group has
therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for the
trade debtors are a reasonable approximation of the loss
rates for the contract assets. Credit-impaired contract
assets are assessed for ECL individually.

BaE © 7202083A31H * AKEEE#
4 AR M 42 %8 %) A24,235,00075
THENEE BRANEE
18 7 15 R 2> 4924,235,000748

TEae

AEBEERBEMBRS LR
FIREMBE T AR MELRE
EBBFHERHNEENBIER
H-ZENZFANEELRE
EHNEHREERAR AN
RAMERSE AEEEIR
EEZRUERNIAHEEX
HENEEBBEXEEMM
F-BEHREERENGNE
ERAMEMNEXBEREEBRFN
e
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 21. EHBEEREHWER(E)

LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) Contract assets (continued) (a) BHEEE)
A summary of the Group’s exposure to credit risk for AEBERENEEREAXNIE
contract assets is as follows: ERBSRET
At 31 March 2021 ¥2021%#3531H
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRI #4258 (F 5 7T) 12,377 — 12,377
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHI{=E E518
(FHT) 162 — 162
Expected credit loss rate BHEEREX 1.31% —
At 31 March 2020 ¥2020%#3H31H
Not credit- Credit
impaired impaired Total
WELHR BHREE
FEERE BB #Et
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRmE #4258 (F 75 7T) 7,404 — 7,404
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHI{ZE E518
(F#ET) 121 — 121
Expected credit loss rate FHEEEBEX 1.63% =
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 21. EHEEREGWERE(Z)
LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Contract liabilities (b) EHER
31 March
2020
20204
3H31H
HK$'000
FH& T
Contract liabilities arising from: AL T IE A E R
BRI E
Construction works BETRE 7,253 2,871
Environmental protection RIR — 1,983
7,253 4,854
Less: current portion BB S (7,253) (4,854)
Non-current portion ERBE D — —
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of HANBESBEBATZENHR
contract liabilities are as follows: BV SRAE R IA T
Construction works BETE
Where discrepancies arise between the progress EENREAEEY T TEE
payments and the Group’s assessment of the stage of M mzE—BHEEE 8
completion, contract liabilities can arise. AEAAHNARG-
Environmental protection IRR
The Group receives deposits on sales of environmental 7N & B 5h 85 6 IR AR % IR
protection equipment, which remains as a contract & ERZNBEADAEGHK

liability until delivery of equipment. afE e



21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Contract liabilities (continued)

01 ER AlxEEmERsRAT 213

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 ¥R MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

21. BHEEREHARE(E)

(b) &EHEMF/AE)

Movements in contract liabilities BHEEEE
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 April 2019 201954 H1H 3,247
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of A4 AR R E T A
recognising revenue during the year that BRI B EH WA T E R
was included in the contract liabilities at the & & &R L (H7E7)
beginning of the year (note 7) (3,247)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of BN i &k & &G &) 46 51 18 5L
billing in advance of construction and WRMBE & B ELM
manufacturing activities 2,871
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of  [& Bt 8% & (R 5% 5 78 2 W E M
receipt in advance of sale of environmental & A &) & &1 11
protection equipment 1,983
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 7202043 A31H 202054 A1 H 4,854
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of E % RNERRE T A
recognising revenue during the year that BB ER YA E R
was included in the contract liabilities at the & ZI & &R 2 (H77)
beginning of the year (note 7) (4,854)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of — FERR i & & i E &) 46 A1 78 5L
billing in advance of construction and WM B E & B EIE M
manufacturing activities 75253
At 31 March 2021 72021438310 7,253
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22. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 22. ESEWRIEREWKRS
&

2020

HK$'000

F&T

Trade receivables H 5 W KRIE 89,653 167,177
Impairment DERIE] (1,440) (25,136)
88,213 142,041

Retention receivables ERRE S 54,602 52,282
Impairment A (817) (2,911)
53,785 49,371

141,998 191,412

Portion classified as current assets DEERBEENT D 134,583 171,679

Non-current portion IERE D 7.415 19,733
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

22. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES

(continued)

The Group generally allows a credit period of not exceeding
60 days to its customers. Interim applications for progress
payments on construction contracts are normally submitted on
a monthly basis and are normally settled within one month.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade and retention receivable
balances. Trade and retention receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

Retention receivables held by customers arose from the
Group's construction work are settled within a period ranging
from 1 to 2 years after the completion of the construction
work, as stipulated in the construction contracts.

Retention receivables held by customers arose from the
Group’s sale of machineries business under environmental
protection segment are settled within one year after the
control of the asset transferred to the customer.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables (excluding retention

22. BEEWRIEREWRS

& (&)

AEE - RBFAEFFEHTEBE60
ANEEH -EHEREANNDHE
B E R AR RN —1E A
NEE - NE B 7 SKE R U E A E WK
REERFBIEZES  BREEERAR
BMEKE SREERESTEHRTE
Hker e AEBE Y ELE 5 RN HRIA
kESRE S ERTHETAMERMRK
EERERETY B 5B EFIRELE
WREBERTER -

EPRAEREASRENZETREN
RRFRBE TIIREERDMIARE
RIRTHEIZ2FNEE -

EPMBAEREASERRDBTH
BEHEXBHNRRRBSINEE
EHEEETEPE —FANGEE -

RBEERARNESRBURKATERE

receivables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on AR &) B R &R B H Rk &
the invoice date and net of provisions, is as follows: BENRERIITOT :

2020
HK$'000
FET
Within 30 days 30K A 39,569 61,168
31 to 60 days 31E60K 21,001 30,012
61 to 90 days 61Z290K 20,219 8,940
Over 90 days 78 3B90K 7.424 41,921
88,213 142,041

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the
accounting policy stated in note 4(j)(ii).

A SR BARIR M A FT 51 6 & & IR
ERMERERE -
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22. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 22. ESEWRIEREWRS

(continued) & (&)
Movements in provision for impairment of trade and retention 2 S W GRIE R EBRE @R EEE
receivables are as follows: KRBT -
2020
HK$'000
T T
At beginning of year REA] 28,047 1 7E7a
(Reversal of)/provision on (BE) FHRREESRE
impairment losses (6,409) 1057
Written off upon disposal e B 8y (18,846) =
Transfer asset held for sales R EHE LS E (318) ==
Written off upon discontinued 4R || 4R a8 2 T B i B
operation (242) —
Exchange realignment PE 5, 38 & 25 179
At end of year RER 2,257 28,047
Ageing analysis of the trade and retention receivables that are WIER K HERERBERENE S
not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as JE WK IE % JE IR BB € O BR e 5 AT 40
follows: o
2020
HK$'000
T T
Neither past due nor impaired I 4% 460 2R I B R (B 85,938 107,542
1 to 30 days past due i Hi1 230K 21,001 30,012
31 to 90 days past due £ HI31 £ 90K 20,219 8,940
Over 90 days past due 20 HA HE 890K 14,840 44,918

141,998 191,412
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22. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 22. BSEMRIE R B IR 2
(continued) ®(E)
For trade receivables and retention receivables, the Group RESERFERERRBEMS
applies simplified approach in measuring ECL,that is to AEEEBERABIH A EFERBEER
recognise a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each EE - TERSHREBBKESHE
reporting date. The Group has applied the probability of HEEEERRBEGERE KAEEH
default based on that of counterparties with similar credit BEEARBONEFAMERNE
ratings, with adjustment to reflect current conditions and WRE - WHAEETIS ST IAH
forecasts of future economic conditions through the use of B PARBRE AR R R AR A R
financial market analysis. The calculation reflects the SEITER o 5t 8 7R R B E i 4
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and R EEBRHEEERRmEHAHMA
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the B B RIS R R R AR S
reporting date about past events, current conditions and WIBARTERENAEREEERIHE
forecasts of future economic conditions. #} o
ECLs estimated by grouping the receivables based on shared AEBERBEEBRENEBEERR
credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for RMEEESHE - BB EREEES
likelihood of recovery, taking into account the service type, B e RIERN I TR
customer type and its geographical location. ECL rate is G BHRE RRBER - B FE
applied to the respective gross carrying amounts of the REMBUE BREEEEEER
receivables. REWFIEE BRI EBRE AR -
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXHINERAERE FEWRFIBRE
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables: ERBHER
As at 31 March 2021 $R202143H31H
(i)  Construction sector (i) BEEHE
Trade receivables B S EWRIE
Within 91 days to Over
By invoice date BREZEAH 90 days 365 days 365 days Total
90KA 915365k HRiB365K Et
Average ECL rate % FHEHEEEEE% 1.31% 3.52% —
Gross carrying amount  BRE A% (T8 T)
(HK$'000) 80,458 2,865 — 83,323
Expected credit losses HEEESB(TAT)
(HK$'000) 1,053 101 — 1,154
Retention receivables FEWiREB £
Loss rate Loss rate
— current — Non-current
portion portion Total
BiEx — BiEx —
BN AR B 75 FE BN ER EB 5 e
Average ECL rate% FHBEHEEBEEEY% 1.31% 1.81%
Gross carrying amount FEmeE(FHET)
(HK$'000) 34,103 20,499 54,602
Expected credit losses EHEEEE (FHT)
(HK$'000) 446 371 817
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22. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 22. BEEWRIEREWRE
(continued) ®(E)
As at 31 March 2021 (continued) 202143H318 (&)
(i) Environmental sector (i) REEE
Trade receivables B SR RIE
Within 91 days to Over
By invoice date BREZEAH 90 days 365 days 365 days Total
90AM 91%E365K HBiA365K BEt
Average ECL % FHEBREEEE% 1.66% 6.60% 64.57%
Gross carrying amount  BREI 4% (T35 7T)
(HK$'000) 5,900 154 276 6,330
Expected credit losses BHEEEE(TET)
(HK$'000) 98 10 178 286
As at 31 March 2020 $2020%3H31H
(i)  Construction sector (i) BEZEgE
Trade receivables B o EWRE
Within 91 days to Over
By invoice date BEZAH 90 days 365 days 365 days Total
90K A 91%E365K HEiB365K st
Average ECL rate % THEBHEEEEEXE% 1.63% 8.90% 100%
Gross carrying amount  BRE A% (T8 T)
(HK$'000) 72726 26,497 8,096 107,319
Expected credit losses BHEEEE (FTHT)
(HK$'000) 152185 25358 8,096 11,639
(ii) Environmental sector (i) IRIEEE
Trade receivables B S EWRIE
Within 91 days to Over
By invoice date BEZEAH 90 days 365 days 365 days Total
90AM 91%E365K HBiA365K Et
Average ECL % FHEBEEEE% 3.33% 7.16% 66.50%
Gross carrying amount  BRE 4% (F75 L)
(HK$'000) 11,883 10,078 18,253 40,214
Expected credit losses BHEEEE(FET)
(HK$'000) 396 722 12,137 13,255
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22. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 22. BEEWRIEREWIRE
(continued) & (&)
As at 31 March 2020 (continued) 2020538318 (#&)
(iii) Industrial fluid sector Giii)) TX7rEégns
Trade receivables B S EWRIE
Within 91 days to Over
By invoice date BREZEAH 90 days 365 days 365 days Total
90AM 91%E365K HBiA365K Et
Average ECL % FHEREEEES 1% 2.43% 5.56%
Gross carrying amount  BRE 858 (T L)
(HK$'000) e2.67 2,014 366 19,644
Expected credit losses BHEEEE(FET)
(HK$'000) 1722 49 20 242
23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER  23. JEfiRIE- & R H b fE
RECEIVABLES W =K I8
2020
Note HK$'000
Bt = FAT
Prepayments TE 5 3R IR 35,650 36,507
Deposits and other receivables % & & E fth & Uk 7018 103,787 108,790
Impairment ERIE] (a) — (7,528)
139,437 137,769
Current portion included in FTATBRNFEIE - EZe Rk
prepayments, deposits and H b fE W IE
other receivables ViR 77,369 (95,462)
Non-current portion ERBNE D 62,068 42,307
W
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. BEIE - R HME

RECEIVABLES (continued) WK IE ()
(a) The movements in provision for impairment of other (a) EMERREBREEEGEHED
receivables are as follows: W
2020
HK$'000
FET
At beginning of year REA 7,528 15,929
(Reversal of)/provision on (BEE) 52
impairment loss REEE (7,535) 7,528
Written off upon disposal M 5 FRF K — (15,854)
Exchange realignment ME 3, 78 B 7 (75)
At end of year RE R — 7,528
The individually impaired deposits and other receivables B R E BB E R RS &
relate to debtors that were in default in interest and/or BRZEBERZZHBRFER,
principal payments and only a portion of the receivables IR NANEBLALGR B

is expected to be recovered. HA{E AT Y [0 2B 45 FE L SR IE o
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24. LOAN RECEIVABLES 4. FEIGRE R

2020

HK$'000

FET

Loan receivables JE U B 3R 11,367 13,087
Impairment VERI=] (11,004) (10,179)

363 2,908

Loan receivables is non-interest bearing, as at 31 March 2021
(2020: 0.83% per month). Loan receivables are either
repayable on demand or within twelve months from the end
of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the management of the
Group believed that the credit risk of certain loan receivables
has significantly increased and full recovery was not excepted.

Included in the Group’s loan receivables as at 31 March 2021
and 31 March 2020 are loans to a company (the “Tianjin
Company”) which was principally engaged in the sludge
treatment business in Tianjin, the PRC, with an aggregate
outstanding loan principal RMB9,607,000 and RMB11,957,000
respectively.

The Tianjin Company was in default in interest and/or loan
principal payments. During the year ended 31 March 2018,
the Group received from the Tianjin Company an aggregate
amount of RMB2,650,000 and RMB1,225,000 for the
repayment of part of the loan receivables and the related
interest, respectively. The Group initiated litigation claims
against the Tianjin Company in relation to the default of the
loan receivables and the related interest.

MR202163A318H Bl B X & &
(20204 : 5 A083E) - EW E &
BERENREARRZ12E B REE -

M20214 K%202093A31H ' & &
EEEMGE BTERERNEER
S FEE LN - FEH A 2 EUk(E o

M2021F3A318 K2020F3H31H -
AEENERERBEET —HAH
([REQRFBDHER - REQREE
ERBRREMRELTREREER - K
EEEFRACLREEINABARK
9,607,0007T & A R #11,957,0007T °

RKEQNRMERFE R HERA S
Ko MEE2018F3 8318 IEFE » K
SEMAXEAFTAHRDEEARK
2,650,0007t & A R #1,225,0007T 5
AEREKRERRABTEMNSSE
3R o ANEE B B gtk HE R E B B K AR
FEMREZRBIRHFARPR -
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[=

24. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

On 16 May 2018, the Group obtained a court order from the
Binhai New Area People’s Court of Tianjin Municipality (the
“Tianjin Court”) to freeze and deduct the remaining balance
of the loan receivables from the bank accounts of the Tianjin
Company. However, there was no available balance in the
bank accounts of the Tianjin Company. On 30 May 2018, the
Group also obtained from the Tianjin Court a dormant seizure
order on the land and building of the Tianjin Company but
they were subject to legal charges initiated by other parties.

As at 31 March 2018, a full impairment of RMB11,975,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$14,090,000) was recognised
for the aggregate outstanding loan and interest receivables
from the Tianjin Company, assuming that no amount could be
recovered from the litigations and the valuation of the 20%
equity interest in the Tianjin Company held as security for the
loans was nil.

Movements in provision for impairment of loan receivables are
as follows:

24,

UG E R (&)

R2018F5A16H » AEEREXRED
BAEHEARER ([ RKEER] AE
i< RERKZELNRIMRTELI
REMBREWE RS TR
il KA B AR 1T AR P A 37 £ 7] A
& o B2018F5H308 - AEE Tigk
KIFEREA L i RIEFEE K IE AP
NEERADS  EZSLTHRET
HZEHMATIRHAEERBRZRR -

M2018F3A31H » AEBERRFARE
FEWREEAEE B EERERDY
RERTRO%BENEERST UE
MAREQNFNAEERKEZRLF &
MEERE R 2 BURE AR 11,975,000
7t (#8274 #914,090,00058 7T) °

EREFTRERENESNT

2020

HK$'000

FH T

At beginning of year REA 10,179 13,960
Reversal of impairment, net B 8]k (B 5 58 — (3,019)
Exchange realignment PE W & 825 (762)
At end of year RER 11,004 10,179
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25. BALANCES WITH DIRECTORS/RELATED 25. BEE BB AZENG
PARTIES [F

At 31 March 2021, the balances with directors and related R2021%F3A31H * B B f+ B Bt
parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand, 7 3K 18212,482,000% T (2020%F :
except for the amount of HK$212,482,000 (2020: 217,345,000) 217,345,000 7T ) AR F 12 EE I -
payable to related parties are repayable after 1 year. HEZRENT 2ENESRRER
e R2ERAREREER-
26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. RERBFESEEY
2020
HK$'000
FHE T
Cash and bank balances R RIBITE S 66,686 29,817
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEY 66,686 29,817
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily ERRIBITHESERRITNEAT
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with A - 12 F BB R BRI S o SRAT
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. EHREFRNEERITBRBWERK

ALEREVERTT ©
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27. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES 27. BHEAREREGRE
&=

2020

HK$'000

FAET

Trade payables B 5 B4R IE 103,045 138,397

Retention payables ERRE & 15,888 36,266

118,933 174,663

Classified as current liabilities NERTBBE 116,218 166,990

Non-current portion EREI D 2,715 7,673

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled on terms ranging from 30 to 180 days.

Retention payables held by the Group arose from the Group's
construction work are settled with subcontractors within a
period ranging from 1 to 2 years after the completion of the
contract work by the subcontractors, as stipulated in the
subcontracting contracts.

Retention payables held by the Group arose from the
construction of plant operated under BOT are settled with
contractors within a period ranging from 1 to 2 years after
the completion of the construction work.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables (excluding retention
payables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

BEHRMNRBEETHE  —BRRAN T
30E= 180K M HAPR W45 75 o

AEEAKEREASEEZETREN
ENREETIEDHEQMTARD
HARTEK A TIRRIEZ2F N E D H
BAEHE -

AEEMFKERAAZREBOTEE
MEENENRESINEZETRES
RN Z2FE B A BEHE -

RBEERRNESENKATERE
ENRES)ENRBERAHNEKREKD
T

2020

HK$'000

TFA&T

Within 30 days 30K A 29,484 37,444
31-60 days 31260K 28,662 27,038
61-90 days 61290K 17,126 15,361
Over 90 days B 1BmI0K 27,773 58,554

103,045 138,397
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

28. HihEHRIERETER

2020
HK$'000
FAT
Current portion RENER 5

Other payables (note (a)) H A JE < RIE (K 5T (a)) 167,454 188,857
Accruals fEst & R 3,926 32,601
Deferred income i U N — 581
171,380 222,039

Non-current portion R ENER
Deferred income 3 RE W A — 13,998
Other payables (note (b)) H b & 1 FRE (BT 3£ (b)) 12,000 —
12,000 13,998

Notes: B &

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term
of 30 days, except for (i) an amount of HK$6,088,767 (2020:
HK$6,000,000) payable to a related company which is repayable
within 1 year and carrying interest rate at 6%; (i) an amount of
HK$3,196,757 (2020: nil) payable to a related company which is
repayable within 1 year and carrying interest rate at 5%; (iii) an
amount of HK$8,064,882 (2020: nil) payable to a related company
which is repayable within 1 year and carrying interest rate at 6%;
and (iv) during the year end 31 March 2019, the convertible bond
were classified as other payables upon the Company’s shares
suspended trading for more than 30 business days. As at 31 March
2021, the principal and accrued interest outstanding is
approximately US$6.1 million (2020: US$6.2 million) (equivalent to
HK$47.8 million (2020: HK$49.0 million)).

Other payables are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and payable after
1 year.

Deferred income

Deferred income represents subsidies received from
government authorities in respect of the construction of
kitchen waste treatment facilities in Mainland China and is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss on the straight
line method over the expected useful lives of the relevant
assets.

(a) BROE & — M @ B 2 7 6 X &\
6,088,767/ 7T (20204 : 6,000,000/8
TC) AR NEE RIEFR6ET B ¢
(if) & 1 — sl B B 2 =) A9 3K 73,196,757
77T (20204F « &) A FNEE RIE
F RSEHE ¢ (i) — R BAEE A F1H)
X 788,064,882 7T (20204 : &) A X
1FEREERZRFRCET B KRR
HE2019F3A31HIEEE " BEARA
AR EHEBB30ME ¥R - AR
BEHFEDEREMBEMRBEIN R
202138318 - REELR S RETF
B # /56,100,000% 7T (20204 :
6,200,000 7t) (48 & 747,800,000/%
7 (20204 : 49,000,000/ JT) °

(b)y HHENRESTHES BEAKREA
INEXCS RN

3 3E W A\

ERWAFERR P B A REERFLT
3 B2 I 5% bt B TR AT 4 B W B A A B
TIR IR E ER TR B Al 2 A F IR
BEREEBRGERAMER
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29. ;FERITREMEE

BORROWINGS
2020
Effective
interest
rate (%)  Maturity  HK$'000
BRRA =
(%) F# A FHT
Current wE
Portions of bank loans due for RITE AP RIE A B Hskiz
repayment within 1 year or on EREENHD — FERA
demand — secured (note b) (P =Eb) 4.75-5.6 2021-2022 9,109  4.75-5.6 2020-2021 12,367
Bank loans due for repayment within 1 ERE|IHHZEREED
1 year or on demand — RITEHR — EEA
unsecured — — —  3.45-6.6 2020-2021 443
Other borrowing for repayment MEREBRZEREEN
within 1 year or on demand Hnfs E§ — HER
— secured (note a, ¢) (Bt #¥a « c) 4.98-11.5 2022 81,000 4.98-11.5 2021 238,121
Other borrowing — unsecured Hifg & — EHEA 3.95-5.75 2022 33,577 3.95-5.75 2021 3,102
123,686 254,033
Non-current FRE
Portion of bank loan due for FOERPFEEH
repayment after 1 year BEKNED — FHEM
— secured (note b) (Fff 5Eb) — — — 4.75 2022 8,426
Portion of bank loan due for RITERP R F 15 5
repayment after 1 year EENHD — EER
— unsecured — — — 3.45 2024 1,018
Other borrowing — secured HifgE — FER - - — 4.98-5.88 2021-2025 125,219
— 134,663
123,686 388,696

Notes: B &

(a) Included in the above interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of (a) 20214638318 * "EB Lzt 838
the Group as at 31 March 2021 were term loans with a carrying ThREMEBEEPRERESEAR
amount of HK$81,000,000 (2020: HK$110,000,000). The loan 81,000,000/ 7T (20204 : 110,000,000
agreements contained a repayment on demand clause giving the BL)NEHER - ERGERARE
banks the unconditional right to call the loans at any time and SKAERBIGSC - BT IRITEGGRER - BE
therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total REKRER Bt LA 517

amount was classified as “on demand”. ME " BEXEIBATEESR]-
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

Ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause and based
on the maturity term on this term loan, the Group’s bank and other
borrowings are repayable:

20214 F 3]

AXEEERERLIF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29.

A 75 R Y =

B E2021F3A31H 1 F &

srRRITREMES (F)

B eE : (48)

(a)

(&)
MAFREEREEGRXNOTE &
Rt B MERO B R - AEE K
RITREMEEEENT

2020

HK$'000

FHIT

Within 1 year 1A 83,686 214,033

In the 2nd year E26 40,000 76,139
In the 3rd to 5th years, inclusive FIEFESF

(BREEREMF) — 98,524

123,686 388,696

A bank loan of HK$9,109,000 was secured by the pledge of
receivables under service concession and operating concession of
HK$69,592,000 (2020: HK$325,562,000) and HK$80,636,000 (2020:
HK$185,223,000) respectively (note 16).

An other borrowing of HK$81,000,000 was secured by construction
plant with carrying values of approximately HK$84,355,000 (note
14) and share capital of certain subsidiaries of the Group (2020:
HK$ 112,810,000).

In addition, certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are
guaranteed by the Company, a key management personnel of the
Group, Mr. Chu Shu Cheong and Mr. Zhu Yongjun.

The Group’s bank and other borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:

(b)

(@}

(d)

9,109,000 7T & R 17 B 30 DA AR 75 e &
HREEHTETHEREKRRES
69,592,000% 7L (20204 :
325,562,000/% 7t) }80,636,000% JT
(20204 : 185,223,0007% 7T) H) & # &
48 (f5E16) o

81,000,000/ 7T &Y £ th f& B ARREE K
84,355,000/ 7t (M 5£14) # 22 58 1% &8
RAEEETHE QAR (EE 7
(20204F : 112,810,0005 7T) °

ghoh REBEETRTREMEESR
ARF - AEETEETEAS - K5
EERKRBEEEER -

752 0 ¢ 4R 17 B EL 18 B A T 5
EREE

2020
HK$'000
THET

Hong Kong dollars BT
RMB AR
SEK 3 # 52 BA

114,577 110,000
9,109 165,435
—_ 13,26

123,686 388,696
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30.

31.

B E2021F3A31H I F &

BONDS

The bonds bear interest at 6.5% (2020: 6.5%) per annum
with maturity up to 3 years, and is guaranteed by the
chairman of the Board, an executive director and an indirect
substantial shareholder of the Company.

The Company may, at any time before the maturity date
redeem the bonds (in whole or in part) of the total principal
amount of such bonds and together with payment of interests
accrued up to the date of such redemption by serving at
least 10 day’s prior written notice to the holders of the
bonds.

30. &%

& 5 1% F F £6.5% (20204 : 6.5% )
R M3FEREH AARARIEES
TR HTEEREETEREER-

AAR A REH B RBER B &5
BEAXEZVIORELEETAA  IE
EHESR (2PXE D)W A BEE
EzEEsF EEZNEEEHEED
HEE®EETF S o

PROVISION 31. #16
Pursuant to the service concession agreements entered into by BIRAEE T LW BR S AT e
the Group, the Group has contractual obligations to maintain AEBBAHNETHEELCENER
kitchen waste treatment under its operation to a specified B 3% i 3B PO F RE B AT ER At AR A K
level of serviceability and/or to restore the facilities to a RS RIS AR A R - 12
specified condition before they are handed over to the BREBTETARNB&RBEEREZIE
grantors at the end of the Service concession periods. These TEARRE « BRAEM AR IT R I - #EFEDK
contractual obligations to maintain or restore the facilities, BEERBHNEHNETNIRBE B
except for any upgrade element, are recognised and measured LR FE37RERRTE - IHRNHE
in accordance with HKAS 37, i.e., the best estimate of the HARBTREEEMANI LK &E
expenditure that would be required to settle the present et - BRAZ S HEREEREIR R
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The future R EBBEREINE] - AEESHE
expenditure on these maintenance and restoration costs is BT PR E RS ET s har B2 -
collectively referred to as “major overhaul”. The estimation
basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis, and revised where
appropriate.
2020
HK$'000
T T
At 1 April #4818 45,712 31,909
Transfer to asset classified as held for EHEZE=SHEABELEDN
sale (note 38) & = (P 7£38) (54,487) —
Provision for the year FRREHE 15,356 16,245
Exchange realignment M 5 58 2 4,156 (2,442)
At 31 March MW3A31H 10,737 Alsy 71
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- ==
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 32. BEHRIEEE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are FAC-REFHBEEENEBNOT
as follows:
Temporary
differences
Depreciation related to Losses available
allowances in service Expected credit  for offsetting Other
excess of related concession  Provision for loss of financial ~ against future  intangible
depreciation revenue major overhauls assets  taxable profits assets  Others Total
febek:l) FHRE TRIEH
RRNAE  HEERAY SHAEN RRERB it
L3 EnEE XERE BUEEER wANEE EBREE E4) a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TR TER TR TR TRy R T . TR,
At 1 April 2019 #2019%4R18 25,856 40,404 (5,819) (7.332) (12,004) 13,636 5262 60,003
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the statement of 4R B BREXNH /
profit or loss during the year FABRR)H
BIEHE (4,568) (17,016) (4,061) 339 (2,521) (1,388) (2,311)  (28475)
Exchange realignment ExEE (591) 1,020 (1,548) (100) - (2,036) (1,625) (4,880)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R2020F3A318 &
202054718 20,697 24,408 (11,428) (4,042) (14,525) 10,212 1,326 26,648

Deferred tax (credited)/charged to the statement — FREBHEK R/

of profit or loss during the year FABRR)MEL
A (3,616) (4,408) (3,769) 3,174 5,223 - - (3,392)
Discontinued operation (note 8(b)) BRIEEEE
(Rt3E8(0)) (3,489) - - 105 - (10212)  (1326)  (14922)
Transferred to assets classified as held for sale BREARAKE
(note 38) HEEE (538) - (14,531) 13,622 153 - - - (756)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HEMB AR (HH39) 16 (5,371) - 29 - — —  (5,063)
Exchange realignment EXHAE - 1,763 (1,109) (85) — — — 569

At 31 March 2021 R2021%3A318 13,608 1,865 (2,684) (403) (9,302) — — 3,084




NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 755 R MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2021

32.

2 B20213H31H IF F/Z

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities

At 31 March 2021, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of HK$58,627,000 (2020: HK$87,477,000), subject to
the agreement by the respective taxation authorities, that
were available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also had tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$105,364,000 (2020: HK$109,103,000) that will expire in
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets had not been recognised in respect of the
losses of HK$105,834,000 (2020: HK$108,549,700) due to
unpredictability of future taxable profit streams.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China.

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
certain unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors,
it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such
earnings in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

32.

EERIEEE(Z)
EEHIEGE

R2021F3A31H  AEBRBEBELE
i 7% &5 4858,627,0005 JT (20204 :
87,477,000/ ) + Al &R HA K SH =
XEBR QA KR RERBEF - E
ERSHBERBAHBEEE - AEER
A HR B A b 72 A 7S 5 $81105,364,000
7 7T (20204 : 109,103,0005% 7T) » 0]
BT RRERTEF  BRAFA
fE M o F R B DA 8B 2R R B 5 i )i A
R OJR - B I £ 5105,834,000% T
(20204 : 108,549,700/ Jt.) K /&5 18 7
RIELERBEE -

BIRP B BERERE R E A
RS INE R E M INBE B & 5 R A
f& B R BUR10%TE 0 FL o fis 1 B (A b
HINRIGEERERE R ZHEE A
T B 6 40 BI AT A BRI A9 TE 30 B
o REEMBEATEAB5%K10% ©
Bt - 7S & B 8 56 A A B A it B 2 /9
B A Al 5k MR B AR AR TR FL o

R20214%F K%2020%3A31H @ &N &
b 4 4 A AR B A K S B B B A &)
K& T A B 2 FI FE {5 /Y 78 30 76 7 3R
RERE - EERE ZSHBAA
PRAERA LR IRZEZERF -

7R 2% ) i H B RO A BB 3 A Y A AE
RSB IR R o
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33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. Ix&
Shares B% 15
2020
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: JEE
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 2,000,000,0000% & &
HK$0.1 each E{E0.1%5 T /Y
i A 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAE:
693,590,134 (2020: 572,900,134) 693,590, 134/%
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (2020% :
572,900,1344%)
BRRMEEC. 1B TTH
T 69,359 57,290
A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share RAFBETRANEEHINMOT

capital is as follows:

Number of Nominal value of
ordinary shares ordinary shares

LERHE LiE R EE
Note HK$'000
B & FAT
At 31 March 2019, ®20194F3H31H »
1 April 2019 and 2019F4A18 &
31 March 2020 20209F3A31H 572,900,134 57,290
Debt conversion rights 17150 (5 75 88 A
exercised 43 20,000,000 2,000
Other issues of cash during FAHEMBESET
the year (note) (H$7E) 100,690,000 10,069
At 31 March 2021 #202143H31H 693,590,134 69,359
Note: B 5
As at 10 June 2020 and 15 June 2020, the Company issued 49,768,000 1202066108 K&2020F6A15H @ A& A 7]
and 50,922,000 placing shares at price HK$0.221 and HK$0.202 per share 7 RIHR B A%0.22178 T }0.2027% 7T K BAR B 1T A
respectively. 49,768,0004% $%50,922,0004% e & A& 17 © \LV
P
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

33.

34.

2 B20213H31H IF F/Z

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 34 to
the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, consultants of the
Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers
of the Group, the Company’s shareholders, and any non-
controlling shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries. The
Scheme became effective on 26 August 2014 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10
years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of
shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant
in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject
to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any

granted to a substantial shareholder or an
of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the
date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

33.

34.

& (&)

FE ARt

NN SR A B R AR R T B B
77 B B A% A 5 175 50 78 B 7% R 2% PR
534 -

RE iR #EST &l
ARpme&pm— BB RE 8 (%5
) EERYAKEXRDEEED
ERNAERSEERHE R LD
HoZABENEERBEEREAR
AEX(BRBIUFNITESR) 4K
BHEMES AKREEBA RAK
BRRHERHIRBOHER AEE
BEE ARABBRREARBHERA
B (E (] JEFE AR AR IR © % AT 81020145
8A268 AR BRIFWEUHKIERT * &
A B % B EEFH0F AR

B SRR AT SR A M R 1T
BREETERATREARGEE
R Z TR BBEMAERAA TR EME
FHE ZEITRMDI10%H BEE - a2
MNEZAEERSEENEMI12( A H
MATEERERTERTH SR
MEE  ER R AR AR EA EE A
BEITRMN1% - WiE—FREBB
ZRERERE IEARKRERE L
EUAS I SR o

MARABESRE  ZERTRABNKEE
% B sk 1% S A £ (] B AR BB AR
o ERSBUIERNTESNSE AN
AE o BB SN - R ER1218 A HA R AR
ARREBR RSB IENITEE K
BENEABEARDOBRERR
ARABREMEBAOBEZETERMH
0.1% ' Sk BAE (ER AR A RKH R EF
t B HA /9 U B 51 &) #8 485,000,000
BT BIZERIRE RS FRSKRES
S Bt o



2015 FH RAIEXKEEER)ERAA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 75 R Y =

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
7 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, commences after a vesting period and ends on a
date which is not later than 10 years from the date of offer
of the share options.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of offer of the
share options; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s shares on the date of offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

34.

AR R ST El (&)

REBREMNZENATRAZHNAHE
STTRAER - BRI ABENE
HIBTHRBARE - ER L ERE
MITHEHBESETY RE—RBH
B RTERBEREZHE
HET10FM A THER -

BRENTEERESET  B1F
PRUATHBERNRSE  (VREK
RELHBBRBXMEARERMEA
REBHEKRHE: (NREEENAE
WA A AR BB ME R RERMN
AR B B FHRTE - Ri)n
EHRAYNARRARMEE °

BEREYERETHEARRKEXIR
BRAE ERRONER -
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 34, BB HESTEI (&2
The following share options under the Scheme were FR - ZErEI T RITENERENT -

outstanding during the year:

2021 2020

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise  Number of exercise Number of
price options price options

In#EE ¥
TEE EBRENE TEE BREE

HK$ per

share L0 HKS per share ‘000

BRET T BRB T T
At beginning of year ) 1.65 48,388 1.90 69,484
Forfeit during the year F AR 1.65 (20,228) 1.65 (2,712)
Lapsed during the year FAKM 1.65 (16,860) 2.58 (18,384)
At end of year R F R 1.65 11,300 1.65 48,388
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options RIERARRITEOERENITERE
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as RATEBRMT :
follows:
2021 20214
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BRERE ITEE* 1TEH
‘000 HKS$ per share
T & BRET
11,300 1.65 5 March 2019 to 4 March 2022
201943 A5H £202243H4H

11,300
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

34. FRRRHESHEI (2

2020 20204
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHAE fTEE* 176
‘000 HK$ per share
F5 G T
28,620 1.65 5 March 2019 to 4 March 2021
201943 A5H £20214F3A4H
19,768 1.65 5 March 2019 to 4 March 2022
20194F3 A5H £2022F3 F4H
48,388
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in & BERENITEER RN ERSEITA

the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company'’s share capital.

On 5 March 2019, the Company granted share options to
certain Directors, employees and consultant to subscribe for a
total of 51,100,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
share capital of the Company under the Share Option
Scheme. The exercise price of each option is HK$1.65 per
share with validity period of 2 years from the respective
vesting dates. 30,120,000 options will vest immediately on the
5 March 2019 and remaining 20,980,000 options will vest 1
year after such date of grant.

The fair value of the share options granted on 5 March 2019
for 2 years and 3 years exercise period were HK$9,100,000
(HK$0.30197) and HK$6,990,000 (HK$0.33320) respectively, of
which the Group has not recognised any share option
expense of during the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$6,473,000).

B - A2 A IR B A2
B a9 -

R2019F3 A58 @ AR AR I% 5 A% 4
FElRETES EERERIRLE
BE URBARARAREG X
51,100,0000% & A% [l {80. 107 T 1y X
AR - BNERENTEEASTR
1658 B AESEMNEBEAH
#E 5T A& H24F © 30,120,00017 B A% # 75
MR201943A58 B B 5% B H &%
20,980,00017 i A% 7 1§ i 5% I B Bi 18
1F5HB -

R2019F3 A58 &% i K2F R3F 171
HARB IR 8 A A 5 51 A9,100,0007%
70 (0.30197% JT) %6,990,000% T
(0333208 L) " AEB T EREE
202153A318 It F E B R [ 8 R
# B3 % (20204F : 6,473,00058 7T ) °
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FEREHEs 8l (2

ARTIR AR R I PR R IR TS5 80 A&
granted is measured with reference to the fair value of share FEDZ2EMXEHBREN A A
options granted. The estimate of the fair values of the share 2 -ERENGTFATEDRE-E
AR AR EBEENE - BRED
FHEMAZES -

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 34,

The fair value of services received in return for share options

options is measured based on binomial lattice option pricing
model. Lives of the options are incorporated into the model.

Options granted on
5 March 2019
(vest 1 year after
grant date)

Options granted on
5 March 2019
(vest immediately)

201953A58 #H

201953A5H # i B B AR 4 (1R HH

B RS R% #E (BN BS 35 /8) BEAEB1ERE)

Grant date share price BHE B E HK$1.61 HK$1.61
1.618 7T 1.6187T

Exercise price TE(E HK$1.65 HK$1.65
1.658 7T 1.65%8 7T

Expected life TEETF A 2 years 3 years
246 3F

Expected volatility SR 35.47% 30.83%
Expected dividend yield (%) T8 BRI A% B (%) 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 45 2 B2 A1 (%) 1.536% 1.580%

The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility
(by reference to the weighted average remaining life of the
share options), adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility by reference to publicly available information.
Expected dividends were based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially
affect the fair value estimate.

The Group has not recognised any expenses in respect of the
equity-settled share-based payment transactions in 2021
(2020: HK$6,473,000).

The expected life of the options is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be
the actual outcome.

T8 B R iR DA SRR R (45 2 IR B A i
MEFHRGER) BRER  XREQ
5 7T 15 & B 3L 2R OK 18 e ({7 TR
BEHAE AHRENBERER
Eit - THB ARERNEG A HQF
BHFEEBERTE -

AN B 7220214 I 8 5 AR S A8 B A
BHAEBNRIORZIERTMNAL
(20204 : 6,473,000/ JT) ©

BAEREFAT - EBRE AR
BT R - 188K I8 R MR 20K
BARTARESNEREK  HARBAK
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &t 2202143 H31H 1F F/Z

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 105 to
106 of the financial statements.

(@) Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the share capital of New
Concepts Foundation Limited acquired by the Company
pursuant to a group reorganisation in August 2014.

(b) Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-
based payments in note 4(p) to the financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are
exercised, or be transferred to accumulated loss should
the related options expire or be forfeited.

(c) Exchange fluctuation reserve
Exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
currency exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations.

(d) Convertible option reserve
Convertible option reserve represents amount of
proceeds on issue of convertible loan notes relating to
the equity component (i.e. option to convert the debt
into share capital).

34.

35.

R #EsT 8l (2
HEATEBLEERD LR
MR -

i
AEBAFENBETFEFENHES S
LEBEHR AT B HRKEI052106
BEMGEERNREFHRET -

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

SRS
BHREEIE AR AR201458 A
B 5 B = BB M A 3
ERABMA -

BBt

5 M 6 1 B R 4 PR S B 7 e
2R T EE4(p) P BE A IR 10 78 EE B 32
R RIE R AR S5 BORE —
S  ERBEORITEER
R R E - % RIA KR AE
BREETEREEZRNGE
18 B 3k 70 4 A R A 4 B 1%
B EEE RETEE -

BE R K Eh ik 8
ERARDHEEEREINIEE
BHBHRRAEENMAINE
bE R o

TERERERA
EnEREREBEETRER
#Ey (AR ERERABRAN
BRE)BANATERERER
BB REEER -
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36. LEASES 36. &
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee) HEEH(ERREN)HME
The Group leases a number of buildings in the jurisdictions REEREEMERZERERAET
from which it operates. In those jurisdictions the periodic rent BF RZZAEER MEHEER
of property leases is fixed over the lease term. As at 31 HEANEEHPEE EE - 12021634
March 2021, the rent for the office premises are fixed with 318 - WAEWEMNTE S H3F 7 H
lease term ranging from 3 years. A E R ©
Leases liabilities HEAR’
Future lease payments are due as follows: RARBENKHBNEHABEROT :

Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value

REHEE
= FE R{E

31 March 31 March 31 March

2021 2021 2021

20214 20214F 20214F

3A31H 3A31H 3A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

31 March 2021 2021%3H31H FHET TH&T TH&T

Not later than 1 year TERE 1,786 24 1,762
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36. LEASES (continued) 36. fHE (&
Leases liabilities (continued) HEERE)
Minimum
lease
payments Interest Present value
HEBEE
3% B RE
31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2020 2020
20204 20204 20204F
3A31H 3H31H 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2020 202043 A31H FAT T T T
Not later than 1 year TEME 6,369 709 5,660
Later than 1 year and not later &R 14F M T B 724
than 2 year 3,823 337 3,486
Later than 2 years and not later &2 i1 T~ B R5F
than 5 years 2,361 260 2,101
{:2-: 5538 1,306 11,247
The present value of future lease payments are analysed as: RREERFTHRESTHT
2020
HK$'000
T T
Current liabilities mE) B & 1,762 5,660
Non-current liabilities EREBAE — 5,587
1,762 11,247
2020
HK$'000
FAT
Short term lease expense EHHEERX 5,787 5,798
Low value lease expense RKEEHEERX 18 27
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z£20214#3H31H i F/Z&

37. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 37. IAEKFIERERIE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 2EMBAT
INTERESTS
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non- REBHAEEAFEREZNIED
controlling interests are set out below: AIMFFRWT :
2020

Percentage of equity interest held by 343 B 4% %5 By #5 A% 2

non-controlling interests: Eloainne
Hefei Feifan & RE3E L 40% 40%
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRYR £t B A 7 B U AR
information of the above subsidiaries since the acquisition. MBS ERBE :
2020
HK$'000
FHET
Loss for the year allocated to non- DI EFERERD
controlling interests: FANEE
Hefei Feifan SN (7.828) (23,142)
Accumulated balances of non- EERERNRE BB
controlling interests at the reporting K RET 48k
date:

Hefei Feifan AHEFER 29,801 35,206
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37. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 37. A EXFEERERNE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 2EMBAT (&
INTERESTS (continued)

Hefei Feifan
SHEFER

2020
HK$'000
FAT
Revenue WA 21,486 7,526
Total expenses, net B 2 TR (40,091) (65,382)
Loss for the year FREE (18,605) (57,856)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRE2EW AT (12,016) (65,508)
Current assets B & E 50,223 51,431
Non-current assets EREBEE 141,820 130,476
Current liabilities nEB R (111,894) (82,707)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (4,150) (11,185)

Net cash flows used in operating activities A2 EBFFAMNIR &
mEFE (2,302) (6,054)

Net cash flows from investing activities RETHEENR &
mEHER — 175

Net cash flows from financing activities MEEFHELENE S
= R 3,773 4,178

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash HekIReEEY

equivalent B R ) F 5 1,471 (1,701)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z£20214#3H31H i F/Z&

38. ASSETS/LIABILITIES OF A DISPOSAL 38.

GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

In February 2021, the Group entered into a disposal
agreement to dispose the entire equity interests in Taiyuan
Plant at a consideration of RMB120,000,000 (approximately
HK$141,982,000). Such disposal was yet to complete, and
Taiyuan Plant has been classified as a disposal group held for
sale and presented separately in the consolidated statement of

financial position as at 31 March 2021.

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the
operations classified as held for sale, as at 31 March 2021,

were as follows:

SEBAFEHEMNHESR
NEE &afE

R2021F28  AEBEIY—MHHER
#F A A R $120,000,0007T ( 4
141,982,0007% 7o) KR B H & KRB
ERNE2HBRE - BERLESTERNRT
K RREBESEARBELEN D
EHR > WH2021FE3A31BRL4AE
BRRRPEBI TR -

MR2021F3A31H - kDB A EH
EXBNEZEERBBEERNNOT

Notes HK$'000
B 5 T
Property, plant and equipment M - Heas R 14 1,003
Operating concessions FEET A R 16(a) 115,322
Goodwill 5k fis 22,334
Trade receivables Z 5 W KIE 12,680
Receivables under service concession PR 75 R &7 4 %2 Bk FE W 5k IB
arrangements 284,252
Inventories T8 1,209
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FEfFZIE - & K H A
Ji& 45 3k 18 18,070
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBE2FEEY 2,590
Total assets classified as held for sale PEAFIELENREE 457,460
Trade payables B 5 BN RIE (16,246)
Other payables and accruals H e < FRIA K A E A (47,734)
Interest-bearing borrowings and other FREERAEMER
borrowings (134,327)
Provision B 31 (54,487)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBE R 32 (756)
Total liabilities associated with assets classified EA% 48 A3 {EHEMNE E
as held for sale FANBERARE (253,550)
Net assets of a disposal group HEARNEEFE 203,910
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38. ASSETS/LIABILITIES OF A DISPOSAL

GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(continued)

The carrying amount of the net assets of the disposal group
before impairment is HK$143,110,000. In accordance with
HKFRS 5, assets and liabilities of the disposal group have
been written down to their fair value less costs to sell of
approximately HK$141,982,000. This is a non-recurring fair
value measurement.

An impairment loss of approximately HK$1,128,000 has been
recognised in other expenses from continuing operations on
the measurement of the disposal group to fair value less costs
to sell. Impairment losses have been allocated to the goodwill
of the disposal group. The carrying amount of the disposal
group after impairment, excluding the amount due to the
Group for approximately HK$61,928,000, is approximately
HK$203,910,000.

The division does not constitute a discontinued operation as it
does not represent a major line of business or geographical
area of operation.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the fair value less costs to
sell of the disposal group was estimated using observed prices
for recent sales of similar businesses and is classified within
level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

There are no cumulative income or expense included in other
comprehensive income relating to the disposal group.

38.

SEARKEHEMLESR
MEE BfEE)

HEANMNEEFERENNERAE
7#$143,110,000/%8 7T ° 1R 5 & 7 B 7% =R
L AERIESS:  HEMAFNEERARE
EMBREEATFERBEK ALY
141,982,000 7T © b I IEL T HE R T
B2

RETE2EHEARNEBRAFER T EXE
BF 491,128,000 TR BEEBEEE R
REFBELEEBHEME X P ®
ReoBEBBEEIEEZHEARNNE
Eo HEMRRRERHERRA (T &
&5 7N 52 B FRIE 4961,928,00078 7T) 49
73203,910,0007% 7T °

HRZOBLIEEBNEHRKEE
PRAEHD - B0 TR E R IR T -

HZE2021F3A31HILFEE - HEHR
MAFEREERATIEAEEER
MHHENBRERGE IO EAR
NEEREF_JE -

A B L 40 B M R I A SR BT
AR MR EK
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. HEMEBAE

In May 2020, the Group entered into a settlement agreement,
pursuant to which the parties to the settlement agreement
agreed to resolve the dispute over the outstanding
consideration payable by the Group of RMB7,987,500 and the
compensation in relation to the profit guarantee of Clear
Industry EPC Group by, among others, the Group returning
the shares of Clear Industry to the vendor, while the vendor
paying the Group the cash refund of RMB36,000,000
(approximately HK$39,933,000), and the cash proceeds from
the disposal of consideration shares previously issued by the
Company (“Consideration Shares”) of approximately
HK$3,797,000. Such transaction was accounted as disposal of
subsidiaries for approximately HK$43,730,000 and completed
in July 2020 and resulted in a gain of approximately
HK$41,613,000.

In August 2020, the Group also entered into an agreement
with an independent third party pursuant to which the Group
disposed of the entire issued share capital of New Expansion
Global Limited (“NEGL”) for HK$24,000,000, NEGL is
principally engaged in the business of civil engineering works
and building works. Such disposal resulted in a gain of
approximately HK$2,675,000.

In September 2020, the Group entered into an agreement
with the non-controlling interest of Loudi Fangsheng
Environmental Technology Co. Ltd.* (EE™M A BRREEESE
R 2 ®]) (“Loudi Plant”) pursuant to which the Group agreed
to acquire the remaining 20% equity interests in Loudi Plant
at the consideration of RMB6,110,600 (approximately
HK$6,954,000). Such acquisition of 20% equity interests was
for the purpose to facilitate possible disposal of the entire
interests in Loudi Plant.

On 5 October 2020, the Group entered into a disposal
agreement, pursuant to which the Group disposes 100%
equity interest in the Loudi Plant at the consideration of
RMB30,000,000 (approximately HK$34,140,000). Such disposal
resulted in a loss of approximately HK$16,416,000.

202058 + AEBET S — 1D TR
FECBRU NBBEANETANSSER
EMRARIRAEBEMHREERE
A R #7,987,5007T & & B 15 Fl| BREPC
SEANRENFHENAUD  HER
(B ) ASEREFRERSFR
D MEAMAEEZHRERK
A R #36,000,0007T (#4939,933,000/%
TMERHEARRRIBRRIE EITHRE
B (TREKRG]) KRS TS HIEL
3,797,000 L - EAR S AR AL E
Mt B A & #43,730,000/ 7T B B
20206678 K W R 5 W = A
41,613,000/ 7T °

M202068A  AEBEE—FHBIFE=
AR —thimE Bt A5 BN
24,000,000 L HEFRIEHKBR A
A([FEBRK) 2 ETRA - #
BEREEZERELIATIEREFT TR
¥ -AHLEETEEB/KED
2,675,000/ JT °

20205698 F AEBHEERT H KR
REEERAR(EREKEE]) MR
RERTY —DHz Bt A5 H
B =& K A K #46,110,6007T ( 4
6,954,000/% 7T) B X (B W i E K 18 B
£ T20% B% S 2 55 o 48 B U FE20% A%
EZEMBFELEERIEE 250

FAS L )
o

M20209F 10858 » AEEFI L EEH
FOBE ASEELEEREAD
100% % #E - KB & A K #30,000,000
7T (#934,140,000 70) - B A & =
TH $% 15 E518 4916,416,00078 7T °
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 30. HEMBAS (&

The net assets of Clear Industry EPC Group, NEGL and Loudi SFBEPCEE FTBRIRHKKERE
Plant at the date of disposal were as follows: BEREERBMMEEFENT !
Notes
Bt

Property, plant and equipment ¥ BB TR E 14 77 - 263 340
Operating concessions BERETIE 16 - - 41,728 41,728
Receivable under service PR 765 5 2 HE Tk MR

concession arrangement — — 23,580 23,580
Inventories RE 430 - 3 433
Trade and other receivables 25 LA ERHA 19,786 7,091 3,617 30,494
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkREZED 2,869 912 30 3,811
Net inter-group balances SERARTEE 3,007 20,388 (7,255) 16,140
Trade and other payables B o REMEMFRIE (22,303) (7,090) (6,039) (35,432)
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) EEHBEE/(AR) 32 284 24 (5,371) (5,063)
Net assets disposal of MHEEERE 4,150 21,325 50,556 76,031
Non-controlling interests KR (2,033) _ — (2,033)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of HEWBARRKE/

subsidiaries (B#8) 7 41,613 2,675 (16,416) 27,872
Total consideration BRE 43,730 24,000 34,140 101,870
Satisfied by: TRAA
Cash Be 5,548 - 22,761 28,309
Other receivables H A fE Y 508 34,385 - 11,379 45,764
Cash proceeds from the RERDHRLMAERE

consideration shares 3,797 - — 3,797
Settlement of other loan BN EmE R — 24,000 - 24,000
Total ek 43,730 24,000 34,140 101,870
Net cash inflow arising on HEEEMBERAFE:

disposal:
Cash consideration BeRE 5,548 - 22,761 28,309
Cash and bank balances FER e RRTHER

disposed of (2,869) (912) (30) (3,811)

2,679 (912) 22,731 24,498
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 40. ZGERERBRME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities REEHELENERBERE
Due to
Due to related Bank and Lease Convertible
directors parties  other loans liabilities Bond bond
EREE ENEBS BRITR
B B OHEMER  HE8H &% FBRRES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET THET TET FHT THT
At 1 April 2020 ®2020F4718 9,296 217,345 388,696 11,247 25,500 =
Changes from financing cash flows: RELSRELTY:
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BOURREFMERE — - - — — 4,000
New bank and other borrowings HERTREMES — — 33,575 - - -
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BERTRAMEER = = (39,401) = = =
Capital element of lease liabilities HEABRRNERSS
payments — — — (4,081) — —
Interest element of lease liabilities HEARMNFNFSHS
payments — — — (224) — —
Interest paid [SEREVESS — (6,431) (22,152) - (1,654) =
Decrease in amount due to related parties BB S SER = (4,863) = = =
Decrease in amount due to directors ERHEFRERD (9,120) = = = = =
Total change from financing cash flow BEBRSRELHLH (9,120 (11,294) (27,918) (4,305) (1,654) 4,000
Other change: Hip2s) :
Finance cost SBRA — 6,431 22,152 24 1,654 —
Foreign exchange movement HNEZE) (176) — 12,403 — - —
Deposit paid Bfike — - — (464) = =
Discontinued operation BRIEEEER — — (113,260) (4,940) = =
Transfer to assets classified as held for BRZSPABELEEE
sales — — (134,327) — — —
Exercise of debt conversion rights TiREBEARE = — = & - (4,000)
Proceed from disposal of a subsidiary HE—MHBARMERE — — (24,000) = - -
At 31 March 2021 202163 A31H — 212,482 123,686 1,762 25,500 —
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

GERERERMEZ

METHELEMARESY (B)

40.

(continued)
Due to
Due to related Bank and  Finance lease Lease
directors parties other loans payable liabilities Bonds
Rft
EHES W7 BRIk EHRE
RE SR HiEH HERE HEERE &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHT FHET FET FHT THL
At 1 April 2019 #W2019%4A18 4,640 384,643 347,224 6,193 — 25,500
Changes from financing cash flows: MEFREREE
New bank and other borrowings FEBTREMES — = 135,472 — — =
Repayment of bank and other BEROTRAMEE
borrowings — — (81,380) — - —
Capital element of lease liabilities HERBERZNELSS
payments — — — — (8,809) —
Interest element of lease liabilities HEAERRNFEHH
payments — — — — (1,038) —
Interest paid BRFE - (7,702) (28,436) - — (1,661)
Decrease in amount due to related JE1 BB SRE R
parties — (167,298) - - - -
Increase in amount due to directors ERESFELM 4,656 = = = = =
Total change from financing cash flow RERGRELYER 4,656 (175,000) 25,656 — (9,847) (1,661)
Other change: Hip#
Initial application of HKFRS 16 NEEREERB]RE
% RIZE165% - — — (6,193) 19,511 —
Finance cost BB AR — 7,702 28,436 - 1,038 1,661
Foreign exchange movement HNEZE - = (12,620) = 545 —
At 31 March 2020 #202043A318 9,296 217,345 388,696 - 11,247 25,500
41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41. HAREE

RBEMR  WERAPFEHRRA
REENRKABENT :

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

2020
HK$'000
FH T
Indemnities given to financial MAEERERNEE
institutions for performance bonds EHEHBLRE
issued in relation to construction I B 765 6 1 1R L A
contracts undertaken by the Group o (8 IR FE 35,361 68,373
\l:'f':
W
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42.

43.

B E2021F3A31H I F &

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT

The Group acted as a guarantor for an external borrowings
made by an independent third party amounting up to
RMB153,986,000, details of which are set out
Company’s announcement dated 14 July 2017.

in the

The directors of the Group are of the opinion that such
guarantee will not result in any outflow of resources of, nor
will any loss be incurred by, the Group.

Management of the Group estimated the fair value of the
financial
guarantee contract was not recognised as financial liabilities as
at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

guarantee contracts as immaterial, financial

CONVERTIBLE BOND

The Company issued 6% convertible bonds with a principal
amount of HK$4,000,000 in December 2020. The convertible
bonds are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The bonds
mature by three years from the issue date at their principal
amount or can be converted into ordinary shares of the
Company at the holder’s option at the fixed rate of HK$0.20
per share on the outstanding principal.

The fair values of the liability component and the equity
conversion component were determined at the issuance of the
The fair liability
component, included in non-current financial liabilities, was
calculated using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-
convertible bonds. The residual amount, representing the value
of the equity conversion component, is
shareholders’ equity.

convertible loan note. value of the

included in

42.

43.

MBEREYH
AEEET—BBLBE=HELHHN—
S EEE &% ARE153,986,0007T
MERA SFBHINRARAIBHAE
2017F7 B 148 B9 A o

AEESERA ZERTSEHK
SERLE RN EEEMER -

M2021F3H318 K2020%F3 8318
AEEBEEBMEGFMBEREANA
FEITEK - I E R ER
EHRESBBIE-

of & % & 5

ANA R R2020F 128 BT RE B A
4,000,00078 7T H16% A] & ¥ (F %4 o 7]
HIREFUBITAE EHNETH
HE=FRNIEEASERH sk H
BEAEREBRAEBEASENETF
KFIR0.208 TTEIR AN AR LB

BERY REESRIESOHDFER
BOTABRERERRET - BEH
PR FEFAFRDEREE T
158 A3 [R) 55 19 1 AT S8 {5 25 1) T 35 7 K
FHE o Uik BBy EEIROF
Bt ABCRME -
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43. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 43. iR EHK (&

44,

The convertible loan note recognised in the statement of REFFS RN R IER N A 0 BRI
financial position is calculated as follows: AEAFEMT

Equity component of convertible bonds issued

R2020F 12 A BITH AT MR EH B

in December 2020 1 #5509 822
Debt conversion rights exercised (note 33) 7 8 B 75 88 R (Fff 5E33) (822)
Equity component of convertible bonds issued 7202143 318 % 17 &) A 2 % & 5

at 31 March 2021 HY 4 2 7 D —
Liability component on initial recognition in M2020F 12 A I X RN B EH D

December 2020 3,178
Interest expense (note 9) 2R L (FE9) 189
Interest paid 2 E —
Debt conversion rights exercised T ERE R (3,367)

Liability component at 31 March

M3A31H N EREE D —

Interest expense on the convertible bonds is calculated using
the effective interest method by applying the effective interest
rate of 15% to the liability component.

COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

44,

AR R B B SR A KX
EEH W BB RAIS%NE
R o

i
7R B R R BRI T & ARG

2020
HK$'000
F T

New service concession arrangements  BABOT A = 5] 3Z &Y
on BOT basis RIS FF R e BE — 45,261
— 45,261
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45. EAEER R 5
(a) In addition to the balances and transactions detailed (a) FBRAEHHEE A I H 5F &Y
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had EBRERSHN REEBREA
the following material transactions with related parties BB D ETUTERRS :

during the year:

2020
HK$'000
FA T
Related companies*: 220/ Rl
Short-term lease expenses EHEERS 3,084 3,805
Interest expenses B 6,431 7,702
& The related companies are controlled by Mr. Chu Shu 5 ZERBHARIHARBEEE
Cheong, a key management personnel of the Company. BAB KRS S ERES -
The above transactions were entered into based on LR G HRBATHNAEE
terms mutually agreed between the relevant parties. 15 5 BV AR FEAT o
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of (b) XEEFEXEEBEASNMHE
the Group
Remuneration of key management personnel of the AEEFEERABNHMH (B
Group, including directors’ remuneration as disclosed in FHBREMTI0RENES
note 10 to the financial statements, is as follows: )T
2020
HK$'000
FAET
Short term employee benefits % Hi & B 18 A 7,556 8,594
Post-employment benefits BER R R A 81 90
Equity-settled share option expense LA #E 5 45 & ) 8 IS 7
B 52 — 1,425

Total compensation paid to key ENEZEEEAER
management personnel fERE 7,637 10,109
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

2021

Financial assets

46.

ZRENISHEMIA

REEHMR SRR TANEES

R N

20214

EMAE

Financial assets at

amortised cost Total
BREHRETED
EREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTHET
Trade and retention receivables B SR FRER
U RE & 141,998 141,998
Receivables under service concession MR 4 e 2 HF
arrangements JE U SR IR 69,592 69,592
Financial assets included in deposits and FARER
other receivables H A & We R IB )
THEE 103,787 103,787
Loan receivables W E R 363 363
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY 66,686 66,686
382,426 382,426
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(continued)
Financial liabilities

46. EFHEISHERMIA

(&)
SMaRE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
RE SR A
A=/
SRBRE st
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FERT THET
Trade and retention payables B ZENRIER
ERRE 2 118,933 118,933
Financial liabilities included in other T A E D BT RIE R
payables and accruals BErBAR
TRIBE 179,454 179,454
Due to related parties JE 11 8 Bk 05 K IE 212,482 212,482
Interest-bearing bank and other ATERITREMEE
borrowings 123,686 123,686
Bonds &5 25,500 25,500
660,055 660,055
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 46. AR E o Em T E

(continued) (%)
2020 20204
Financial assets EREE

Financial assets at

amortised cost Total
R R A
AER
TREE F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT FATT
Trade and retention receivables B 5 EWGHIE R
JEWRE & 191,412 191,412
Receivables under service concession Bl 75 o 5 4 2 B
arrangements FE YR8 346,864 346,864
Financial assets included in deposits FTARE R
and other receivables H A & W R IB HY
PREE 101,262 101,262
Loan receivables FEW B 5K 2,908 2,908
Consideration receivables EWRAE 17,607 17,607
Financial assets at FVTPL BRBEREATENEN
CREE — 10,804
Cash and cash equivalents HBehBeEEY 29,817 29,817

689,870 700,674
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(continued)
Financial liabilities

46. HEHNBSHEMI A

(%)
SRAR

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost Total
bizg: 1IN
A2
TREE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Trade and retention payables B 5 REMNRIER
ENRE € 174,663 174,663
Financial liabilities included in other T A E AL E R FRIE R
payables and accruals FEET & &Y
TRER 220,162 220,162
Due to directors ERESHRE 9,296 9,296
Due to related parties JE 11 8 Bk 05 K IE 217,345 217,345
Interest-bearing bank and other ATERITREMEE
borrowings 388,696 388,696
Bonds &5 25,500 25,500
1,035,662 1,035,662




47.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade and retention receivables, trade and
retention payables, receivables,
directors, financial liabilities included in other payables and

loan amounts due from
accruals, receivables under service concession arrangements,
financial assets included in deposits and other receivables,
amounts due to a related company, and interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities included
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the receivables under service concession
arrangements, in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, amounts due to a related
parties, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows

financial assets included

using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair value of
the liability portion of the convertible bonds is estimated by
discounting the expected future cash flows
equivalent market interest rate for a similar convertible bond
with consideration of the Group’s own non-performance risk.

using an

The fair value of listed equity investment is based on quoted
market price. The fair value of contingent consideration asset
has been estimated using a discounted cash flow valuation
model based on assumptions that are not supported by
observable market prices or rates. The valuation requires the
directors to make estimates about the expected future cash
flows. The directors believe that the estimated fair value
resulting from the valuation technique, which is recorded in
the consolidated statement of financial position, and the
related change in fair value, which is recorded in profit or
loss, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.

202153 RIXEEE(ER)ERAT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47.

A 75 R Y =

B E2021F3A31H 1 F &

EMITAMAFERAFE
ERE

EEENE ReELBEEFEY =
ZRERBSEREERES  BEHEN
RERENRES BRER BK
EEHNA  FFARMENFORRER
ERAMERAE REFTERHRE
WA ~ G AR S R s B RIA R
SREE BN R QR REN
M BRITREMEENAFEELR
FE<EEE FEZEARZSEIAY
REHASH -

EREEMNBENATEREEHRT
ARBRR 57 (M3FRENERE
BIEAMRXZ THAIRZER - NII77
AERBREAREERFE:

AR 75 5 54 %2 HF FE MR SRR - BT ATRN
RE RERhEMBRFENERE
B BN RIBEARGEBRTR
HiEEN A FEDERENR EE
B ke MMEERRALN T AR
R E . BIEHRKRASREBRAG
BoamBRESBEHONRFET
BRI E S R Fm 5 =
RIEMAKRRERERBELE  EF
NEZEAKRERNGHNENRR

EARARENRAFELRBEMERT
EftE -FIAREBEEENRTFETIE
RMRASREGERLGE  E5
MRELBABENIZERKL R
F-AHAGBEERESHAEHRRER
EREBIEH MG - EFHE URHE
RTEHE G A FEREENE
RRRLE) R FENEBEEH (R
BT HIREE  UABREHRREK
BEMEE-
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 47. BT EMAFERAF
3 AEP)

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Derivative financial instrument, represents the derivative
component of the convertible bond, is measured using a
valuation technique similar to option pricing models, using
present value calculations. The model incorporates various
market observable inputs including the credit quality of
counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and
interest rate curves. The carrying amount of the derivative
component of the convertible bond is the same as its fair
value.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 March 2021

MEeRTAREIRARERNITE
Bl R EMEEERE (FIARE
FHEOR) MM S ARG E - IRE
ERZEATMSZUBEHARE 85
HFHEEER HEREREHE
A Je B 3 i 4% o AT 4R AR AR 5 0T A AP
DHEEEEEE R FEMER -

ATERES
TEARARES BT AMATHEE
EPTE

HAFEITEHEE -
R2021F3H31H

Fair value measurement using

AFEHEER

EBRERATET A
SBAE

Financial assets at FVTPL
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 47. €T HMAFEHRAS

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) EREE)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) ANFEEZEEE)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued) HAFEITEMEE : (&)
As at 31 March 2020 R2020F3H31H

Fair value measurement using

AYEHEFER
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable  unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EREME BAUBR SATMAUHEER
()R B BAHE BAHE
(F—F) (£=FE) (B=ZE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FET TAEL TAEL
Financial assets at FVTPL BRBRSEATENEN
CREE 10,804 — = 10,804
10,804 = = 10,804
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 FRFZBAAFETEN
during the year are as follows: 2HUT
2020
HK$'000
FET
Contingent consideration asset: FAREBEEE -
At 1 April RaF18 — 3,724
Less: transfer to consideration o BB E R (E
receivables — (3,724)
At 31 March MW3A31H — —
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47.

48.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for financial assets (2020: nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise cash and cash equivalents and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as financial asset at fair value through profit
and loss, trade and retention receivables, receivables under
service concession arrangements, financial assets included in
deposits and other receivables, loan receivables, trade and
retention payables, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, and amounts due to a related parties,
which mainly arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees the
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

47.

48.

ERMTHEMAFEFERAE
ERXREE)

AFEEEEE)

FRN B RE_EcHEELHL
EATEFEEYR  F-ENEEM
& A ok 8 (20204 « &) -

HEERERBRERBUR

AEENT2ERTAGIET AR
SMBRASRREFEYM UK E
RITKEBEE -ZFSRTANE
ERBNIRARELEESRE - A&H
BEHRMZBReRMEERERE  flwE
BESRATEFENEREE =
ZRERBGKRIAN ERRE S - RERF
BRBEEWRIE FFARE REME
WHRENEHMEE BRER E5
ENFBERENRES FFAEME
NREAREHERNOSBE BN RE
NEBIFE T2 AKELER
REL -

AEETRTAMEEINEIZARS
MERER - INERR  FERRER
BECRR EETERATLIHERH
EESRBRABE  BMRRET
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing
bank borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group does
not use derivative financial instruments to hedge against its
interest rate risk. The Group mitigates this risk by closely
monitoring the movements in interest rates and reviewing its
available credit facilities and their utilisation regularly.

At the end of the reporting period, if the interest rates on
bank borrowings had been 25 basis points higher/lower,
which was considered reasonably possible by management,
with all other variables held constant, the loss before tax for
the year would have been increased/decreased by
HK$1,323,000 (2020: loss before tax for the year would have
been increased/decreased by HK$3,616,000 as a result of
higher/lower interest expenses on bank borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, PRC and Sweden
with most of the transactions denominated and settled in
HK$, Renminbi (“RMB"), which are the functional currencies
of respective group companies.
foreign currency risk primarily arise from certain financial
instruments which are denominated in United States dollars
("US$"), which are currencies other than the functional
currency.

The Group’s exposure to

The Group has no significant foreign currency risk because the
Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk in respect of the
assets and liabilities denominated in United States dollars is
considered to be minimal. The Group does not use derivative
financial instruments to hedge against its foreign currency
risk. The Group mitigates this risk by closely monitoring the
movements in foreign exchange rates.

48. UBEABEEBRERBK

(&)

1l 2= 3l b

7R £ 8] (R i 35 M) 2K B8 B i 1 R O L R
TEEAEERTHHNEFESHNETR
RIOTEEAB ~AKEALEERTE
ERMTAHPNERAR AKEZL)
ERMNXSH WEMBRTEATRE
ERENDRABR REABAR -

RIRERR EFT A E M E S SEIFT
BHERT  WRTTEERNE LR
THSEEZ (EEERZ ABER
) FABRTATBIEGRHERITE
EMBERZ EF TGN H S
1,323,000/ Jt (20204F : F A K& & Al
B 1812 0 8 43,616,000 JT) °

I 85 L B

AEBTERER FERRHALE
X% BRSO ZAHEBEER A
MINGEER BT R ARKTERLE
- ARBEEENINERREERS
RET(TETDENDEEREAINE
B)HENETERIA -

MR BRI TES - SAETFHE
MEERBBEEHNINERBRERS
WrRE BAKELEMBEAIN
KRR AEBYEERTESRT
BEYnsEER  AEEE R E
REEXEE  HEGHARR -
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48.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

The Group mainly transacts with creditworthy third parties.
Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and
the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise financial assets included in deposits and other
receivables, loan receivables, and cash and cash equivalents,
arises from default of the counterparties, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as 29% (2020: 15%) and 69%
(2020: 39%) of the Group's trade and retention receivables
were due from the Group's largest debtor and the five largest
debtors, respectively.

A detail analysis on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade and retention receivable, contract assets
and receivables under service concession arrangements are set
out in note 22, note 21 and note 16(b) respectively.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage of
funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily
from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and
liabilities. The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds
by considering the maturities of both its financial liabilities
and financial assets.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
and other borrowings. The Group aims to maintain sufficient
cash and cash equivalents to meet its liquidity requirements.

48.
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48. M EIGEBREHRERBIR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBEEME(E)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the RBERR AEENEREEER
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual SRARBHEFTIENERARSENT -

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2021

No fixed

terms of

repayment/on

Total demand/
Carrying  undiscounted less than Beyond
amount cash flow 1year  1to 5 years 5 years

REZ

a%M/

AERRS BRER/
REEE REQE —%h -Eif BAnF
HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
TR TR TiEn TR TR

Trade and retention payables BHEAFER

ERRES 118,933 118,933 118,933 - -
Financial liabilities included in s AE (I 50E R
other payables and accruals EiERNERARE 179,454 182,753 168,234 14,519 —
Due to related parties B SE 212,482 230,411 4,966 225,445 —
Interest-bearing bank and other ~ & BR{TREMEE
borrowings (note) (M) 123,686 127,353 127,353 - -
Bonds &% 25,500 27,562 408 27,154 -

660,055 687,012 419,894 267,118 -
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48. BHEEEEBEERERBUER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
Liquidity risk (continued) REEERERE)
2020
No fixed
terms of
repayment/on
Total demand/
Carrying ~ undiscounted less than Beyond
amount cash flow 1 year 1105 years 5 years
BEF
EnE/
AERRS REX/
FREH mERE —£R —ER% HAERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TAT TET TET TAL
Trade and retention payables BHEATER
EfRES 174,663 174,663 174,663 - -
Financial liabilities included in STAEMERFER
other payables and accruals ErERNeRARE 220,162 236,014 173,575 62,439 =
Due to directors EREEFE 9,296 9,296 9,29 = -
Due to related parties R BB 217,345 237,083 6,520 230,563 =
Interest-bearing bank and other ~ tERTREMEE
borrowings (note) (Bt 3E) 388,696 430,117 268,801 161,316 =
Bonds &% 25,500 27,548 1,657 25,891 -
1,035,662 1114721 634,512 480,209 =
Note: B &

BH LG HEERAREERTER
BERRRNREANEZBES BRBZ
EEFRRBERBAEMAEEDHEE -
EHFEEZR : AREAR AT BRRAH
ERROBBERR TEEEOEHERAE
BB EERSNAAZHER -

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors did not believe that the
loans would be called in their entirety within 12 months from the end of
the reporting period, and they considered that the loans would be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the loan agreements.
This evaluation was made considering: the financial position of the Group
at the date of approval of the financial statements; the lack of events of
default; and the fact that the Group had made all previously scheduled
repayments on time.



48.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2021 5H AEEEER)ERAT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 75 R Y =

B E2021F3A31H 1 F &

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (4&)

Liquidity risk (continued) mENEE£EM(Z)

Note: (continued) Miax : (&)

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contained a repayment on RBMEBR  RBREREREBEEXNE
demand clause, the maturity profile of those loans as at the end of the RIER  ZEEREREGHN KRR REBENE
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments and BHEIBE(TEERREREREXOHEE
ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause, was as follows: AR -

HHEERERBRERBUR

Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Total
—SERFIHREK —ERF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&ET FH&T T T
As at 31 March 2021 ®202143A318 125,511 1,842 127,353
As at 31 March 2020 #202043 4318 242,915 145,781 388,696
Capital management BAAXRERE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure and strives to maintain a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

Capital
shareholders’ equity.

of the Group comprises all components of

AEEEAEEMNTIZRBRERRER
SEFELENRN LHFRED
BEARLE  DEBERRFREHDR R
REMES AT RAES

AEBBEREHABRNREEHEERE
B RO RBREOBEARKR  TE
JE A7 AR L B B A I AR B E ) BB
BEAREAGEE AEEXTHES
M IR R B 38 A AN Sk BT RTAR AR FF 3K
FEENERE - REZE2021F3/31H
K2020%3A31HIEGFE AEEER
BARAMBEE BRIEFHEEY -

SENERBREBREDN A

o

D
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48. B EIGERHERBRK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
Capital management (continued) BXREE(E)
The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of EETFHBAERERE NI
this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the EEgERESMAREZEEARE
risks associated with class of capital. Based on ARk BEESHNEZ A5
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its T EBRTHRAREITHEREER
overall capital structure through new share issue as well as BEBTEERBERER - RN20214F
issue of new debts or repayment of existing debts. The net N&2020F3 A3 1B M ER FREE #Em
debts-to-equity ratios as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were as BT
follows:
2020
HK$'000
T T
Total debts B EE
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,762 11,247
Borrowings [ERE 123,686 388,696
Bonds (EE2 25,500 25,500
Less: cash and cash equivalents B ReRESEEY (66,686) (29,817)
Net debts B85 217,634 395,626
Equity attributable to owners of the  BEBRARA#EA AK
Company 1 = 100,477 110,304
Net debts-to-equity ratio B R A X 216.6% 358.6%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to AR A S EAE A B A BB AL

externally imposed capital requirements. SNFHE B E AR ER G o
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49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 49. KA TIHNMBERRE
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the AR B S B R B B A AR R 2R B R
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: mE
2020
HK$'000
TH&T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRmENEE
Investments in subsidiaries REBARKIEE 390 390
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 390 390
CURRENT ASSETS HEEE
Prepayments, deposits and other AR - Re kEM
receivables JE U 3k 18 2,503 2,828
Due from subsidiaries FE UL Bt B A R RIB 321,983 399,889
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBE2EFED 13 46
Total current assets mMEEEMEE 324,499 402,763
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENE R
Other payables and accruals EMENRELETER 69,362 88,135
Due to subsidiaries ARG ENGIE S 158,337 165,008
Bonds &5 25,500 25,500
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 23,500 =
Total current liabilities mE B EEE 276,699 278,643
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEEFE 47,800 124,120
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT SELERRDARE
LIABILITIES 48,190 124,510
EQUITY B
Share capital SN 69,359 57,290
Reserves (note) 5 15 (P 53 (21,169) 67,220
Total equity e 48,190 124,510
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49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 49. A AT WEBMBEIRAEK (Z)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: B &
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARIEERZWT :
Share Share Convention
premium option option Accumulated
account reserve reserve losses Total
&t it FEL R FERiEGGE TEERERE RitBHE @t
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET FAT TR TR
At 1 April 2019 R®2019%4A1R 525,970 18,322 — (95,456) 448,836
Loss for the year and total FABBRERNZEKRA
comprehensive income B
for the year — — = (388,089) (388,089)
Amortisation of share options BRESE - 6,473 - — 6,473
Lapsed of share options IR AE R — (8,705) — 8,705 —
Forfeit of share options BRI — (857) — 857 -
At 31 March 2020 and 1202034310 K
1 April 2020 2020F4A18 525,970 5,238 — (473,983) 67,220
Loss for the year and total FABEBRENZEKA
comprehensive income for B
the year — — — (101,106) (101,106)
Issue of shares BTG 10,528 — - — 10,528
Issue of convertible bonds BIARRES — — 822 — 822
Share issue upon exercise on debt 1T BB AR K HTRH
conversion rights 2,189 — (822) — 1,367
Lapse of share options B A 4 SR — (6,374) = 6,374 =
Forfeit of share options s B A % — (5,094) - 5,094 —
At 31 March 2021 2021438318 538,687 3,765 — (563,621) (21,169)




For the year ended 31 March 2021

50. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

1.

Issue of Convertible Bonds

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement
dated 15 April 2021 and the defined terms therein. The
Company entered into 2 subscription agreements with
two subscribers pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue, and the two subscribers
have conditionally agreed to subscribe for the
convertible bonds with an aggregate principal amount
of approximately HK$16,826,000. The Convertible Bonds
bear interest at 6.0% per annum.

The initial Conversion Price is HK$0.260 and were
issued under the general mandate passed at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 25
September 2020.

Such convertible bonds will be issued in 3 tranches. As
at the date of this report, the first tranche with the
principal amount of approximately HK$6,730,000 was
issued.

Proposed issue of shares under specific mandate
On 10 May 2021, the Company entered into 9
subscription agreements with each of the subscribers for
subscription of 169,472,000 subscription shares at the
subscription price of HK$0.295, with gross proceeds
from the subscription of approximately HK$50.0 million.
Such subscription shares will be allotted and issued
under the specific mandate and are approved by the
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held
on 18 June 2021. Up to the date of this report, the
subscription is yet to complete.

51. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to confirm

52.

to the current year's presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 25 June 2021.
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EEHBEHME

Year ended 31 March
HBE3AMBLFE

2020 2019 2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT

RESULTS ES
Revenue WA 591,523 837,168 1,021,729 928,457 1,239,809
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETEF A (BB) /
st Al (66,845) (339,059) (115,173) (268,336) 93,178
Income tax credit/(expenses) EHER/ () 3,240 26,605 15,875 22,959 (36,252)
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(EBB),/ & (63,605) (312,454) (99,298) (245,377) 56,926
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(BR) HEF
attributable to: FBER:
— Owners of the Company — RRAEE A (54,998) (295,679) (92,663) (224,790) 47,610
— Non-controlling interests — FERER (8,607) (16,775) (6,635) (20,587) 9,316
(63,605) (312,454) (99,298) (245,377) 56,926
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Total assets AEBE 1,083,365 1,302,100 1,817,028 1,638,876 1,438,281
Total liabilities AL (947,700)  (1,147,875)  (1,334,619)  (1,156,805) (936,768)
Net assets BEFE 135,665 154,225 482,409 482,071 501,513
Equity attributable to: BEaGER:
— Owners of the Company — KDRBEA 100,477 110,304 418,399 405,837 483,796
— Non-controlling interests — FERER 35,188 43,921 64,010 76,234 17,717

135,665 154,225 482,409 482,071 S0 53]
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